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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Strategic Report
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

The dircctors present their strategic report for the year ended 31 December 2021,

REVIEW OF BUSINESS

Subsequent to the delisting from AIM in 2014 and the restructuring, in particular the Company divesting management
control of its operations to the subsidiaries that own the assets, the role of the Company has continued as an investment
holding company for its subsidiary undertakings.

RESULTS AND PERFORMANCE
The profit before taxation for the financial year is £0.96million (2020: foss of £1.21million), mainly due to foreign
exchange gains (2020: loss due to irrecoverable loans and investment written off).

The financial position of the Company at year end is net liabilities of £47.30million (2020: £48.26million)

The Company is currently in the process of restructuring in order to maximise the existing and future benefits from its
investment. The immediate parent Zhongrun International Mining Co. Ltd continues to finance the Company and its
subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2021, the amount due to this immediate parent was in the sum of £47.25million (2020:
£48 20million).

Due to the current status of the Company, the Board has not identified any performance indicators as key.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
The Company is continuously looking for new investment opportunities.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The management of the business and the execution of the company's strategy are subject to a number of risks. The main
risks and uncertainties are as follows:

Liguidity risk
The Company actively manages its working finance to ensure the Company has sufficient funds for current operations.
As referred to in note 2 of the financial statements, it is for this reason that the directors believe it is appropriate to

prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Financing risk
The Company's activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of continuation of investment and the associated

funding, from its parent company directly or indirectly. Short-term financing risk is managed hy close liaison with the
parent company to ensure that loan facility to the Company and its subsidiaries is available and supported in a timely
matter.

Interest rate cash flow risk
Interest bearing assets earn interest at a fixed rate at 4.75% p.a., the Company does not have any variable rate debt and
debt interest payable is at a fixed rate of 4.75%, therefore it is not exposed to interest rate cash flow risk on its debt.

Foreign exchange risk
The Company operates in the United Kingdom, borrows a large loan in US dollar from its immediate parent, and

exposes to foreign exchange risk. The board is aware the situation and monitors this risk on a regular basis. The
Company's profitability may increase or decrease if the change in costs or income due to the exchange rate fluctuates
from that originally expected, therefore, the management ensures to have a robust foreign exchange strategy along with
associated policies and procedures in place to deal with this. However, the directors do not currently consider it's
necessary to enter into forward exchange contracts.

Ukraine conflict

Following the outbreak of the conflict in Ukraine, the Company has acknowledged energy risks. As such, the Company
and its subsidiaries work with their consultants to ensure the appropriate actions are taken by the operating subsidiaries
to minimise the impact to the businesses.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Strategic Report
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

SECTION 172{1) STATEMENT

The revised UK Corporate Governance Code (2018 Code') was published in July 2018 and applies to accounting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018 (2018
MRR") require directors to explain how they considered the interests of key stakeholders and the broader matters set out
in section 172(1) (A) to (F) of the Companies Act 2006 ('S172") when performing their duties to promote the success of
the Company under S172. This includes considering the interest of other stakeholders which will have an impact on the
long-term success of the Company. The board welcomes the direction of the UK Financial Reporting Council (the
'FRC"}. This S172 statement, which is reported for the first time, explains how the directors:

- have engaged with employees, suppliers, customers and others; and

- have had regard to employees' interests, the need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers,
customers and other, and the effect of that regards, including on the principal decisions taken by the company during the
financial vear,

The S172 statement focuses on matters of strategic importance, and the level of information disclosed is consistent with
the size and the complexity of the business.

When making decisions, each Director ensures that he/she acts in the way he/she considers, in good faith, would most
likely promote the Company's success for the benefit of its members as a whole, and in doing so have regard (among
other matters) to;

a) The likely consequences of any decision in the long term

The Company's operations and investment plans for the year could include, but not be limited to, new investments,
acquisition opportunities and strategic partnerships. This is prepared by the Company's senior leadership tearn and
approved by the board of the immediate and ultimate parent companies and is aligned with the long-term plans for the
Company within the context of the overall group strategy.

b) The interests of the Company's employees

The directors recognise that the employees are fundamental and core to our business and delivery of our strategic
ambitions, although the Company currently has no employees except directors due to the process of restructuring, The
company may likely recruit employees after the completion of its restructuring. The business is committed to promoting
fairness and equality in the workplace which it demonstrates through a number of policies, including: Equal
Opportunities Policy; Flexible Working Policy; Parental Leave Policy; and Maternity, Paternity and Adoption Policies.

c) The need to foster the company's business relationships with suppliers, customers and others.

Delivering our strategy requires strong mutually beneficial relationships with suppliers, customers, local and national
government, regulators and other associated stakeholders. In its relationship with our major suppliers - professional
service providers, the Company strives to maintain a reputation for fairness and high standard communications.

d) The impact of the Company's operations on the community and the environment

The Company is a holding company and has chosen to invest in mining business. Threat of climate change and the
depletion of resources has grown, so sustainability issues have become a major issue in the communities and
environment. 1t is the view of directors of the Company to be responsible investor and operator.

e) The desirability of the Company maintaining a reputation for high standards of business conduct

The greatest value of a company is its image and brand. By maintaining a reputation for high standards of business
conduct, the Company can be more effective in preventing fraud, corruption, losing businesses and customers, and costly
legal expenses. The directors monitor compliance with relevant governance standards and assure that the Company acts
in a way that promotes high standards of business conduct.

f) The need to act fairly as between members of the Company

The directors, in carrying out their role, must use their own skill and judgment and have regard to the likely long-term
consequences of their decisions, in order to prioritise the long-term success of the Company. The interests of controlling
shareholder and minority sharcholders may not align, particularly in case of connected party transactions. However, it is
the duties of directors to ensure fair dealings that benefit all shareholders equally, to act in good faith and to exercise
their powers diligently.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD:
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Report of the Directors
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

The directors present their report with the financial statements of the company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY
The principal activity of the company in the year under review was that of an investment holding company for its
subsidiaries undertakings.

DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend (2020: £nil).

DIRECTORS
The directors shown below have held office during the whole of the period from 1 January 2021 to the date of this

report.

Yingbin He
Debao Mao
Yuhua Zhu

Other changes in directors holding office are as follows:
Y Zheng and C Wang were appointed as directors after 31 December 2021 but prior to the date of this report.
Zhenchuan Li ceased to be a director after 31 December 2021 but prior to the date of this report.

POLITICAL DONATIONS AND EXPENDITURE
The Company made no charitable or political donations during the year (2020: £nil).

ENGAGEMENT WITH EMPLOYEES
The Company has no employees except directors.

However, the Company's policy always encourages to employ, develop and promote of disabled persons. If members of
staff become disabled, the Company continues their employment, either in the same or an alternative position, with
appropriate retraining being given where necessary. Also, employee involvement in the Company is encouraged, as
achieving a common awareness on the part of ail employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the
Company plays a major part in maintaining its effective management.

POLICY ON PAYMENT OF CREDITORS

The Company seeks to maintain good terms with all of its trading partners. It does not follow any specific code or
standard on payment practice. However, it is the Company's policy to agree appropriate terms and conditions for its
transactions with suppliers, to ensure that the suppliers are made aware of those terms and, provided the supplier has
complied with its obligations, to abide by the terms of payment agreed. Trade payables at the year end all relate to
sundry administrative overheads and disclosure of the number of days' purchases represented by year end payables is
therefore not meaningful.

STREAMLINED ENERGY AND CARBON REPORTING
The Company is exempt from the Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting (SECR) regulations as energy use is less
than 40,000 MWh over the reporting period.

DISCLOSURE IN THE STRATEGIC REPORT

The Company has chosen in accordance with Companies Act 2006, s. 4.14C(11) to set out in the Company's strategic
report information required by Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008, Sch.7 to be contained in the directors' report. It has done so in respect of review of the business, future
developments and risk management,

STATEMENT AS TO DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS

So far as the directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information (as defined by Section 418 of the Companies Act
2006} of which the company's auditors are unaware, and each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have
taken as a director in order to make himself or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
company's auditors are aware of that information.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Report of the Dircetors

for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

AUDITORS
The auditors, Shincwing Wilson Accountancy Limited, will be proposed for re-appointment at the ferthcoming  Annual

General Meeting.

ON REITALF OF THE BOARD:

Yingbin Te - Dircctor

Page 6



Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, the Report of the Directors and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the directors
have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under company law the directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors
are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

- make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent.

- state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements;

- prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the company will
continue in business,

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy al any time the financial position of the company and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
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Report of the Independent Auditors to the Members of
Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Qualified opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited (the 'company) for the year ended
31 December 2021 which comprise the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in
Equity and Notes to the Financial Statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 'Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the basis for qualified opinion section of our
report, the financial statements:

- give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2021 and of its profit for the year then
ended;

- have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

- have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for Qualified Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law.Our respensibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the  ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC's Ethical Standard,
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

The balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, includes an investment in subsidiaries amount to £464.857 and this
investment is fully impaired at year end. We were unable to obtain full information of all subsidiaries within the limited
time of audit, to verify the investment valuation and its impairment losses. As a result of this, we could not satisfy
ourselves as to whether the nil amount of investment was free from material misstatement. Any adjustments that might
have been found necessary in respect of the this balance would have a significant impact on the financial position of the
company as at 31 December 2021 and its profit and loss for the year.

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note 2 in the financial statements, the company had net current liabilities of £0.05million and net
liabilities of £47.30million respectively at the balance sheet date. The company fully depends on its ultimate parent's
support. As stated in note 2, these events or conditions, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a guarantee as to the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern. For example, the current Covid 19 situation is not clear. It is difficult

to evaluate all of the potential impacts on the Company's investment,

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant
sections of this report.
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Report of the Independent Auditors to the Members of
Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information in the Strategic
Report, the Report of the Directors and the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, but does not include the financial
statements and our Report of the Auditors thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with cur audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. [f we identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the
financial statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

As described in the basis for qualified opinion section of our report, we were unable to satisfy ourselves concerning the
investment in subsidiaries and its fully impairment as at 31 December 2021. We have concluded that where the other
information refers to this balance, it may be materially misstated for the same reason.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

- the information given in the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the Strategic Report and the Report of the Directors have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit,
we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report or the Report of the Directors. Except for the
matter described in the basis for qualified opinion section of our report, in light of the knowledge and understanding of
the company and its environment obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the
Report of the Directors.

Arsing solely from the limitation on the scope of our work relating to the investment in subsidiaries, referred to the
above:

- we have not obtained all the information and explanations that we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;
and

- we were unable to determine whether adequate accounting records have been kept.

Except for the possible effects of the matter described above we have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 reguires us to report to you if, in our opinton:

- returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
- certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors' Responsibilities set out on page seven, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and
for such internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going concem basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Report of the Independent Auditors to the Members of.
Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Anditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are 10 obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue a Report of the Auditors that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with [SAs
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they coutd reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Discussions with and enquiries of management and those charged with governance were held with a view to identifying
those laws and regulations that could be expected to have a material impact on the financial statements. During the
engagement team briefing, the outcomes of these discussions and enquiries were shared with the team, as well as
consideration as to where and how fraud may occur in the entity.

The following laws and regulations were identified as being of significance to the entity:

- Those laws and regulations considered to have a direct effect on the financial statements include UK financial
reporting standards, Company Law and Tax legislation.

- Those laws and regulations for which non-compliance may be fundamental to the operating aspects of the business and
therefore may have a material effect on the financial statements include environmental regulations, health and safety
legislation.

Audit procedures undertaken in response to the potential risks relating to irregularities (which include fraud and
nen-compliance with laws and regulations) comprised of: inquiries of management and those charged with governance
as 1o whether the entity complies with such laws and regulations; enquiries with the same conceming any actual or
potential litigation or claims; inspection of relevant legal correspondence; review of board minutes; testing the
appropriateness of entries in the nominal Jedger, including journal entries; reviewing transactions around the end of the
reporting period; and the performance of analytical procedures to identify unexpected movements in account balances
which may be indicative of fraud.

No instances of materiat non-compliance were idemified. However, the likelihood of detecting irregularities, including
fraud, is limited by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the entity's controls, and the
nature, timing and extent of the audit pracedures performed. Irregularities that resuit from fraud might be inherently
more difficult to detect than irregularities that result from error. As explained above, there is an unavoidable risk that
material misstatements may not be detected, even though the audit has been planned and performed in accordance with
1SAs (UK).

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting
Cauncil's website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forins part of our Report of the Auditors.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companics Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company's members those
maners we are required to state to them in a Report of the Auditors and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Julid Zhuge Wilson (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of Shinewing Wilson Accountancy Limited
Chartered Certified Accountants

and Statutory Auditors

9 St Clare Street

London

EC3N ILQ

Date: Jg WD 2022
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

31.12.21 31.12.20
Notes £000 £'000
TURNOVER - -
Administrative expenses (479) 1,531
OPERATING PROFIT/LOSS) 479 (1.531)
Interest receivable and similar income 5 4,368 4,683
4_,&4—; 3.152
Interest payable and similar expenses 6 3,889 4,357
PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 7 g (I,E)
Tax on profit/(loss) 8 - -
PROFIT/LOSS) FOR THE FINANCIAL -
YEAR 958 (1,205)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 958 {1,205)

The notes form part of these financial statements
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Vatukosla Gold Mines Linited (Regisiered number: 03059977

Balance Sheet
31 December 2021

Notes £1000
CRIEDITORS
Amounts falling due within one year 11
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES
CREDITORS
Amounts falling due after more than one
year 12
NET LIABILITIES
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share capitat 13
Share premium L4
Retained eamings 14

SHAREHOLBERS' FUNDS

The fmancial statements  were approved by the Board of
- 28/09/2022 .. oo and were signed on its behall by:

Directars

3221
£000
48

{48)

(48)

47,249

(47,297)

17,263
94,830
(159,390

(47,297}

The notes form part of these financial statements
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£000

authorised

31,1220
£'000

e
L4

(55)

{55)

48,200

(48,255)

17.203
94,830
(160,348 )

(48,2553

issue  on



Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Statement of Changes in Equity
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Called up
share Retained Share Other Total
capital earnings premium reserves equity
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000

Balance at | January 2020 17,263 (162,236) 94,830 3,093 (47,050)
Changes in equity
Total comprehensive loss - 1,888 - (3,093) (1,205)
Balance at 31 December 2020 17,263 (160,348) 84,830 - (48,255)
Changes in equity
Total comprehensive income - 958 - - 958
Balance at 31 December 2021 17,263 (159,390) 94,830 - (47.297)

The notes form part of these financial statements
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Finangial Statements
for e Year Ended 31 December 2021

1.

STATUTORY INFORMATION

Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited is a private company, registered in England and Wales. The company's registered
number and registered office address can be found on the Company Information page.

The presentation currency of the financial statements is the Pound Sterling (£).
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework" and the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention.

The company chose to adopt FRS 101 having previously applied IFRS, has already applied for the recognition
and measurement requirements of IFRS. As such, although it's a first-time adopter of FRS 101, is not considered
to be adopting 1FRS for the first time. Therefore, the company transitioned to FRS 101 from 1 January 2021
gave no material effect on the accounts, However, FRS 101 accounts need to comply with additional
requirements of UK company law, which many of these are already covered by IFRS disclosure requirements.
The company's sharcholders were notified of, and did not object the transition,

The company has taken advantage of the following disclosure exemptions in preparing these financial
statements, as permitted by FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework™:

»  the requirements of IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures;

*  the requirements of paragraphs 91 to 99 of [FRS 13 Fair Value Measurement;

= the requirements of IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows;

»  the requirements of paragraphs 17 and 18A of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures;

* the requirements in [AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into
between two or more members of a group.

Preparation of financial statements as an individual company

The Company continues to take exception under section 401 of the Companies Act in preparing consolidated
accounts for the Group, as Zhongrun International Mining Co. Ltd continues to hold approximately 79.5% of the
enlarged share capital of the Company, and Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation ("Zhongrun') continues
as the ultimate contrelling entity. Zhongrun's accounts continue to be prepared under Chinese GAAP, and have
been filed along with the Company accounts at Companies House in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

Going concern

The Company has a net current liability of 0.05million (2020: 0.06million) and net liability of £47.30million
(2020: £48.26miillion) at the year ended 31 December 2021, and fully relies on its ultimate parent's financial
support. The directors considered available funding facilities, and concluded that the Company has sufficient
resource for next 12 months from the date of signing these financial statements. The financial statements are
therefore prepared on a geing concern basis, without reflecting the material uncertainty existence that may cast
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued

for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Financial instruments

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the company's statement of financial position when the company becomes
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are classified into specified categories. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of recognition.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, other than those classified as fair value
through profit and loss, which are measured at fair value.

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market are classified as 'loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. less any impairment.

Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the
recognition of interest would be immaterial. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating the interest income over the relevant peried. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the debt
instrument to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. The
Company's financial liabilities include trade payables, other payables and derivative financial instruments.

Trade and other payables are carried at cost which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid in the future
for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Company.

All borrowings and overdrafts are recorded at the amount of the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Finance charges are charged to the income statement on an accruals basis using the effective interest rate method.

Other Financjal liabilities

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an instrument's fair value that are reported in profit and
loss included within "finance costs" or "finance income".

Share capital
Financial instruments issued by the company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the

definition of a financial liability or financial asset,

The company's ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued

for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued

Taxation

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and any
adjustment to the tax payable or receivable in respect of previous years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects uncertainty related
to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences
are not provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
other than in a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that
they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the
expected manner of realisation or setilement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised.

Foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rates of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate of exchange ruling at
the date of transaction. Exchange differences are taken into account in arriving at the operating result.

Interest income

Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method. This is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period
using the effective interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Investments in subsidiaries

The Company recognises its investments in subsidiaries at cost, less any provision for impairment. Differences
arising from changes in fair values of intercompany loans receivable at below market rates of interest are treated
as an increase in the investment in the subsidiary.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued

for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

3.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of the accounting policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenue and
expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised and in any future years
affected.

Impairment of investment in subsidiaries

The ¢company is an investment holding company and due to the nature of its operations, the critical accounting
estimates and judgements relate to the carrying value of its investments and the assumptions used in supporting
the value of the investment.

The carrying value of subsidiaries is reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate
the carrying value may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of subsidiaries exceeds
its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The value in use
calculation is based on a discounted cash flow model. The cash flows are derived from internal budgets and do
not include significant future investments that will enhance the asset's performance of the cash generating unit
being tested. The recoverable amount is most sensitive to the discount rate used for the discounting cash flow
model as well as the expected future cash inflows. Main assumptions involved current market quotations from
technical suppliers and independent professional consultants who are well established in this industry, The
directors perform impairment reviews on the carrying value of investments, this involves judgement and involves
the use of estimates and assumptions, particularly in relation to future forecasts and events. As the result of the
impairment review, the investment is fully impaired, see Note 9 in the notes to the financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND DIRECTORS

31.12.21 31.12.20
£000 £060
Wages and salaries 21 21
The average number of employees during the year was as follows:
31.12.21 31.12.20
Directors 4 4
3L.12.21 31.12.20
£ £
Directors’ remuneration 21,000 21,000
INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME
31.12.21 31.12.20
£000 £000
Loan interest receivables 4,368 4,683
INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES
3.12.21 31.12.20
£'000 £000
Loan interest payables 3,889 4,357
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

7. PROFIT/LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION

The profit before taxation (2020 - loss before taxation) is stated after charging/(crediting):

31.12.21 31.12.20

£000 £'000

Auditors' remuneration 7 7
Other non- audit services 9 9
Foreign exchange differences (521) 1,445

8. TAXATION

Analysis ol Lax expense
No liability to UK corporation tax arose for the year ended 31 December 2021 nor for the year ended
31 December 2020.

Factors affecting the tax expense
The tax assessed for the year is lower (2020 - higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK. The
difference is explained below:

31.12.21 31.12.20
£000 £000

Profit/(loss) before income tax 958 (1,205)
Profit/(loss) multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of
19% (2020 - 19%) 182 (229)
Effects of:
Deferred tax not recognised - 229
Utilised against previous trading losses (182) -

Tax expense -

The Company has an unrecognised deferred tax asset of £3.52million (2020: £3.69 million). This has not been
recognised in the financial statements due to uncertainty over the future income streams required from the
potential asset to be recovered.

The rate of corporation tax throughout the year was 19%. The Finance Act 2021 was substantially enacted in
May 2021 and has increased the corporation tax rate from 19% to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. The
deferred taxation balances have been measured using the rates expected to apply in the reporting periods when
the timing differences reverse.
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Vatukoula Gold Mings Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued

for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

4.

INVESTMENTS

COST
At 1 January 2021
and 31 December 2021

PROVISIONS
At 1 January 2021
and 31 December 2021

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2021

At 31 December 2020

Shares in

group
undertakings
£000

465

465

The company's investments at the Balance Sheet date in the share capital of companies include the following:

River Diamonds UK Ltd #
Registered office: England & Wales
Nature of business; Dormant

Class of shares:
Ordinary

Viso Gero International Inc **
Registered office: British Virgin Islands
Nature of business: Dormant

Class of shares:
Ordinary

Vatukoula Gold Pty Limited ***
Registered office: Australia
Nature of business: Dormant

Class of shares:
Ordinary

Vatukoula Finance Pty Ltd ***
Registered office: Australia
Nature of business: Dormant

Class of shares:
Ordinary

Vatukoula Australia Pty Ltd ***
Registered office: Australia
Nature of business: Dormant

Class of shares:
Ordinary
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Finangial Statements - continued

for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

9.

INVESTMENTS - continued

Yatukoula Gold Mines Pte Limited #**%**
Registered office: Fiji
Nature of business: Gold Mine

%
Class of shares: holding
Ordinary 100.00
31.12.21 31.12.20
£'000 £000
Aggregate capital and reserves 31,170 23,776
Loss for the year (7.941) (9,901)
Koula Mining Company Limited ****
Registered office: Fiji
Nature of business: Dormant
%
Class of shares: holding
Ordinary 100.00
Jubilee Mining Company Limited ****
Registered office: Fiji
Nature of business: Dormant
%
Class of shares: holding
Ordinary 100.00

* This subsidiary was dissolved on 31 August 2021.

** This subsidiary was re-instated in piror year and remained dormant.

*** These subsidiaries were re-instated during the year and remained dormant.

**¥* These subsidiaries were re-instated during the year due to group restructure and remained dormant.
**%** This subsidiary was re-instated during the year due to group restructure.

Investments in subsidiary companies are measured at cost, iess accumulated provistons for impairments,
The directors have assessed that the investment in subsidiaries remain fully impaired at year end. The balance
has been impaired during the period by £nil (2020:; £nil). The impairment was calculated based on the expected

return from the subsidiary over the period that it is expected to make distributable profits.

DEBTORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

31.12.21 31.12.20

£'000 £'000

Unpaid share capital 500 S00
Provision for bad debts (500) (500)

The Company previously funded its subsidiary Vatukoula Gold Mine Limited to support its operations in Fiji.
During the year, additional loan from the Company is £nil (2020: £433,329). At year end, the outstanding loan of
£110million (2020: £109million) is repayable on demand in US dollor. As a result of retranslating as at the
balance sheet date, a realised foreign exchange gain of £1.14million (2020: loss of £4.25 millien) has been
realised in the profit and loss account. The loan charges interest at 4.75% with effect from 1 July 2019, please
refer to Note 5 interet received during the year. However, the loan balance has been fully impaired as at the
balance sheet date on the basis of the Fiji subsidiaries’ cash flow and trading position.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

1. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

31.12.21 31.12.20

£'000 £000

Accrued expenses 438 55

12, CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE

YEAR

31.12.21 31.12.20

£000 £000

Amounts owed to group undertakings 47,249 48,200

The Company is funded by it immediate parent Zhongrun International Mining Co. Ltd. Included in the amount
owed to group undertakings is the outstanding loan due to Zhongrun, bearing an interest charge at 4.75% per
annum with effect from 1 July 2019, please refer to Note 6 interest payable during the year. This loan is
repayable when the Company has sufficient cash flow.

13. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL

Allotted and issued:

Number: Class: Nominal 31.12.21 31.12.20
value: £ £

345,255,339 Ordinary shares 0.01 3,452,554 3,452,554

345,255,339 Deferred shares 0.04 13,810,214 13,810,214

17,262,768 17,262.768

The deferred shares carry no voting rights, and no rights to dividends.

14. RESERYES

Retained Share
earnings premium Totals
£'000 £'000 £'000
At 1 January 2021 (160,348 94,830 (65,518)
Profit for the year 958 958

At 31 December 2021 (159,390) 94,830 (64,560)

5. ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY
The ultimate controtling entity is Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation a Chinese incorporated company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. The immediate parent company is Zhongrun International Mining Co.
Ltd, who owns 79.5% of VGM's share capital.

16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The directors have confirmed that there were no contingent liabilities or capital commitments which should be
disclosed at 31 December 2021.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements - continued
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

17. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Apart from notes 10 and 12 disclased the transactions with its fellow subsidiary and immediate parent, the
Company deems key management personnel to be both the executive and non-executive directors. Only
remuneration was paid to one director Mr Yingbin lan He during the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,

details were disclosed in note 4.
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Vatukoula Gold Mines Limited

Detailed Profit and Loss Account
for the Year Ended 31 December 2021

Income

Other income
Loan interest receivables

Expenditure

Directors’ fees

Computer costs

Legal fees

Auditors' remuneration

Auditors' remuneration for non audit work
Foreign exchange losses

Finance costs
Loan interest payables

NET PROFIT/LOSS)

This page does not form part of the statutory financial statements

31.12.21]
£000 £000
4,368
4,368
21
5
7
9
(521
- (479)
4.847
3,889
938
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31.12.20

£000

21

48

1,445

£'000

4,683

4,683

1,531

3,152

4,357

(1,205)
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Audit Report
BDO AR [2022] No.ZB10911

To all shareholders of Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation:

1. Qualified Audit Opinion

We have audited the attached financial statements of Zhongrun Resources Investment
Corporation (ZRC), including the Consolidated Balance Sheet (as of December 31, 2021),
Balance Sheet of Parent Company (as of December 31, 2021}, Consolidated Profit and Loss
Statement of 2021, Profit and Loss Statement of Parent Company of 2021, Consolidated Cash
Flow Statement of 2021, Cash Flow Statement of Parent Company of 2021, Consolidated
Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity of 2021, Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity of
Parent Company of 2021, and Notes to Financial Statement.

We believe that except the impact of the matters described in the “Basis for Formation of
Qualified Audit Opinions” section, the attached financial statements were prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises in all
material respects, and they have fairly reflected the financial positions of ZRC as of December
31, 2021 and the operating results and cash flow of ZRC in 2021, both on a consolidated basis
and of the parent company.

2. Basis for Formation of Qualified Audit Opinions

ZRC recognized expected credit loss of RMB357.572 million and RMB34.6507 million
respectively for the creditor’s rights to Li Xiaoming and PESI Co., Ltd.. We were unable to
obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on whether the amounts above should be
adjusted and accounted for into the previous years. So we expressed qualified audit opinions
on 2020 financial statements. This matter might have influence on the comparability between
the data of this period in 2021 Profit & Loss Statement and the corresponding data.

We conducted the audit in accordance with the Chinese Certified Public Accountant Auditing
Standards. The “CPA's Responsibility for Auditing Financial Statements™ section of the audit
report further elaborates our responsibilities under these standards. According to the Code of
Ethics for Chinese Certified Public Accountants, we are independent of ZRC and fulfill other
professional ethics duties. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for expressing qualified opinions.

3. Key Audit Matters

The key audit matters are the matters that we believe are most important for the audit of the
current financial statements based on professional judgment. The response to these matters is
based on the overall audit of the financial statements and the formation of audit opinion. We
do not comment on these matters separately.

In addition to the matters described in the “Basis for Formation of Qualified Audit Opinions”
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section, we identified the following matters as key audit matters.

Key Audit Matters

Response in Audit

{1) Net realizable value of inventories

Refer to the accounting policies stated in note 11
of “Ill. Major accounting policies and accounting
estimates followed by ZRC” and note 5 of “V.
Notes to Items of Consolidated Financial
Statement”.

As of December 31, 2021, the book balance of
raw materials, work in process, products under
development (hereinafter referred to as
“inventories™) of ZRC was RMB 208,024,900,
the depreciation provision was RMB 27,570,600,
and the book value was RMB 180,454,300,
accounting for 10.69% of the total assets. The
inventories are measured at the cost or the net
realizable value, whichever is lower.

As of the balance sheet date, the inventories
depreciation provision was made based on the
difference between the cost and the net realizable
value of the inventories by type. Considering the
purpose of holding the inventories, the
management determines the net realizable value
of inventories based on the estimated selling
price less the costs and expenses to be incurred
until completion, estimated selling costs, and
relevant taxes. The estimated selling price is
determined according to the contracted selling
price, the market price of same or similar
products, and other factors. Such process
involves significant judgment and estimates by
the management.

In addition to the significant book value of
inventory as of December 31, 2021, the
estimation of future selling prices of the products
under development involves inherent risks. The
estimates and judgment used to calculate the net
realizable value also involve the risk of
management bias. As such, we have identificd the
evaluation of the net realizable value of the
inventories of ZRC as a key audit matter.

The audit procedures performed by us for
evaluating the net realizable value of inventories
include:

(1) Understand the key internal control related to
the net realizable value of inventories, evaluate
the design of such control, determine if it is
implemented, and test the operational
effectiveness of the relevant internal control;

(2) Review the management’s forecast on the
actual net realizable value of inventories and the
actual operating results in previous years,
evaluate the accuracy of management's forecast.

(3) Obtain the calculations made by ZRC on the
depreciation provision of inventories and test
whether the management's calculation of the net
realizable value of inventories is accurate;

For real estate:

(1) Locally observe the inventories on a
sampling basis, and ask about the progress of
these inventories and the total estimated
development cost reflected in the latest forecasts
for each item;

(2) Perform sensitivity analysis to determine the
extent to which such estimates result in a
material misstatement of the development
project, and consider the likelihood of such
changes in key estimates and assumptions, as
well as the potential management bias;

For gold mine:

(1) Obtain the selling price in open market,
independently query the price information in the
open market, and compare it with the estimated
selling price;

(2) By inventories supervision, check whether
any item of the closing inventories has long
account age, outdated model, and other
problems, and evaluate whether the management
has reasonably estimated the net realizable
value.

(2) Evaluation of Going Concern (Way of Borrowing)

Audit report Page 2




Refer to section 2 “Going Concern” in Note II
“Basis for Preparation of Financial Statements”
and (19), (25), (27) in note 5 of V “Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements”.

As of December 31, 2021, the balance of current
liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet of
ZRC was RMB 1,252,961,800, which was RMB
880,034,400 higher than the current assets, The
accumuiated loss was RMB 642,365,000.

The management believes that ZRC will have
sufficient financial resources, including net cash
inflows from operating activities and financing
activities, and fulfill its financial responsibilities
due in the foreseeable future. The management
has confirmed preliminarily with the main
cooperative banks and institutions that the bank
loans issued by them to be expire in the future 12
months will be extended. The evaluation of going
concern is based on the expectations and
estimates made by the management, which may
be influenced by the economic factors beyond the
management’s control. The estimates are based
on several assumptions, including the forecasts of
the future development of economy and market.
As expected events often do not occur as
expected and unforeseen circumstances might
occur, the actual cash flow may vary from what
we forecast. Therefore we identify the evaluation
of going concern as a key audit event.

In order to evaluate the evaluations made by the
management, we implemented (among others)
the following procedures for the cash flow
forecast in the next 12 months from December
31, 2021 to evaluate its several main
assumptions:

(1) Evaluate the management's evaluations and
discuss with the management any matters and
conditions that may lead to significant doubts
about the entity's ability to continue as a going
concern;

(2) For the forecast of cash flows of ZRC in the
next 12 months made by the management, we
analyzed and evaluated the relevant data based
on the financial performance, forecast and
development plan of ZRC in previous years, and
evaluated whether the key assumptions taken in
the cash flow forecast (such as future sales,
success of extension of bank loans and
commitments to capital expenditure) are
adequately supported;

(3) Checked the new bank loans issued after the
date of this audit report;

(4) Evaluated the adequacy of the disclosure in
the notes to consolidated financial statements.

4. Additional Information

The management of ZRC is responsible for additional information. Additional information
includes the information covered in 2021 annual report of ZRC, but does not include the

financial statements and our audit report.

Our audit opinions expressed on the financial statements do not cover additional information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion on additional information.

In conjunction with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read
additional information. In this process, we consider whether there is any significant
inconsistency or other material misstatement with the financial statements or what we have

learned during the audit process.

Based on the work we have performed, if we determine that there is a material misstatement in
the additional information, we should report that fact. Except the matter stated in the above
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"Basis for Formulation of Qualified Opinions" that may have potential influence on the
comparability between the data of this year in 2021 Profit Statement and the corresponding
data, we have not found any other material misstatement of information.

5 Management and Governance’ Responsibilities for Financial Statements

The management is responsible for preparing financial statements in accordance with the
requirements of the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises to enable them to achieve
fair reflection, and designing, implementing, and maintaining necessary internal controls so
that there are no material misstatements due to fraud or errors in the financial statements.

In the preparation of the financial statements, the management is responsible for assessing
ZRC’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing issues related to going-concern (if
applicable), and applying the going concern assumption unless the management plans to
liquidate ZRC, cease operations or has no other realistic options.

The governance is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of ZRC.

6 Auditor's Responsibility for Audited Financial Statements

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the entire financial statements
are free from material misstatement due to fraud or error and to issue an audit report
containing audit opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it does not
guarantee that in an audit performed in accordance with auditing standards, the major
misstatement can always be discovered when it exists. Misstatement may be caused by fraud
or error, and if as reasonably expected, a misstatement, along or with other information, may
affect the economic decision made by the users of financial statements based on the financial
statements, such misstatement is generally considered to be material.

In the process of conducting the audit work in accordance with auditing standards, we use
professional judgment and maintain professional suspicion. At the same time, we also perform
the following tasks:

(1). Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of financial statements due to fraud
or errors, design and implement audit procedures to address these risks, and obtain
adequate and appropriate audit evidence as a basis for issuing audit opinions. Since fraud
may involve collusion, falsification, intentional omission, misrepresentation or override of
internal controls, the risk of failing to detect a material misstatement due to fraud is higher
than the risk of failure to detect a material misstatement due to an error.

{(2). Understand audit-related internal controls to design appropriate audit procedures.

(3). Evaluate the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted by the management and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures.

(4). Draw conclusions on the appropriateness of the management's use of the going-concern
assumption. Based on the audit evidence obtained, give conclusions as to whether there
are significant uncertainties in the matters or circumstances that have significant doubts
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about the sustainability of ZRC. If we conclude that there are significant uncertainties, the
auditing standards require us to request the users of the report to pay attention to the
relevant disclosures in the financial statements in the audit report; if the disclosure is not
sufficient, we should express non-unqualified opinions. Our conclusions are based on the
information available as of the date of the audit report. However, future events or
circumstances may result in the inability of ZRC to continue operating.

(5). Evaluate the overall presentation (including disclosure), structure, and content of the
financial statements and evaluate whether the financial statements fairly reflect the
relevant transactions and events.

(6). Obtain adequate and appropriate audit evidence on the financial information of entitics
or business activities of ZRC to express audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for guiding, supervising and implementing the group audit
and assume full responsibility for the audit opinion.

We communicate with the governance on the planned audit scope, timing, and major audit
findings, including communication of the internal control deficiencies that we identified
during the audit.

We also provide a statement to the management on compliance with ethical requirements
related to independence and communicate with the management on all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be considered to affect our independence, as well as related
preventive measures (if applicable).

From the matters communicated with the governance, we determine which items are most
important for the audit of the financial statements of the current period and thus constitute the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our audit report, unless laws and regulations
prohibit the public disclosure of these matters, or in rare cases, if it is reasonably expected that
the negative consequences of communicating something in the audit report will outweigh the
benefits in the public interest, we determine that the matter should not be communicated in the
audit report.

BDO China ShuLun Pan CPA Certified public accountant of China:

(Special General Partnership) (Project Partner)
Certified public accountant of China:

Shanghai ¢ China April 27, 2022
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Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation

(All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise specified.)

Consolidated Balance Sheet
As of December 31, 2021

Assets Note 5 Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year

Current assets:

Monetary funds (1) 10,169,290.45 124,568,128.49

Cash reserves for settlement

Lending funds

Trading financial assets

Derivative financial assets

Notes receivable

Account receivable {(2) 1,982.210.81 1,972,239.71

Receivables financing

Prepayment (3) 15,612,051.10 24,157,523.72

Premium receivable

Reinsurance premium receivable

Provision of cession receivable

Other receivables 4) 39.411,484.35 40,234,379.42

Redemptory financial assets for sale

Inventories (5) 180,454.315.85 577.667,682.41

Contractual assets (6) 5,873,761.45 3,468,045.30

Assets held for sale ()] 80,503,641.09 -

Non-current assets due within one year (8) 4,013,288.89 29,565,355.55

Other current assets (9) 31,907,315.90 63,571,545.15
Total of current assets 372,927,359.8% 865,204,899.75
Non-current assets:

Issued loan and advances

Debt investment

Other debt investment

Long-term receivable

Long-term equity investment (10) 42,125,448.90 42,643,898.33

Other equity instrument investment {an 3.753,452.39 5,371,907.43

Other non-current financial assets

Investment property {12) 633,962,190.94 664,297,486.42

Fixed assets (13 429 876,408.26 471.094,329.23

Construction in progress (14) 85,106,184.84 83.516,505.04

Productive biological assets

Qil and pas assets

Right of use assets (15) 10,906,866.37

Intangible assets (16) 68,396,015.55 149,258,251.68

Development expenditure

Goodwill

Long-term deferred expenses

Deferred income tax assets (17 31,118.613.94 41,744,062.73

Other non-current assets (18) 9.852,483.82
Total non-current assets 1,315,097,665.01 1,457,926,440.86
Total assets 1,688,025,024.90 2,323,131,340.61

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.

Legal Representative: CFO: Financial Manager:
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Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheet (continued)

As of December 31, 2021
(All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise specified.)

Closing Balance of

Liabilities and Owner's Equity Note 5 Closing Balance last year

Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowings (19) 92,191,998.89 100,861,375.20

Borrowings from central bank

Borrowing funds

Trading financial liabilities

Derivative financial liabilities

Notes payable

Accounts payable 20 149,149,790.24 134,136,997.13

Advances received (21) 1,628,669.92 1,851,767.55

Contractual liabilities (22) 58,266,883.22 525,518,622.76

Financial assets sold for repurchase

Deposit from customers and other banks

Acting trading securities

Acting underwriting securities

Payroll pavable (23) 20,901,283.55 23,789,887.53

Tax payable 24 1,948,700.17 3,149.786.85

Other payables (25) 427,508,649.93 456,842,850.46

Handling charge and commission payable

Reinsurance premium payable

Held-for-sale liabilities (26) 49,340,252.36 -

Non-current liabilities due within one vear 27) 452,025,562.20 435,449,648.94

Other current liabilities (28) 41,815,260.89
Total current liabilities 1,252,961,790.48 1,723,416,197.31

Non-current liabilities:

Provision for insurance contracts

Long-term borrowings

Bonds payables

Including: Preferred shares

Perpetual bonds

Lease liabilities (29) 3,306,727.26

Long-term account payable

Long-term payroll payable (30) 1,351,796.32 1,200,497.04

Estimated liabilities (31) 26,150,702.71 21,874,443.22

Deferred income

Deferred income tax liabilities (a7 2,719,006.33 3,002,134.86

Other non-current liabilities
Total non-current liabilities 33,528,232.62 26,077,075.12
Total liabilities 1,286,490,023.10 1,749,493,272.43
Owner’s equity:

Share capital (32) 929,017,761.00 929,017,761.00

Other equity instruments

Including: Preferred shares

Perpetual bonds

Capital reserve (33) 51,259,534.18 51,259,534.18

Less: Treasury stock -

Other comprehensive income 34) -41,201,573.81 -10,267,564.19

Special reserves (3%) 13,921.38 13,921.38

Surplus reserve (36) 77,898.,985.76 77,898,985.76

General Risk Reserve

Undistributed profit 37N -642.365,025.62 -513,258,347.79

Total owner’s equity attributable to the parent company 374,623,602.89 534,664,290.34

Non-controlling interest 26,911,398.91 38,973,777.84
Total owner’s equity 401,535,001.80 573,638,068.18
Total liabilities and owner’s equity 1,688,025,024 90 2,323,131,340.61

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.
Financial Manager:

Legal Representative: CFO:

Audit report Page 7




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Balance Sheet of Parent Company
As of December 31, 2021
(All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise specified.)

Closing Balance of

Assets Note 14 Closing Balance
last year

Current assets:

Monetary funds 147,888.89 1,016,185.09

Trading financial assets

Derivative financial assets

Notes receivable

Account receivable

Accounts receivable financing

Prepayment 148,643.34
Other receivables (1) 424,614,820.09 500,783,270.04
Inventories

Contractual assets

Assets held for sale

Non-current assets due within one year 4,013,288.89 29,565,355.55
Other current assets 2,173,888.14 1,455,103.49
Total current assets 431,098,529.35 532,819,914.17

Non-current assets:

Debt investment

Other debt investment

Long-term accounts receivable

Long-term equity investment {2) 1,043,821,197.01 1,043,821,197.01

Other equity instrument investment

Other non-current financial assets

Investment property 130,288,807.29 135,360,882.21

Fixed assets 182,768.15 187,650.38

Construction in progress

Productive biological assets

Oil and gas assets

Right of use assets 7,976,741.33

Intangible assets 123.324.70 179,255.74
Development expenditure

Goodwill

Long-term deferred expenses

Deferred income tax assets

Other non-current assets

Total non-current assets 1,182,392,838.48 1,179,548,985.34

Total assets 1,613,491,367.83 1,712,368,899.51

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.
Legal Representative: CFO: Financial Manager:

Audit report Page 8




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Balance Sheet of Parent Company (continued)

As of December 31, 2021

(All amounts are expressed in RIVIB unless otherwise specified.)

Liabilities and Owner’s Equity

Note
14

Closing Balance

Closing Balance of
last year

Current liabilities:

Short-term borrowings

02,191,998.89

92,191,998.89

Trading financial liabilities

Detrivative financial liabilities

Notes payable

Accounts payable

Advance received

234,984.27

Contractual liabilities

Payroll payable 5,758,243.12 4,633,879.20
Tax payable 406,016.26 382,325.97
Other accounts payable 434,717,.326.61 713,111,118.73

Available-for-sale liabilities

Non-current liabilities due within one year

451,820,366.17

435,449,648.94

Other current liabilities

Total current liabilities

084,893,951.05

1,246,003,956.00

Non-current liabilities:

Long-term borrowings

Bonds payables

Including: Preferred shares

Perpetual bonds

Lease liabilities

401,001.44

Long-term payable

Long-term payroll payable

Estimated liabilities

Deferred income

Deferred income tax liabilities

Other non-current liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

401,001.44

Total liabilities

985,294,952.49

1,246,003,956.00

Owner’s equity:

Share capital

929,017,761.00

929,017,761.00

Other equity instruments

Including: Preferred shares

Perpetual bonds

Capital reserve

125,422,801.02

155,822,801.02

Less; Treasury stock

Other comprehensive income

Special reserve

Surplus statutory reserve

65,431,085.56

65,431,085.56

Undistributed profit

-491,675,232.24

-683,906,704.07

Total owner’s equity

628,196,415.34

466,364,943.51

Total liabilities and owner’s equity

1.613,491,367.83

1,712,368,899.51

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.
Financial Manager:

Legal Representative: CFO:

Audit report Page 9




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Consolidated Profit and Loss Statement

Financial Year 2021
(All amounts are expressed in RMB unless otherwise specified.)
Ttem Note 5 This period Last period
[. Turnover (38) 905,438,329.02 425054,418.80
Including: Operating income (38} 906,438,329.02 425,054,418.80
Interest income
Earned insurance premium
Handling fee and commission income
II Total Operating Cost 1,007411,874.17 | 499,493 ,518.70
Including Operating cost (38) 79839247932 | 296,137,171.86
Interest expense
Handling fee and commission expenses
Surrender value
Ney payments for insurance claims
Net provision for insurance contracts
Payment of dividend te policyholder
Reinsurance expense
Tax and surcharges (39 19,436,570.43 20,863,428 50
Sales expense (40) 15,969,354 48 2214 690 55
Administrative expense {41) 96,942,245 70 76,742,510 10
R&D expenses
Financial expense (42) 76,671,224 24 103,535,717.69
Tncluding: Interest expenses 6857803811 74 023 994 77
Interest income 935,590.65 3,554,786 .96
Plus: Other income {43) 37,140.48 8,187,624 04
Investment income (1ndicate the loss with *-*) {44) 1,633,943 .68 10,732,329 40
Including: Investment in joint-venture and cooperative enterprises 1,633,943.68 8,488,942 87
Gain on derecognized financial assets measured at amortized cost
Exchange earnings (indicate the loss with -’}
Net gain on exposure hedging (indicate the loss with *-*)
Gains from changes in fair value {indicate the loss with *-'}
Credit impainment loss (indicate the loss with *-") (45) 0.857,074.53 | 392,540,183 44
Asset impairment loss (indicate the loss with *-7) {46} =16,130,223.23 -28,089,721.75
Asset disposal income (indicate the loss with *-") a7 158,205 60 140.513.15
[1I. Operating profit (indicate the loss with *-") -105,417,404.09 | -476,008,538.50
Plus: Non-operating income (48) 240,300.00 -
Less: Non-operating expense 49) 21,726,075.51 8,510,444 .04
1V. Total profit (indicate totat loss with *-") -126 903,179.60 | -484,518,982.54
Less. Income tax expenses (50) 10,342,320.26 1,242,025.11
V. Net profit (indicate total loss with -7} -137.245499.86 | -485,761,007 65
. By operation continuity
(1) net profit of continued operation (indicate net loss with *-’) -137,245499.86 | -467,183 968.66
{2) net profit of discontinued operation (indicate net loss with *-7) -18,577,038.99
2. By ownership
{1} Net profit attributable to the owners of parent company (indicate net loss with - -129,106,677.83 | -492.848,757.78
(2) Minotity shareholders’ profit (indicate the net loss with *-") _8,138,822.03 7,087,750.13
VI. Other after tax comprehensive income -34,857.566.52 -21,857,265.11
Other after tax comprehensive income attributable to the owners of parent company -30,934,009 62 -20,323,120 42
1. Other comprehensive income that cannot be subsequently re-classified as profit and loss -1,618,455.04 -1,439,27007
{1). Re-measured changes in the defined benefit plan
(2} Other comprehensive income that cannot be re~classified as profit and loss under the equity method
(3). Fair value changes in gther equity instrument investment -1,618,455.04 -1,439,270.07
(4). Fair value changes in credit risk of the company
2. Other comprehensive income that will be subsequently re-classified as profit and loss -29.315,554.58 -18,883,850.35
(1). Other comprehensive income _to be subsequently re-classified as profit and loss under equity method
{2). Fair value changes in other debt investment
{3). Other comprehensive income recognized in the reclassification of the financial assets
(4). Provision for credit impairment of other debt investrment
(5). Cash flow hedging reserve
(6). Difference from translation of foreign curtency financial statements -29.315,554 58 -18.883 850.35
(7). Others
Afer-tax net amount of other comprehensive income attributable to minonty shareholders -3,923,556 90 -1,534,144 6%
VII. Total comprehensive income -172,103,066 38| -507.618,272.76
Total comprehensive income attributable to the owner of the parent company -160,040,687.45| -513,171,878.20
Total comprehensive income attributable to the minerity shareholders -12,062,378.93 5,553,605.44
VIII. Eamings per share (51}

(1) Basic earnings per share (yuan per share)

-0.1390

-0.5305

(2) Diluted earnings per share {yuan per share)

-0.139¢

-0.5305

Legal Representative: CFO:

Audit report Page 10

Financial Manager;




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Profit and Loss Statement of Parent Company

Financial Year 2021
(All amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.)
Item Note 14 Current Period Last Period

[. Turnover 3) 5,165,405.74 5,176,042.04
Less: Operating costs (3) 4,108,552.20 4,108,552.27
Tax and surcharges 1,256,660.22 1,250,941.65

Sales expense
Administrative expense 54,588.167.10 35,221,951.86

Ré&D expense
Financial expense 77,050,834.73 105,103,208.82
Including: Interest expense (5,770,497 .84 72,135,254.55
Interest income 660,646.17 3,144,389.71
Plus; Other income 18.029.49 76,568.03
Investment income (indicate the loss with *-*) (4 324,000,000.00 -

Including: {ncome from investment in joint-venture and cooperative enterprises

Gains on derecognized financial assets measured at amortized cost

Net gain on exposure hedging (indicate the loss with ‘")

Gains from changes in fair value (indicate the loss with ="

Credit impairment loss (indicate the loss with '-’

11,330.619.66

-392,740,110.64

Asset impaimment loss (indicate the loss with ‘-7)

Asset disposal income (indicate the loss with -’

140,513.15

1I. Operating profit {indicate the loss with ‘")

203,509,840.64

-533,031,642.02

Plus: Non-operating income

Less: Non-operating expense

11,278,368.81

8,136,133.00

{I1. Total profit (indicate the loss with *-*}

192,231,471.83

-541,167,775.02

Less: Income tax ¢xpenses

[V. Net profit (indicate the loss with ‘-")

192,231,471.83

-541,167,775.02

{1) net profit of continued operation (indicate net loss with ‘-*)

192,231,471.83

-541,167,775.02

{2) net profit of discontinued operation (indicate net loss with *-")

V. Other comprehensive income after tax

1, Other comprehensive income that cannot be subsequently re-classified as profit and
loss

(1). Changes from re-measurement of defined benefit plan

(2). Attributable share in other comprehensive income that cannot be re-classified as
profit and lgss under the equity method

{3). Fair value changes in other equity instrument investment

{4). Fair value changes in credit risk of the company

2. Other comprehensive income that will be subsequently re-classified as profit and
loss

(1). Attributable share in other comprehensive income that will be subsequently
re-classified as profit and loss under the equity method

{2). Fair value changes in other debt investment

(3). Other comprehensive income recognized in the reclassification of the financial
assets

4). Provision for credit impairment loss in other debt investment

{5). Cash flow hedging reserve

(6). Difference from translation of foreign currency financial statements

(7). Others

VL. Total comprehensive incomes

192,231,471.83

-541,167,775.02

VII. Earnings per share:

1. Basic carnings per share (yuan per share)

2. Diluted earnings per share {(yuan per share)

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.

Legal Representative: CEQ:

Audit report Page 11

Financial Manager:




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

Financial Year 2021

(All amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.)

Item Note § Current period Last period
L Cash flow from cperating activities
Cash received from sale of goods and services 484,272,028.19 683,477,967.27
Net increase in customer’s deposits and deposits from other banks
Net increase in borrowing funds from central bank
Net increase in borrowing funds from other financial institutions
Cash from the premiums of original insurance contract
Net cash from reinsurance business
Net increase in insurance’s deposits and investment funds
Cash from interest payment, handling change and commission
Net increase in borrowing funds
Net increase in buy-back funds
Net cash received from acting trading securities
Tax refunds received 38,821,432.44 25,121,480.97
Other cash received related to operating activitics (52) 52,906,076.21 23,615,412.96
Total cash inflow from operating activities 575,999.536.84 732,214,861.20
Cash paid for purchase of goods and services 246,166,903.69 363,307,218.98
Net increase in customer lending and advance in cash
Net increase in deposits in central bank and interbank deposits
Cash to pay insurance compensation under the original insurance contract
Net increase in lending funds
Cash to pay the interest, handling change and commission
Cash to pay policy dividend
Cash paid to/for staff members 122,082,824.35 114,664,648.98
Taxes paid 36,767,767.97 45,005,067.89
Cash paid related to other operating activities 116,564,009.83 76,008,439.63
Subtotal cash outflow from operating activities (52) 521,581,505.84 598,985,375.48
Net cash flow from operating activities 54,418,031.00 133,229,485.72
IL. Cash flow from investing activities
Cash received from payback of investment 25,000,000.00
Cash received from investment eamings 1,000,000.00
1:522 ;ash received from disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets and other long-term 176,865.02 252.000.00
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and other business units 16,574,587 .41
Other cash received related to investment activities
Total cash inflow in investing activitics 26,176,865.02 16,826,587.41
Cash paid to purchase fixed assets intangible assets or other long-term assets 68,968,556.07 §2.890,791.19
Cash paid for investment 61,607.63 14,733,928.70
Net increase in pledge loan
Net cash paid for acquisition of subsidiaries and other business units
Other cash paid related to investment activities
Total cash outflow in investment activities 69,030,163.70 97,624,719.89
Net cash flow from investing activities -42,853,298.68 -80,798,132.48
IIL. Cash flow from financing activities
Cash received from paid-in investment
Including: Cash received from the investment in subsidiaries by minority shareholders
Cash received from loans 92,000,000.00 92.000,000.00
Other cash received related to financing activities (52) 26,738,990.13 -
Total cash inflow in financing activities 118,738,990.13 92,000,000.00
Cash repayments of borrowings 105,449,734.43 106,865,562.79
Cash paid for distribution of dividends and profits or payment of interests 64,318,048.32 35,239.895.26
Including: Dividends and profits paid by the subsidiaries to minority shareholders
Other cash paid related to financing activities (32) 48,101,769.77
Total cash outflow in financing activities 21786955252 142.105,458.05
Net ¢ash flow from financing activities -99.130,562.39 -50,105,458.05
IV. Effects of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash equivalents -643,908.89 -4,490,599.54
V. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents -88,209,738.96 -2,164,704.35
Plus: Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 92,462,641.81 94.627,346.16
VL. Balance of cash and cash equivalents (33) 4,252.902.85 92,462,641.81

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.
Legal Representative: CFO:

Audit report Page 12

Financial Manager:




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Cash Flow Statement of Parent Company
Financial Year 2021
(All amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.)

Item Note This Period Last Period
I. Cash flow from operating activities
Cash received from sale of goods and services 250,000.00
Tax refunds received 935,847.12
Other cash received related to operating activities 3,512,261.42 21,111,807.11
Subtotal of cash inflow from operating activities 4,698,108.54 21,111,807.11

Cash paid for purchase of goods and services

Cash paid to/for staff members

11,348,119.51

10,246,352.05

Taxes paid

1,244,881.66

1,204,025.97

Cash paid related to other operating activities

11,716,797.72

22,511,167.19

Subtotal of cash outflow from operating activities

24,309,798.89

33,961,545.21

Net cash flow from operating activities

-19,611,690.35

-12,849,738.10

I1. Cash flow from investing activities

Cash received from payback of investment 25,000,000.00
Cash received from investment earnings 1,000,000.00
Net cash received from disposal of fixed assets, intangible 252,000.00
assets and other long-term assets
Net cash received from disposal of subsidiaries and other
business units
Other cash received related to investment activities 45,263,435.26
Subtotal of cash outflow in investment activities 26,000,000.00 45,515,435.26
Cash paid to purchase fixed assets, intangible assets or other 17.510.00
long-term assets o
Cash paid for investment
Net cash received from subsidiaries and other business units
Other cash paid related to investment activities
Subtotal of cash outflow in investment activities 17,510.00
Net cash flow from investing activities 25,982,490.00 45,515,435.26
I11. Cash flow from financing activities
Cash received from paid-in investment
Cash received from loans 92,000,000.00 92,000,000.00
Other cash received related to financing activities 61,390,577.81
Total cash inflow in financing activities 153,390,577.81 92,000,000.00
Cash repayments of borrowings 97,000,000.00 93,000,000.00
Ca§h paid for distribution of dividends and profits or payment 29.608,139.58 33.351,172.09
of interests
Other cash paid related to financing activities 33,145,958.58
Total cash outflow in financing activities 159,754,098.16 126,351,172.09
Net cash flow from financing activities -6,363,520.35 -34,351,172.09
IV. Effects of changes in exchange rate on cash and cash 2.39 6.84
equivalents ' )
V. Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 7,276.91 -1,685,481.77
Plus: Opening balance of cash and cash equivalents 5,005.89 1,690,487.66
VI. Balance of cash and cash equivalents 12,282.80 5,005.89

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement.

Legal Representative: CFO:
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Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity (Financial Year 2021)
(All amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.}

Item

Current Period

Share
Capital

Preferred
Shares

I Closing balance of last vear

929,017,761 00|

Perpetusl
Boandy

Other equity instruments

Other

Orrner’s equity attributable to the parent company

Capital
rederve

Les:
Treasury
stock

Other
Comprehensive
Income

Special
Reserve

Surplus
Reserves

General
Risk
Reserve

Undistribuicd
Profit

Subtotal

Non-controlling
Interest

Total Owner's
Equity

51255534 18

10,267,564 19

13,521 38,

7789E,985 76

-313,258,347.79

534664290 34

3B,873777 B4

573,638,068 18|

Plus: Changes in accounting policies

Carrecticn of errors in previous period

Business combinenon under common
control

Others

Il Opening balance of current vear

929,017,761 U0

51,259,534 18

-10267,564 18

13.521 38

77 R95,985 76

513,258,347 79

534,664,290 34

38,973,777 84

573,638,068 IR

Il Changes 1 amomt incurred in cuerent
eriad (indicate the decrease with =)

-30.934.009 62

-129,106,677 83

-160,040,687 45

12,062,378 93

-172.103.066 38

1. Total comprehensive income

-30,934,009 62

-125. 106677 83

-160.040 6R7 45

-12.062.378 9%

-172,103.066 3%

2 Chanpes in the capital coninbuted by
owners

1)Common shares invested by sharcholders

2) Capital mvesied by the halders of other

)Amount of share-based payment listed as
the Owner's equity

4) Other

3. Profit dhstribution

1} Appropriation of surplus reserves

2)Apprapnauon of the general risk reserve

3)Prafit distributed o the Owners (or
shareholders)

4) Others

4_Transfer within the owner s equity

13 Transfer of capilal reserve to share
capital

2) Transler of sueplus regerve to share
capital

3). Surplus reserve to cover the deficit

4) Retaned eamings carmed forward from
changes of the defined benefit plan

5) Retained camings camed forward from
other comprehensive incame

6). Others

5 Special reserves

1) Reserves withdrawn in current period

2) Undised in current pened

6 QOthers

IV Closing balance

929,017,761 00

5125953 18

4120157381

13,921 3%

77,398,985 76

=642.365.025 62

374,623,602 89

26.911,398 51

401 535,001 80

The attached notes constitule part of the financial statement,

Legal Representative

CFQ
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Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Owner's Equity Financial Year 2021 (Continued)
(Al amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.)

Last Period
Owner’s cquity attributable to the pareni company
Ltem Other Equity instruments . Less: Other . General - Now-contrelling | Total Owner's
Cs:;i::I Preferred |Perpetual Other ::":':: Treasury [Compreheasive xs":::l::. :’::':_lz‘ Risk 'L‘nll;’s:ill)'uled Subtotal Interest Equity
Shares Bondy stock Income Reserve
I Closing balance of last year 929,017,761 00 51,259,534 18| 10,055 556 23 13,92} 38| 7780898576 ~20.400.500 01] 1047 B36 168 54 46,102 797 BO[ 1,092 938 966 33
Plus' Changes m accounting palicies
Cotreclion of errors in previous periad
Business combination under comreion control
Other
n ning balance of current year 529017 761 00 51,259,534 18 10,055,856 23 13,921 3B)  T7.498.985 76| 20,409,590 D1] 1,047,836,168 34 46,102,797 40|  1,091,938,966 14
Ml Changes in amount mch?d m gurrent period 20,523,120 42 492848757 7R} 51317187820 _7.12901996| 520,300,898 16|
indicate the decrease with *~")
1 Total comprehensive income 420,323,120 42 497 B4B757 78| 51117187820 5,553,605 4| 507618272 76
2 Changes in the capital contributed by owners -12,682,625 40 -12 692 625 40

1)Cammen shares wnvested by sharehold,
2) Capial invesied by the holders of other
comprehensive mstruments
3) Ameunt of share-based payment listed as
the Owner's eguity
4) Other 12,682,625 40| -12,682 525 40
3 Prefit distribulion
DAppropriation of suplus reserves
2Z)Appropri of the general risk reserve
3) Profit disteibuted te the owncrs (or
sharcholders)
4) Other
4 Transfer within the ewner's equity
1). Transfer of capital reserves 1o share capital
2) Transfer of surplus reserves to share
capital
3) Swplus reserves 1o cover the deficit
4) Retained eamings carrizd forward from
changes of the defined benefit plan
5) Retained eamings carricd forward from
other comprebensive income
). Other
¥ Special reserves
1} Reserves withdrawn tn eutTent petiod
2) Utilised in cwrrent period
6 Other
IV Closmmng balance 928,017,761 (0] 51259534 18 -16.267 564 19 13,921 38| 7789808576 -S13258.347 79 534,664,290 34 38973777 84 373,638,068 18
The attached notes constitule part of the financial statement

Legal Represeniative CFO Financial Manager
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(All amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.)

Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity of Parent Company

Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation

Financial Year 2021

Current Period

Other equity Instrume: . Less: Other :
Item . . —'ﬂ—y—|— Capital . Special Surplus Undistributed Total Owner’s
Share Capital Preferred Perpetual Otter Reserve Treasury Comprehensive Resenres Reserves Profit Equity
Shares Bonds stock Income

929.017,761.00

155 822 801 02

65 431,085 56

683,908,704 07

366,364,943 5]

1 Closing balance of last year
Plug* Chanyes in accounting policies

Correction of errors in previous
period

Miscellaneous

929,017, 761.00

155,822 801 02

65,431,085 56

-683,906 704 07

466,364,943 51

1. Opening balance of current year

1. Changes in amount mcusred n current

penod {ndicate the decréase with'=")

L Total comprchensive income

430,400,000 (0

193231471 83

161,831,471 83

192,231.471 83

192,231 471,83

2 Changes in the capital contnibuted by owners

L)Common shares invested by shareholders
2) Caputal invested by the holders of other

temprehensive instruments

3) Amount of share-based payment listed as
the Owner's equity

4) Orher

3 Profit distribution

DA nation of swplus reserves

2) Profit distribuled to the owmers {or
harcholders)

3) Other

4 Transfer within the owner's cquity

Ly Transfer of capital reserves 10 share
capital

2} Transfer of surplus reserves to share
capital

4) Retained eamings carried forward from

3) Surplus rescryes to cover the deficn |

changes of the defined benefil plan

5) Retained eamings carned forward from
other comprehensive wcome

6) Other

5 Special zeserves

1) Reserves withdrawn an current period
2) Utlised 1n current period

6 Orher

30,400,000 00

-34,400,000.00

929,017,761 00

IV Clasing balance

125,422,801 02

65 431,085.56

491,675,232 24

628,196,415 34

The attached notes constitute part of the financial statement
Legal Representative.

CFO.
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Financial Manager




Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Statement of Changes in Owner’s Equity of Parent Company Financial Year 2021 (Continued)
(ANl amounts are expressed in Chinese yuan (RMB) unless otherwise specified.)

Item

Last Period

Share Capital

Other equity instruments

Preferred
Sharey

Perpetual
Bends

Other

Capital
Reserve

Lesa:
Treasury
stock

{rher
Comprehensive
Income

Special
Reservey

Surplus
Reserves

Undistributed
Profit

Total Owner’s
Equity

1 Closing balance of last yeat

929,017,76].00

155822,801.02

65,431,085 36

-142,738,929.05

1,007,532 718 53

Flus: Changes un accounting policies

Cuorreciion of eff0Ts Lh previous
period

Others

1. Opeming balance of carrent year

925,017,761.00

155,822,801 02

65,431,085.56

-142,738,929 05

1,007,532, 718 53

III. Changes in amount incwred o cutrent

-541,167,775.02

-541,1867,775.02

period (indicate the decrgase with*-7)

1. Total comprehensive ifiéome

-541,167.775.02

541,167,775 02

2 Changes i the capital Fontributed by
owners

1)Common shares invested by
sharchalders

2) Capital invested by the holders of ather
comprehensive insrumlents

3) Amount of share-based payment histed
as the owner's equity

4) Crther

3. Profit dismbutian

LyAppropriation of yurplus reserves

2) Profit distribuied to the owners {or
shaechalders)

3) Others

4 Transfer within the owher s equity

1) Transfer of capital reserves to share
capital

2) Transfer of surplus reserves to share
capatal

3}, Surplus reserves to cover the deficit

4) Retamed camngs casnied forward from

changes of the defined benefit plan

5) Retained eamings carned forward from
other comprebensive income

5) Other

5 Special reserves

1) Reserves withdrawn in current penod

2) Utilised in cutrent period

5 Miscell.

IV Closing Balance

929,017,761.00

155,822 301.02

65,431,085 56

-683,906,704.07

466,364,943 51

The attached notes consiitute part of the financial statement.
Legal Representative

CFOr
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Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Notes to Financial Statements
Year 2021

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Fast Facts about the Company
Company Overview

Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation (the Company hereinafter) was
formerly known as Shandong Zhongrun Investment Holding Group Co. Ltd.
(hereinafter referred to as Zhongrun Holding), Zhongrun Holding was
formerly known as Shandong Huibang Real Estate Co., Ltd. (hereinafter
referred to as Huibang Real Estate), Huibang Real Estate was formerly known
as Sichuan Dongtai Industry (Holding) Co., Ltd. (hereinafter deterred to as
Douglas Holding), and Dongtai Holding was formerly known as Sichuan Emei
Group Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as Emei Group). According to the
Approval on Application for Establishing Sichuan Emeishan Salt Industry
(Group) Co., Ltd. (CJJ (1998} Enterprise No. 396) issued by the former
Sichuan Provincial Planning and Economic Committee and the Reply on the
Establishment of Sichuan Emeishan Sait Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. ((88) QJZ
No. 38) issued by the former Ministry of Light Industry, Sichuan Emeishan
Salt Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. was jointly founded by the former Sichuan
Wutongqgiao Salt Factory, an enterprise owned by the whole people, China
Huaqing Industrial Company, China Light Industry Material Supply and
Marketing Corporation, China National Salt Industry Corporation and Sichuan
Salt Industry Co., Ltd. On May 11, 1988, Sichuan Emeishan Salt Industry
(Group) Co., Ltd. was given the Business License for Enterprise Legal Person,
with the license registration number of 91370000206951100B. On March 12,
1993, Sichuan Emeishan Salt Industry (Group) Co., Ltd. was listed on
Shenzhen Stock Exchange as an enterprise specializing in mineral resources
and real estate according to the Reply on the Public Listing Application of
Sichuan Emeishan Salt Industry (Group) Co., Ltd (ZJFZ [1993] No. 11)
issued by China Securities Regulatory Commission.

As of Dec. 31, 2021, the up-to-date registration data is as follows: the total
number of shares is 929,017,761, the registered capital is 929,017,761 Chinese
yuan, the registered address is Building 17, Zhongrun Century Plaza,
No.13777 Jingshi Road, Jinan City, Shandong Province, China, and the
business scope covers real estate and exploration of mineral resources.

As of Dec. 31, 2021, the controlling shareholder of the Company was Ningbo
RanshengShengyuan Investment Management Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (RanShengShengyuan hereinafter) and Mr. Guo Changwei was
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II.

the actual controller of the Company. These financial statements were
approved by all directors (Board of Directors) of the Company on April 27,
2022,

Scope of Consolidated Financial Statements

For the details of ZRC subsidiaries, refer to "VII. Equity in Other Entities" in
these notes.

The changes in the scope of consolidation in this accounting period are
described in “VI. Changes in Consolidation Scope” in these notes.

Basis for preparing the financial statements
Basis of preparation

The financial statements of ZRC are prepared in accordance with the relevant
provisions in the Accounting Standards for business Enterprises — Basic
Standards, specific accounting standards and subsequent Application Guide to
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, Interpretations of Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and other related accounting regulations
(hereinafter referred to as Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
collectively) promulgated by the ministry of Finance, the stipulations on
information disclosure under No.15 of Compilation Rules on Information
Disclosure by the Companies Offering Securities to the Public — General
Provisions on Financial Reports promulgated by CSRC.

Going-concern ability
The financial statements are prepared on a going-concern basis.

As of December 31, 2021, the current liabilities of the Company were
RMB1,252.9618 million, which was RMB 880.0344 million higher than the
current assets, and the accumulated loss was RMB 642.365 million. Some
debts have become overdue. The Company faces relatively large pressure for
debt repayment and relatively high liquidity risks in short-term future. The
Company mainly takes the following measures to ensure its ability of
operating as a going concern.

(1). Borrowing of RMB337 million from financial institutions. As of the date
of approval for issue of the financial statements, the short-term borrowings of
RMB 92 million have been repaid upon maturity, and new borrowings of
RMB 91 million were issued, which will expire till February 23, 2023. The
long-term borrowing of RMB245 million has been repaid upon maturity, and
new borrowing of RMB 200 million was issued, which will expire till January
2023.

(2). The borrowing from a non-financial institution Shandong Longxin
Microfinance Co., Ltd. in an amount of RMB119.1867 million has been repaid
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on March 4, 2022.

(3). For the borrowings from non-financial institutions, the Company has
positive operating cash flow. Now the Company is making arrangements
properly, that 1s making repayment as required on one hand, and negotiating
with the creditor for extension on the other hand.

(4). On June 28, 2021, the subsidiary VATUKOULA GOLD MINES PTE
LTD. entered into a metal streaming agreement with SANDSTORM GOLD
LTD. (Sandstorm) and Sandstorm paid an advance payment of US$30 million
for purchase of gold to the subsidiary. With such advance payment, the
subsidiary carried out technical transformation and expansion to increase the
production of gold, which is expected to increase the cash flow from operating
activities. As of the date of approval for issue of these financial statements, the
subsidiary has received an amount of US$30 million from metal streaming.

{5). On December 31, 2021, a shares transfer agreement was entered into by
and among Zijin Mining South Investment Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as
Zijin South), the Company, and the subsidiary Sichuan Pingwu Zhongjin
Mining Co., Ltd. (hereinafter referred to as Pingwu Zhongjin), under which
the 76% shares held by the Company in Pingwu Zhongjin and the creditor's
rights of RMB RMB145.2378 million held by Zhongrun Mining Development
Co., Ltd. in Pingwu Zhongjin were all transferred to Zijin South. Through
negotiation between the parties, the value of the 76% shares in Pingwu
Zhongjin was identified as RMB323,000, and the total price of the shares and
creditor's rights to be transferred was RMB 468.2378 million. In 2022, RMB
368.2378 million have been received.

(6). The Company suffered loss in 2021 mainly because of issues left over
from history and borrowing interest expenditures. The two businesses of the
Company were both profitable, and the operating cash flow was kept positive.
In 2020 and 2021, the net cash flows from operating activities were RMB133
million and RMB354 million respectively. It is estimated that the net cash flow
from operating activities in 2022 will be still positive, and no events affecting
the normal operation of the Company will occur.

(7). The Company is mainty engaged in mining investinent and real estate
development and operation. Besides the existing mine investment projects, the
Company will also focus on the precious metal industry chain, in particular, it
will make efforts in the cooperation and development of precious metal mines
like gold, silver, and copper, in which gold will be taken as the main product.
VATUKOULA GOLD MINES PTE LTD. will invest more capital and
resources and seek cooperation opportunities to complete technological
upgrade and transformation as soon as possible to improve the production and
profitability. Besides, the Company will seek new investment opportunities for
precious metal mines by relying upon the capital market.
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IIL.

Based on the conditions above and the cash flow forecast as of December 31,
2022 prepared by the management, the management believes that the
Company could generate revenue as expected from its production and
operation and the Company can obtain sufficient resources and capital to meet
the capital needs for production and operation, extension or repayment of
debts due, and capital expenditure for at least 12 months from December 31,
2021. Therefore, the Company has prepared the financial statements of 2021
on the basis of going concern, based on the actual transactions and events, in
accordance with the accounting standards for business enterprises and relevant
regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance, and in accordance with the
accounting policies and estimates disclosed in Note 3.

Major Accounting Policies and Accounting Estimates Followed by the
Company

Compliance with the statement of accounting standards for business
enterprises

The financial statements meet the requirements of the Accounting Standards
Jor Business Enterprises and truly and completely reflect the financial status as
of December 31, 2021, and the operating results and cash flow in 2021, both
on a consolidated basis and of the parent company.

Accounting period

The accounting year of ZRC is from 1% January to 31% December.
Operating cycle

The Company uses 12 months as an operating cycle.

Base currency for bookkeeping

The Company uses Chinese yuan (RMB) as accounting currency.

Accounting methods for business combination under common control and
that not under common control

Business combination under common control: Assets and liabilities (including
the goodwill arising from the acquisition of the merged entity by the ultimate
controller) acquired by the acquirer in a business combination are measured
according to the book value of assets and liabilities of the merged entity on the
merger date in the consolidated financial statements of the ultimate controller.
The difference between the book value of net assets acquired in the merger and
the book value of the consideration paid for the merger (or the total par value
of the shares issued) is adjusted to the capital reserve; if the capital reserve is
insufficient to offset, adjust the retained earnings.

Business combination not under common control: combination cost refers to
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the assets paid and the liabilities incurred or assumed, and the fair value of
equity securities issued by the acquirer for acquiring the control over the
acquiree on the acquisition date. If the merger cost is higher than the fair value
of the identifiable net assets of the acquire acquired in the merger, the
difference is recognized as goodwill; if the merger cost is less than the fair
value of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree acquired in the merger, the
difference is charged into the profit or loss for the current period. All
identifiable assets, liabilities and/or contingent liabilities obtained from the
acquiree in the acquisition, which are qualified for recognition, are measured
at fair value on the acquisition date.

The direct expenses incurred for the purpose of business combination are
charged to profit or loss for the current period when incurred. The transaction
costs of equity securities issued for the purpose of business combination are
included in the initial measurement value of the equity securities or debt
securities.

Ways to prepare consolidated financial statements
(1). Principle for determining the consolidation scope

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statement is
determined on a controlling basis. The consolidation scope includes ZRC
and all the subsidiaries. “Control” means that the Company owns power
over the investee, enjoys variable returns from its involvement with the
investee, and is able to use its power over the investee to affect the
amount of the returns

(2)- Consolidation procedures

The Company prepares the consolidated statements in accordance with
unified accounting policies by treating the entire enterprise group as an
accounting entity to reflect the overall financial status, operating results,
and cash flows.

The effects of internal transactions between the Company and its
subsidiaries and between the subsidiaries are offset. If the internal
transaction indicates that relevant assets suffer from impairment loss, the
loss is fully recognized. If the accounting policies and the accounting
periods adopted by the subsidiaries are inconsistent with ZRC, necessary
adjustments are made in the preparation of consolidated financial
statements according to the accounting policies and accounting periods
adopted by ZRC.

The owner's equity, net profit or loss for the current period and current
comprehensive income attributable to the minority shareholders of the
subsidiary are separately presented under the owners' equity item in the
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consolidated balance sheet and the net profit item and total
comprehensive income item in the consolidated income statement. If the
current loss shared by a minority shareholder of the subsidiary exceeds
the minority shareholder's share in the owner's equity of the subsidiary at
the beginning of the period, the balance arising therefrom is offset by the
minority sharcholders' equity.

1). Addition of subsidiaries or businesses

If subsidiary or business is added by business combination under
common control during the current accounting period, the opening
amounts in consolidated balance sheet are adjusted. The operating results
and cash flow of the subsidiary or business from the beginning of to the
end of the accounting period in which the combination occurs are
included in the consolidated income statements, and the opening figures
and the related items in the comparative statement are adjusted. It is
deemed that the reporting entity after the combination has being existing
since the time when the ultimate controller began to control.

If it is possible to control the investee under common control due to
additional investment and other reasons, the equity held prior to
acquisition of control over the merged entity, changes in profit and loss,
other comprehensive income and other net assets recognized in profit or
loss and other comprehensive income during the period from the date of
the acquisition of the original equity or the date when the merger and the
merged entity are under common control, whichever is later, to the date
of merger are offset by the opening retained earnings and the profit or
loss for the current period during the statements comparison period.

During the accounting period, if substdiary or business is added due to
business combination not under common control, the subsidiary or
business is incorporated into the consolidated financial statements since
the date of acquisition based on the fair value of identifiable assets,
liabilities, and contingent liabilities.

If it is possible to control the investee under common control due to
additional investment and other reasons, the equity of the acquired entity
held by the Company before the acquisition date is re-measured
according to the fair value of the equity on the acquisition date, and the
difference between fair value and book value is charged into the
investment income for the current period. For other comprehensive
income from the equity of the acquired entity held before the acquisition
date which may be reclassified into profit and loss, and other
comprehensive income under equity method, the changes are transferred
to the investment income for the current period on the acquisition date.

Notes to Financial Statements Page 6



2). Disposal of subsidiaries or businesses
(L General disposal method

When the control over the original subsidiary is lost due to the disposal
of part of the equity investment or other reasons, the remaining equity
investment afier disposal will be re-measured by the Company based on
its fair value on the date of loss of control. The sum of the consideration
received by disposing of the equity and the fair value of the remaining
equity, minus the sum of the share of the net assets and the goodwill that
were calculated on the basis of the original shareholding ratio in the
original subsidiary since the data of acquisition or date of merger, the
difference formed is included in the investment income of the current
control loss period. For other comprehensive income related to the equity
investment of the original subsidiary that may be reclassified into profit
and loss subsequently, or other owner's equity changes under the equity
method, the changes are transferred to the current investment income on
the date of control loss.

If the Company's shareholding ratio declines and the Company loses
control over a subsidiary because other investors increase their
shareholding ratio, the above accounting principles apply.

@ Step-by-step disposal of subsidiary

If the Company disposes of equity investment in a subsidiary through
multiple transactions until it loses control, these transactions should be
treated as a package transaction in any of the following cases.

i. These transactions are made at the same time or made after
consideration of mutual influence.

ii. These transactions as a whole achieve a complete business result.

iti. The occurrence of a transaction depends on the occurrence of at least
one other transaction.

iv. A transaction alone is not economical, but it is economical when
considered together with other transactions.

If multiple transactions are deemed a package transaction, the
transactions will be treated as a single transaction to dispose of the
subsidiary and lose control. The difference between every disposal price
and the share of net assets in the subsidiary corresponding to such
disposal before loss of control is recognized in the consolidated financial
statements as other comprehensive income and is collectively transferred
to the profit or loss for the period when control is lost.

If the multiple transactions are not deemed a package transaction,
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before the loss of control, they are treated as if partial equity investment
in the subsidiary is disposed before loss of control. When the control is
lost, general accounting policies for disposal of subsidiary are followed.

@ Purchase of minority shares of subsidiary

In case of difference between the long-term equity investment newly
acquired by purchase of minority shares in a subsidiary and the share of
net assets in the subsidiary that should be continuously calculated from
the acquisition date or date of merger in accordance with the new
shareholding ratio, the share premium in the consolidated balance sheet
is adjusted accordingly. If the share premium in capital reserve is
insufficient to offset, adjust the retained earnings.

@ Partial disposal of equity investment in subsidiary without loss of
control

In case of difference between the disposal price and the share of the net
assets of the subsidiary continuously calculated from the acquisition date
or the date of merger corresponding to the disposal of the long-term
equity investment, the share premium in capital reserve in consolidated
balance sheet is adjusted accordingly. If the share premium in capital
reserve is insufficient to offset, adjust the retained earnings.

Classification of joint arrangement and the accounting methods
Joint arrangement is divided into joint operation and joint venture.

For the purpose of “joint operation™, the involved parties have rights to the
assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Company recognizes the following items related to the share of interest in
Jjoint operations:

@ Recognize the assets held by the Company individually, and recognize
Jointly held assets according to the shares of the Company;

@  Recognize the liabilities assumed by the Company alone, and recognize
the jointly assumed liabilities according to the shares of the Company;

@  Recognize the revenue generated from the sale of the share of joint
operating output that the Company enjoys;

@ Recognize the income generated from the sales of joint operations
according to the Company's share;

&  Recognize the costs incurred individually and recognize the expenses
incurred in the joint operation according to the Company's share.

The Company takes the equity method for the investment into the joint venture.
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Refer to Note III (14) Long-term equity investment for details.
8. Determination of cash and cash equivalents

Cash refers to the Company's cash in hand and deposits that can be used for
payment at any time. Cash equivalent refers to the short-term investments held
by the Company that is highly liquid, easy to convert into known amounts of
cash, and has small risk of changes in value.

9. Foreign currency transactions and translation of foreign currency
statements

(1). Foreign currency transactions

For foreign currency transactions that occurred, the spot exchange rate
(usually the middle price of the exchange rate quoted by the People's
Bank of China on the same day, the same below) is used to convert
foreign currency into RMB.

The balances of foreign currency monetary items on balance sheet date
arc translated at the spot exchange rate on the balance sheet date. The
resulting exchange differences are charged into profit or loss for the
current period, except that exchange differences arising from foreign
currency specific borrowings relating to the acquisition or construction
of assets eligible for capitalization are treated in accordance with the
principle of capitalization of borrowing costs.

(2). Translation of foreign currency statements

Assets and liabilities items in the balance sheet are translated at the spot
exchange rate on the balance sheet date. Owner's equity items, except
"undistributed profit" item, are translated at the spot exchange rate at the
time of occurrence. Incomes and expenses in profit statement are
translated at the spot exchange rate on the date of the transaction.

When disposing of overseas operations, the translation difference in the
foreign currency statements related to the overseas operations is
transferred from owner's equity to the profit or loss for the current
period.

10. Financial instruments

The Company recognizes one financial instrument, financial liability or equity
instrument when it becomes one party of the financial instruments contract.

(1). Classification of financial instruments

According to the Company's business model for managing financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets,
financial assets are classified as follows at the time of initial recognition:
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financial assets measured at amortized cost, financial assets measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income and financial assets
measured at fair value through the current profit and loss.

For the financial assets that meet all of the following conditions, are not
designated as measured at fair value, and the changes are included into
the current profit and loss, the Company classified them as the financial
assets measured at amortized cost:

- The purpose of the business model is to receive contractual cash flow;

- The contractual cash flow is vuly used for payment of principal and
interest based on the amount of the outstanding principal.

For the financial assets that meet all of the following conditions, are not
designated as measured at fair value, and the changes are included into
the current profit and loss, the Company classified them as the financial
assets (debt instruments) measured at fair value with the changes
included into other comprehensive income.

- The purpose of the business model is to both receive contractual cash
flow and sell the financial asset;

- The contractual cash flow is only for to the payment of the principal
and interest based on the amount of the outstanding principal

For non-trading equity instrument investments, the Company may
determine whether to irrevocably designate them as financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (equity
instruments) at the time of initial recognition. Such designation is made
based on the individual investment and the involved investor complies
with the definition of equity instrument from the perspective of the
issuer.

For all other financial assets which are neither classified as measured at
amortized cost nor as measured at fair value with the changes included
into other comprehensive income, the Company classifies them as the
financial assets measured at fair value with the changes included into the
current profit and loss. At the time of initial recognition, in order to
eliminate or significantly reduce accounting mismatches, the Company
may irrevocably designate the financial assets that should be classified as
those measured at amortized cost or fair value with the changes included
into other comprehensive income as the financial assets measured at fair
value through the current profit and loss.

At the time of initial recognition, financial liabilities are classified as
follows: financial liabilities measured at fair value through the current
profit and loss and financial liabilities measured at amortized cost.
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2)-

The financial liabilities may be designated as financial liahilities
measured at fair value with changes included into the current profit and
loss at the initial measurement if they meet one of the following
conditions:

1) This designation can eliminate or significantly reduce accounting
mismatches

2) According to the enterprise risk management or investment strategy
stated in official instruments, management and performance evaluation
of the financial liabilities portfolio or financial assets + financial
liabilities portfolio are conducted on the basis of fair value, and it is
reported internally to the key management personnel accordingly.

3) The financial liabilities contain embedded derivative instruments
that need to be split separately.

According to the conditions above, the financial liabilities designated by
the Company mainly include: (describe in detail):

Recognition and measurement of financial instruments
(1) Financial assets measured at amortized cost

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include notes receivable,
accounts receivable, other receivables, long-term receivables, debt
investments, etc., which are initially measured at fair value. The related
transaction costs are included in the initial measurement amount;
accounts receivable which do not include significant financing
components and accounts receivable with financing components of no
more than one year which the Company determined not to consider are
initially measured at the contracted transaction value.

The interest calculated by the effective interest rate method during the
holding period is included in the current profit and loss.

At the time of recovery or disposal, the difference between the acquired
price and the book value of the financial asset is recognized in the
current profit and loss.

(2) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments), including receivable financing, other debt
investments, etc., are initially measured at fair value. The related
transaction costs are included in the initial measurement amount. The
financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, and changes in
fair value are included in other comprehensive income except for interest,
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impairment losses or gains and exchange gains and losses calculated
using the effective interest rate method. At the time of de-recognition,
the accumulated gains or losses previously included in other
comprehensive income are transferred out from other comprehensive
income and recognized in the current profit and loss.

(3) Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income {equity instruments)

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity instruments), including investments in other equity
instruments, are initially measured at fair value. The related transaction
costs are included in the initial measurement amount. The financial
assets are subsequently measured at fair value, and changes in fair value
are recognized in other comprehensive income. The dividends received
are recognized in the current profit and loss.

At the time of derecognition, the accumulated gains or losses previously
included in other comprehensive income are transferred out from other
comprehensive income and included in retained earnings.

(4) Financial assets measured at fair value through the current profit and
loss

Financial assets that are measured at fair value through the current profit
and loss, including trading financial assets, derivative financial assets,
and other non-current financial assets, are initially measured at fair value.
The related transaction costs are recognized in the current profit and loss.
The financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value, and changes
in fair value are recognized in the current profit and loss.

(5) Financial liabilities measured at fair value through the current profit
and loss

Financial liabilities measured at fair value through current profits and
losses, include trading financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities,
etc., which are initially measured at fair value. The related transaction
costs are recognized in current profits and losses. The financial liabilities
are subsequently measured at fair value, and changes in fair value are
recognized in the current profit and loss.

At the time of derecognition, the difference between the book value and
the consideration paid shall be recognized in the current profit and loss.

(6) Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include short-term

borrowings, notes payable, accounts payable, other payables, long-term
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3).

borrowings, bonds payable, and long-term payables, which are initially
measured at fair value. The related transaction costs are included in the
initial measurement amount.

The interest calculated by the effective interest rate method during the
holding period is included in the current profit and loss.

At the time of derecognition, the difference between the consideration
paid and the book value of the financial liability is recognized in the
current profit and loss.

De-recognition and transfer of financial assets

The Company de-recognizes the financial asset when any of the
following conditions are met:

- The contractual rights for receiving the cash flow of the financial asset
are terminated;

- The financial asset has been transferred and almost all the risks and
rewards on the ownership of the financial asset have been transferred to
transferee;

- The financial asset has been transferred, the Company did neither
transfer nor retain almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of
the financial asset, but did not retain control over the financial asset.

In the case of transfer of financial assets, if the Company maintains
almost all the risks and rewards on the ownership of the financial asset,
such financial asset shall not be derecognized.

When judging whether the transfer of financial assets satisfies the above
derecognizing condition, the principle of substance over form is adopted.
The Company divides financial asset transfers into overall transfer and
partial transfer. If the overall transfer of financial asset satisfies the
derecognizing condition, the difference between the following two
amounts is charged into the profit or loss for the current period:

(DBook value of the transferred financial asset;

@The sum of the consideration paid upon transfer and the cumulative
change in the fair value that has been directly charged into owner's
equity (in the case that the financial assets involved are financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (debt
instruments)).

If partial transfer of financial asset satisfies the derecognizing condition,
the book value of the financial asset as a whole is apportioned between
the derecognized part and the recognized part in accordance with their
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5.

respective relative fair value, and the difference between the following
two amounts is charged into the profit or loss for the current period:

(DThe book value of the derecognized part;

@The sum of the consideration received for the derecognized part and
the derecognized part of the cumulative change in fair value that has
charged directly into the owner's equity (in the case that the financial
assets involved are financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)).

If the transfer of financial asset does not meet the derecognizing
condition, the financial asset will continue to be recognized and the
consideration received will be recognized as a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

If the current obligation of a financial liability is discharged in whole or
in part, the financial liability or part thereof may be derecognized. When
the Company (debtor) signs an agreement with the creditor to replace the
existing financial liabilities with new financial liabilities and the terms of
the new financial liabilities and the existing financial liabilities are
substantially different, the existing financial liabilities are derecognized
and the new financial liabilities are recognized.

If substantial changes are made to all or part of the contractual terms of
existing financial liabilities, the existing financial liabilities or part
thereof are derecognized, and the financial liability after the modification
of the terms is be recognized as a new financial liability.

When a financial liability is derecognized wholly or partially, the
difference between the book value of the financial liability derecognized
and the consideration paid (including non-cash assets transferred out or
new financial liabilities assumed) is charged into the profit or loss for the
current period. If the Company repurchases some of its financial
liabilities, the entire book value of the financial liabilities will be
allocated on the reacquisition date based on the relative fair values of the
part that continues to be recognized and the derecognized part. The
difference between the book value allocated to the derecognized part and
the consideration paid (including the non-cash assets transferred out or
the new financial liabilities assumed}) is charged into the profit or loss for
the current period.

Determination of fair values of financial asset and financial liability

For financial instruments that have active markets, the prices quoted in
the active markets are taken as their fair values. For financial instruments
that do not have active market, their fair values are determined by
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(6).

valuation. At the time of valuation, the Company uses the valuation
techniques that are applicable in the current circumstance and are
sufficient to support the use of data and other information, and the
Company uses the inputs that are consistent with the characteristics of
assets or liabilities considered by market participants in transactions of
related assets or liabilities. Relevant observable inputs are preferred.
Unobservable inputs are used only if the relevant observable inputs are
not available or are not practicable to acquire.

Measurement and accounting treatment for the impairment of
financial assets

The Company estimates the expected credit loss of the financial assets
measured at amortized cost, financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income (debt instrument), and the financial
guarantee contracts by single item or a combination.

The Company recognizes the expected credit loss by calculating the
probability weight amount of the present value of the difference between
the cash flow to be received from the contract and that actually received,
in which reasonable and well-founded information is taken into account,
e.g. matters in the past, current conditions, and prediction of the future
economic conditions.

If the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly
since the initial recognition, the Company measures its loss provision at
an amount equivalent to the expected credit loss during the entire
duration of the financial instrument; if the credit risk of the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since the initial recognition,
the Company measures its loss provision at an amount equivalent to the
expected credit loss of the financial instrument in the next 12 months.
The resulted increase or decrease in the loss provision shall be included
in the current profit and loss as an impairment loss or gain.

To evaluate whether the credit risk of the financial instrument has
increased significantly, the Company compares the risk of default of the
financial instrument on the balance sheet date with the risk of default on
the initial recognition date to determine the relative change of the default
risk within the expected duration of the financial instrument. Usually if a
financial instrument is more than 30 days overdue, the Company
believes that its credit risk has increased significantly, unless there is
conclusive evidence demonstrating that the credit risk of the financial
instrument has not increased significantly since the initial recognition.

If the credit risk of a financial instrument is low as of the balance sheet
date, the company believes that the credit risk of the financial instrument
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has not increased significantly since its initial recognition.

If there is objective evidence that a certain financial asset has been
credit-impaired, the Company shall make provision for impairment of
the financial asset on a single-item basis.

For the receivable and contractuat asset formed as a result of the
transactions governed by the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises — No. 14 Revenue (2017), regardless of whether it contains a
significant financing component, the Company always measures its loss
provision at an amount equivalent to expected credit losses during the
entire duration.

For lease receivables, the Company always chooses to measure its loss
provision at an amount equivalent to expected credit losses during the
entire duration.

When the Company reasonably expects that the contractual cash flow of
the financial asset could no longer be recovered in whole or in part, the
Company writes down the book balance of the financial asset directly.

Inventory

(D-

Q).

3).

Classification and cost of inventories

Inventories can be classified into raw materials, work in process,
development cost, product under development, auxiliary materials, etc.
Inventories are initially measured at cost. The cost of inventories
includes the purchase cost, processing cost, and the expenses required for
the inventories to reach the current premise and status,

Measurement of inventory

Inventories are measured using monthly weighted average method at the
end of the month.

Determination of net realizable value of inventories

On the balance sheet date, the inventories shall be measured at the cost
or the net realizable value, whichever is lower. If the cost of inventory is
higher than its net realizable value, provision for loss on decling in value
of inventories shall be made. The net realizable value refers to, in the
daily business activity, the amount after deducting the estimated cost of
completion, estimated sale expense and relevant taxes from the
estimated sale price of inventories.

For inventory of goods directly used for sale, such as finished goods,
commodities, and materials for sale, during normal production and
operation, its net realizable value is determined to be its estimated selling
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4.

(5).

price minus its estimated selling expenses and related taxes. For
inventory of materials that need to be processed, during normal
production and operation, its net realizable value is determined to be the
estimated selling price of the finished product minus the estimated costs
to be incurred upon completion, estimated sales expenses and related
taxes and fees. For inventory held for performance of sales contract or
labor contract, its net realizable value is determined on the basis of
contract price. If the quantity of the held inventory is more than the
quantity ordered by sales contract, the net realizable value of the excess
inventory is determined on the basis of general selling price.

After the provision for loss on decline of value of inventory is made, if
the influencing factors for writing down of inventory value have
disappeared, as a result of which the net realizable value of the inventory
becomes higher than its book value, it shall be reversed from the amount
of the original provision for inventory value decline, and the reversed
amount shall be included in the current profit and loss.

Inventory system
The inventory system is a perpetual inventory system.
Amortization method for low-value consumables and packages

(DLow-value consumables are amortized by the one-off write-off
method.

(@Packaging are amortized by the one-off write-off method.

Contractual assets

1.

2.

Method and criteria for recognition of contractual assets

The Company presents the contract assets or contract liabilities in the
balance sheet on the basis of the relationship between obligations
performance and customer payment. The right of the Company to
receive the consideration for transferring goods or providing services to
the customers (and the right depends on the factors other than the lapse
of time) is listed as contract assets. The contract assets and contract
liabilities under the same contract are presented in the net amount. The
right of the Company to collect consideration from the customers
unconditionally (only depending on the lapse of time) is listed separately
as accounts receivable.

Determination of and accounting of expected credit loss of
contractual assets

For the method of determining the expected credit loss of contractual
assets and the accounting, refer to Note (X) 6 Test and accounting of
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impairment of financial assets.
Held-for-sale

The non current asset or disposal group whose book value is recovered mainly
through sale (including non monetary asset exchange in commercial substance)
rather than continuous use, is classified as held for sale.

Non-current assets or disposal groups that meet the following conditions are
classified as held-for-sale assets:

(L According to the practice of selling such assets or disposal groups in
similar transactions, they can be sold immediately under current conditions;

@  The sale is very likely to happen, that is, the Company has already made
a resolution on a sales plan and obtained a certain purchase commitment. It is
expected that the sale will be completed within one year. If the relevant
regulations require approval from the relevant authority or supervisory
authority before they can be sold, the Company has already obtained approval.

For the non current assets (excluding financial assets and assets formed from
deferred income tax) or disposal groups which are classified as held for sale, if
the book value is higher than the net amount of fair value minus sale expenses,
the book value shall be written down to the net amount of the fair value minus
sale expenses, and the amount written down shall be recognized as asset
impairment loss and included in the current profits and losses, and provision
for impairment of held for sale assets shall be made.

Long-term equity investment
(1). Judgment criteria for joint contro! and significant impact

Joint control refers to the sharing of control over an arrangement in
accordance with relevant agreements, and related activities of the
arrangement must be unanimously agreed by the parties that share the
right of control. Where the Company and other joint ventures jointly
exercise joint control over the investee and exercise joint control over the
investee and have rights over the net assets of the investee, the investee
is a joint venture of the Company.

Significant influence refers to the power to participate in making
decisions on the financial and operating decisions of the investee , but it
cannot control or jointly control the formulation of these policies with
other parties. If the Company can exert a significant influence on the
investee, the investee is an associate of the Company.

(2). Determination of initial investment cost

1). Long-term equity investment formed by business combination
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For the long-term equity investment in a subsidiary formed as a result of
business combination under common control, the initial investment cost
is taken as the share of the book value of the owner's equity in the
ultimate controller's consolidated financial statements on the
combination date. For the difference between the initial investment cost
of long-term equity investment and the book value of the consideration
paid, equity premium in the capital reserve shall be adjusted. When the
equity premium in the capital reserve is insufficient, the retained
earnings shall be adjusted. If it is possible to exercise control over the
investee under common control due to additional investment and other
reasons, the initial investment cost of the long-term equity investment
recognized in the principles above and the sum of the book value of the
former long-term equity investment and the book value of the new
consideration payment for the new shares on the combination date is
adjusted to the capital stock premium; if the capital stock premium is
insufficient to offset, the retained earnings are adjusted.

For the long-term equity investment in a subsidiary formed as a result of
the business combination not under common control, the business
combination cost recognized on the acquisition date shall be taken as the
initial investment cost. If it is posstble to control the investee not under
common control due to additional investment and other reasons, the
initial investment cost is calculated according to the sum of the book
value of the originally held equity investment and the additional
investment cost.

2). Long-term equity investment acquired by the means other than
business combination

For long-term equity investment acquired by cash, the actual purchase
price paid is taken as its initial investment cost.

For long-term equity investment acquired by issuance of equity
securities, the fair value of the issued equity securities is taken as its
initial investment cost.

Subsequent measurement of long-term equity investment and
recognition of profit and loss

1). Long-term equity investment accounted for by cost method

The Company's long-term equity investment in subsidiaries is measured
using the cost method, unless the investment meets the conditions for
held-for-sale. Except for the actual payment of the investment or the cash
dividends or profits included in the consideration that have been
announced but not yet issued, the Company recognizes the current
investment income in accordance with the cash dividends or profits
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declared to be released by the investee.
2). Long-term equity investment accounted for using the equity method

The long-term equity investment in associates and joint ventures is
accounted for using the equity method. If the initial investment cost is
greater than the fair value share of the identifiable net assets of the
investee at the time of investment, the initial investment cost of the
long-term equity investment is not adjusted. If the initial investment cost
is less than the fair value share of the identifiable net assets of the
investee at the time of investment, the difference is charged into the
profit or loss for the current period, and the cost of the long-term equity
investment shall be adjusted

The investment income and other comprehensive income are recognized
separately according to the share of net profit and loss and other
comprehensive income realized by the investee that should be shared or
enjoyed by the Company, and the book value of the long-term equity
investment is adjusted at the same time. The book value of the long-term
equity investment is reduced according to the share of profit or cash
dividend declared by investee to be paid that should be enjoyed by the
Company. In case of changes in ownet's equity of the investee other than
net profit or loss ("other changes in the owner's equity"), other
comprehensive income and profit distribution, the book value of the
long-term equity investment is adjusted and charged into the owner's
equity.

The share of net profit or loss of the investee that should be enjoyed by
the Company, other comprehensive income, and other changes in the
owner's equity, are determined based on the fair value of the investee's
identifiable net assets at the time of acquiring the investment and the net
profit of the investee that has been adjusted according to the Company's
accounting policies and accounting period and other comprehensive
income.

The unrealized gains and losses from internal transactions between the
Company and its associates or joint ventures are calculated based on the
proportion of the Company's equity attributable to the Company and
offset, and the investment income is recognized on this basis, except the
invested or sold asset that constitutes business. Unrealized internal
transaction losses with the investee, which are assets impairment losses,
are recognized in full.

The net loss incurred by the Company in the joint venture or associate is
written down on the basis of the book value of long-term equity
investment and other long-term interests that substantially constitute the
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net investment in the joint venture or associates, until being written down
to zero. If the joint venture or associate realizes net profit in the future,
the Company shall resume the recognition of the share in the income
after using the income share to make up for the unrecognized loss share.

3). Disposal of long-term equity investment

When disposing of a long-term equity investment, the difference
between the book value and the actual purchase price is charged into the
profit or loss for the current period.

For the long-term equity investiment partially disposed with equity
method, if the remaining equity is still accounted for using the equity
method, the part originally charged into other comprehensive income is
accounted for in proportion using the same basis as the investee’s direct
disposal of the relevant assets or [iabilities when disposing of the
investment, and other changes in the owner's equity are carried forward
to the current profit of loss in proportion.

If the Company loses joint control or significant influence over the
investee due to the disposal of equity investment, , the other
comprehensive income recognized in the original equity investment
accounted for using the equity method is accounted for on the same basis
as if the investee had directly disposed of the relevant assets or liabilities
when terminating the use of equity method for accounting.

Where the Company losses control right over the investee due to
disposal of part of equity investment, in the preparation of individual
financial statements, if the remaining equity can exert joint control or
significant influence on the investee, it is accounted for by the equity
method, and the residual equity is deemed adjusted by equity method
since its acquisition. Other comprehensive income recognized before the
control over the investee is obtained shall be carried forward in
proportion on the same basis as the investee's direct disposal of relevant
assets or liabilities. Other changes in owner's equity recognized using the
equity method shall be carried forward to the current profit and loss in
proportion. If the remaining equity cannot exert joint control or
significant influence on the investee, it shall be recognized as financial
assets. The difference between the fair value and the book value on the
date of loss of control is recognized in profit or loss for the current
period, and all other comprehensive income and other changes in owner's
equity recognized before obtaining the control right over the investee
shall be carried forward in full.

[f the equity investment in a subsidiary is disposed step by step through
multiple transactions until the control right is lost, when these
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transactions belong to one package transaction, they shall be treated as
one for disposing of the equity investment in a subsidiary and losing the
control right. The difference between the price of each disposal and the
book value of the long-term equity investment of the equity disposed
before the loss of control is recognized as other comprehensive income
in the financial statements, and then transferred to the current profit and
loss when the control is lost. If they do not belong to one package, each
transaction shall be accounted for separately.

Investment property

Investment property refers to property held to earn rentals or capital
appreciation, or both, including land use rights that have been leased, land use
rights that are held and prepared for transfer after appreciation, buildings that
have been leased (including buildings that have been built or developed for
rent and those under construction for future rent).

Subsequent expenditures related to investment property are presented as the
cost of investment property if the relevant economic benefits are likely to flow
to the Company and the cost can be measured reliably; Otherwise, it shall be
included in the current profit and loss once incurred.

The Company uses the cost model to measure the existing investment property.
For investment property measured according to the cost model - the rental
building adopts the same depreciation policy as the fixed assets of the
Company, and the land use right for rental is executed according to the same
amortization policy as the intangible assets.

Fixed assets
(1). Recognition criteria and initial measurement of fixed asset:

Fixed assets refer to tangible assets that are held for the purpose of
producing goods, providing labor services, renting, or business
management and have a service life longer than one accounting period.
Fixed assets are recognized when they meet both the following
conditions:

(> The economic benefits associated with the fixed assets are likely to
flow into the Companyj;
@ The cost of the fixed assets can be reliably measured.

Fixed assets are initially measured at cost (taking into account the effects
of expected disposal expenses).

Subsequent expenditures related to the fixed assets are presented as the
cost of fixed asset if the relevant economic benefits are likely to flow to
the Company and the cost can be measured reliably. For the part that is
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substituted, its book value is derecognized and all other subsequent
expenditures are included into the current profit or loss when they are
incurred.

Depreciation method

The depreciation of fixed assets is calculated using the straight-line
method and the production method. The depreciation rate is determined
based on the category, estimated service life and estimated net residual
value of fixed asset. If the service life of each component of a fixed asset
is different or provides economic benefits to the enterprise in different
ways, then different depreciation rates or depreciation methods are
selected and depreciation is provided separately.

If the fixed assets acquired under finance lease can reasonably determine
that the leased assets will be acquired at the expiration of the lease term,
the depreciation shall be made within the useful life of the leased assets;
if it is not reasonable to determine the ownership of the leased assets
when the lease term expires, depreciation is provided for the shorter of
the lease term and the remaining useful life of the leased asset.

VATUKOULA GOLD MINES LIMITED (UK), a subsidiary of the
Company (hereinafter referred to as "VGML (UK)"}, depreciates assets
related to mine exploration and exploitation using the production method,
and depreciates other fixed assets using the straight-line method.

The depreciation period, estimated net residual value rate and annual
depreciation rate of fixed assets that are depreciated according to the
straight-line method are as follows:

c i Depreciatio ;| Depreciation period | Residuals rate . Annual depreciation rate
t
ategory n method (year) (%) (%)
Housesand | Straight-line
ouses an g 3—45 years 0—5% 2.11—33.33
buildings method
M f Strai ht-linem o
eans ot £ 3—12 years 0—5% 7.92-33.33
transportation | method
Machines Straight-line
and method 4—12 years 0—5% 7.92-25.00
equipment
(3). Identification and valuation of fixed assets acquired under finance

Lease

When the fixed assets rented by the Company meet one or more of the
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C)

following criteria, it is recognized as fixed assets acquired under finance
Lease:

(D' At the expiration of the lease term, the ownership of the leased asset
is transferred to the Company.

@ The Company has the option to purchase the leased asset. The
purchase price is much lower than the fair value of the leased asset when
the option is exercised.

(3 The lease period accounts for the majority of the useful life of the
leased asset.

@ The present value of the minimum lease payment on the lease start
date is not significantly different from the fair value of the leased asset.

& The assets under lease are special in nature, and may only be used by
the lessee if major transformation is not carried out.

On the lease start date, the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and
the current value of the minimum lease payments is taken as the entry
value of the leased asset, the minimum lease payment amount is taken as
the entry value of long-term payables, and the difference is taken as the
unrecognized financing expense.

Disposal of fixed assets

The fixed asset is derecognized when it is disposed of or no economic
benefit is expected to be generated through use or disposal of it. The
disposal income from the sale, transfer, scrapping or destroying of fixed
assets, minus the book value and relevant taxes, shall be included in the
current profits and losses.

Construction in progress

Construction-in-progress is measured at its actually incurred cost, which
includes the construction cost, installation cost, borrowing expenses qualified
for capitalization, and other necessary expenditure incurred for the
construction before the asset is ready for its intended use. The construction in
progress is transferred to fixed asset when it has reached the expected usable
status, and depreciation is made since the following month.

Borrowing Cost

).

Recognition criteria for capitalized borrowing cost

Where the borrowing costs incurred to the Company can be directly
attributable to the acquisition and construction or production of assets
eligible for capitalization, it shall be capitalized and credited into the
costs of relevant assets. Other borrowing costs shall be recognized as
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expenses on the basis of the actual amount incurred, and shall be credited
into the current profit and loss,

Where the borrowing costs incurred to the Company can be directly
attributable to the acquisition and construction or production of assets
eligible for capitalization, it shall be capitalized and credited into the
costs of relevant assets, Other borrowing costs shall be recognized as
expenses on the basis of the actual amount incurred, and shall be credited
into the current profit and loss.

Assets eligible for capitalization refer to assets that require long time of
acquisition, construction or production activities to achieve the intended
use or sale status, such as fixed assets, investment real estate and
inventories.

Period of capitalization of borrowing cost

Capitalization period refers to the time of period from the time that the
borrowing costs start capitalization to the time that the capitalization
ends, excluding the period of suspension of capitalization

Capitalization begins when the borrowing costs meet the following
conditions:

(1) The asset disbursements have already incurred, which shall include
the cash, transferred non-cash assets or interest bearing debts paid for the
acquisition and construction or production activities for preparing assets
eligible for capitalization.

(2) The borrowing costs have already incurred.

(3) The acquisition and construction or production activities which are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale have already
started.

When the asset under acquisition, construction or production that meets
the conditions for capitalization, reaches the status of being ready for use
or sale, the capitalization of borrowing costs ceases.

Suspension Period of capitalization:

Capitalization of borrowing costs shall be suspended if the assets eligible
for capitalization are abnormally interrupted during the purchase,
construction or production process, and the interruption period lasts for
more than 3 consecutive months. If the suspension is necessary for the
assets acquired, constructed, or produced to reach the intended use or
sale status, the borrowing costs shall continue to be capitalized. The
borrowing costs incurred during the suspension shall be recognized as
the current profit and loss and continued to be capitalized until the
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acquirement, construction, and production activities restart.

How to calculate the capitalization rate and capitalization amount of
borrowing costs

For the funds specifically borrowed for the purpose of obtaining a
qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalization
shall be determined as the actual borrowing costs incurred on that
borrowing during the period less the interest of unutilized amount of the
borrowing and any investment income on the temporary investment of
those borrowings. For the funds borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing costs
eligible for capitalization shall be determined by applying the weighted
average capital expenditure of the accumulated capital expenditure in
excess of the specially borrowed funds to the capitalization rate of the
general borrowings used. The capitalization rate is determined based on
the actual weighted average interest rate of the general borrowings.

During the capitalization period, the exchange difference of the principal
and interest of foreign currency special borrowings is capitalized and
included in the cost of assets eligible for capitalization, while the
exchange difference of principal and interest of other foreign currency
borrowings, other than special foreign currency borrowings, shall be
included in the current profits and losses.

19 Intangible Assets

(1).

Q).

Measurement of intangible assets
1) Intangible assets are initially measured at cost.

The costs of purchased intangible assets include the purchase price,
related taxes, and other expenses directly attributable to the asset's
intended use.

2) Subsequent measurement

The Company judges the useful life of an intangible asset when
acquiring it.

The intangible asset with definite useful life shall not be amortized over
the period that it if the period it brings economic benefits to the
Company. The intangible asset shall be deemed as having indefinite
useful life and shall not be amortized if the period in which it brings
economic benefits to the Company could not be predicted.

Estimation of intangible assets having definite useful life

Intangible assets having definite useful life are amortized over the useful
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life systematically and reasonably in the expected way that the economic
benefits associated with the intangible assets are realized. 1f it is
impossible to reliably determine the expected method of realization, they
are amortized using the straight-line method. The mining rights held by
Pingwu Zhongjin, a subsidiary of the Company, are amortized using the
straight-line method. The mining rights held by VGML (UK), a
subsidiary of the Company, are amortized using the production method.

Basis for determination of intangible assets having indefinite useful
life and the procedures for reviewing of the useful life

Intangible asset with an indefinite useful life shall not be amortized, but
the useful life shall be reviewed and impairment test shall be conducted
on an annual basis.

Specific criteria for classifying research and development stages

Expenditure on internal research and development projects is divided
into research stage expenditures and development stage expenditures

Research stage: Research is original and planned investigation
undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical
knowledge and understanding.

Development is the application of research findings or other knowledge
to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved
materials, devices, products, processes, systems or services before the
start of commercial production or use.

Specific conditions for capitalization of development phase
expenditures

The expenditure for research phase shall be included in the current profit
and loss when it is incurred. The expenditure for the development stage
is recognized as an intangible asset if, and the expenditure in the
development stage that fails to meet the following conditions is included
into the current profit and loss:

1) the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it
will be available for use or sale.

2) its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it.

3) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic
benefits, among other things, the existence of a market for the output of
the intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used
internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset.

4) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
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complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset.

5) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the
intangible asset during its development.

The expenditures, if it is difficult to distinguish whether they belong to
the research stage or development stage, are all recorded into the current
profit and loss when they are incurred.

Impairment of long-term assets

Long-term equity investment, investment property measured in cost mode,
fixed assets, construction in progress, right of use assets, intangible assets with
definite useful life, and oil/gas shall be tested for impairment if any indication
of impairment exists as of the balance sheet date. If the result of the
impairment test indicates that the recoverable amount of the asset is lower than
its book value, impairment provision shall be made based on the difference
and recorded into impairment loss. The recoverable amount of an asset is the
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and the present value of the
expected future cash flow of the asset. If it is difficult to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, determine the recoverable amount
of the asset group to which the asset belongs. An asset group is the smallest
portfolio of assets that can generate cash inflow independently. Asset
impairment provision is calculated and recognized on the basis of individual
asset.

Goodwill resulting from business combination, intangible assets having
indefinite useful life and intangible assets that have yet to reach usable state
shall be tested for impairment at least at the end of each year.

The Company tests the goodwill for impairment. For the goodwill acquired in
business combination, the book value is amortized to the relevant asset group
on a reasonable basis from the date of purchase. If it is difficult to classify the
intangible asset to a relevant asset group, classify it to the relevant asset group
combination. The relevant asset group or asset group combination refers to the
asset group or asset group combination that can benefit from the synergies of
the business combination.

When performing impairment test on the relevant asset group or asset group
combination containing goodwill, if there is any sign of impairment of the
asset group or asset group combination related to goodwill, firstly test the asset
group or asset group combination that does not contain goodwill, calculate the
recoverable amount and compare it with the relevant book value to recognize
the corresponding impairment loss. Then perform impairment test on the asset
group or asset group combination containing goodwill and compare the book
value and the recoverable amount. If the recoverable amount is lower than its
book value, the impairment loss is firstly setoff against and allocated to the
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book value of the goodwill of the asset group or asset group combination, and
then set off against the book value of other assets in proportion to the book
value of other assets other than goodwill.

Contractual liabilities

The Company presents the contractual assets or contractual liabilities in the
balance sheet on the basis of the relationship between obligation payment and
customer payment. The obligations of the Company for transferring goods or
rendering services to the customer for the consideration received already or to
be received from the customer are presented as contract liabilities. Contractual
assets and contractual liabilities under the same contract are presented in net
amount.

Employee Compensation
(1). Accounting of short-term compensation

During the accounting period in which the employees work for the
Company, the Company recognizes the actual short-term compensation
actually incurred as liabilities and record into the profit or loss or cost of
related asset in the current period.

For the social insurance contributions and housing provident fund paid
by the Company for employees, and the labor union funds and employee
education funds provided according to the regulations, the Company
recognizes the amount of employee benefits according to the basis and
proportion during the accounting periods in which the employees render
services for the Company.

The employee benefits incurred by the Company are recorded into the
current profit or loss or the cost of relevant asset when they are actually
incurred, among which the non-monetary benefits are measured at the
fair value.

(2). Accounting treatment of post-employment benefits

1) Defined benefit plan

The Company pays basic pension insurance and unemployment
insurance for the employees according to the relevant regulations of local
government, which are calculated in the accounting period in which
employees render services for the Company according to the local
payment base and proportion, recognized as liabilities, and recorded into
the current profit and loss or cost of related asset.

2) Defined benefit plan

The Company attributes the benefit obligations arising from the defined
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benefit plan to the period that the employee renders services, according
to the tormula determined by using the expected cumulative welfare unit
method, and records them into the current profits and losses or the costs
of relevant assets.

The deficit or surplus from the present value of defined benefit plan
obligations minus the fair value of defined benefit plan assets is
recognized as net liability or net asset of a defined benefit plan. In the
case of surplus, the Company shall measure the net assets of the defined
benefit plan on the basis of the surplus or the upper limit of the asset,
whichever is higher.

All obligations of defined benefit plan, including the obligation for
payment expected to be made within 12 months after the end of the
annual report period in which the employees provide services, shall be
discounted according to the market rate of return of national bonds or
high-quality corporate notes in the active market that matches the term
and currency of the defined benefit plan on the balance sheet date.

(3). Accounting of termination benefits

The Company, when providing termination benefits to the employees,
recognizes the employee compensation liabilities resulting from
termination benefits at the earlier date below and records them into the
current profit or loss: when it can no longer withdraw the provided
benefits due to termination of employment; or when it recognizes the
costs or expenses related to restructuring of the termination benefits.

23 Estimated liabilities

The obligation pertinent to contingency is recognized as estimated
liabilities when all the following conditions are met:

1) Such obligations are current to the Company;

2) Such obligations, if fulfilled, will probably result in outflow of
economic benefits from the Company;

3) Such obligations bear an amount that can be reliably measured.

The estimated liabilities shall be initially measured in accordance with
the best estimate of the expenditure required for the performance of the
relevant current obligation.

In the determination of the best estimate, comprehensive consideration
shall be given to the risks, uncertainties, and time value of moncy reiated
to the contingencies. If the time value of money has a significant impact,
the best estimate will be determined after discounting the relevant future
cash outflows.
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If the required expenditure has a continuous range, and the probability of
occurrence of the various results within the range is the same, the best
estimate follows the middle value of the range. In other cases, the best
estimate is treated as follows:

» If the contingency relates to a single item, then the best estimate shall
be determined based on the most possible amount;

« if the contingency involves multiple items, the best estimate shall be
determined based on the various possible outcomes and associated
probability.

If all or part of the expenses required by the Company for repayment of
estimated liabilities are expected to be compensated by a third party, the
amount of compensation shall be recognized separately as an asset when
it is basically determined to be receivable, and the amount of
compensation recognized shall not exceed the book value of the
estimated liability.

The Company reviews the book value of estimated liabilities on the
balance sheet date, and adjusts the book value on the basis of the current
best estimate if there is conclusive evidence showing that the book value
cannot reflect the current best estimate.

24 Revenue
(1) Accounting policies for recognition and measurement of revenue

The Company recognizes the revenue when it has fulfilled the
performance obligations in the contract, namely when the customer
obtains control over the relevant goods or services. "Obtaining control
over relevant goods or services": being able to dominate the use of such
goods or services and obtain almost all economic benefits therefrom.

If the contract contains two or more performance obligations, the
Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation
according to the proportion of the selling price of the goods or services
committed for each performance obligation on the contract effective date.
The Company measures the revenue according to the transaction price
allocated to each single performance obligation.

Transaction price refers to the amount of consideration that the Company
is expected to be entitled to for the transfer of goods or services to the
customer, excluding the amount to be collected on behalf of a third party
and the amount expected to be returned to the customer. The Company
determines the transaction price according to the contract terms with
reference to its customary practices in the past. In determining the
transaction price, the Company considers the influence of multiple
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factors, e.g. variable consideration, major financing components in the
contract, non cash consideration, consideration payable to the customer.
The Company determines the transaction price containing variable
consideration based on the amount of accumulated recognized revenue
that does not exceed the amount that is unlikely to be significantly
reversed when the relevant uncertainty is eliminated. If the contract
contains significant financing components, the Company determines the
transaction price according to the amount payable by assuming that the
customer will make payment in cash immediately upon obtaining control
over the goods or services, and amortizes the difference between the
transaction price and the contract consideration by using the effective
interest rate method over the contract period.

The performance obligation is classified as that to be satisfied over time
when it meets any of the following conditions, or as that to be satisfied at
a certain point in time:

*  While performing the contract, the customer obtains and consumes
the economic benefits resulting from the performance of the Company;

* The customer could control the goods in process during the
performance of the contract;

- The goods produced during the Company's performance of the
contract have irreplaceable uses, and the Company is entitled to
payments for the performance that has been completed so far in the
whole contract period.

For the performance obligations satisfied over a period of time, the
Company recognizes the revenue according to the performance progress
over the period, unless it is impossible to determine the performance
progress reasonably. The Company uses the output method or input
method to determine the performance progress by considering the nature
of the goods or services. When the performance progress cannot be
reasonably determined and the cost incurred is expected to be
reimbursed, the Company recognizes the revenue based on the amount
of the cost incurred until the performance progress can be reasonably
determined.

For the performance obligation satisfied at a time point, the Company
recognizes the revenue when the customer obtains control over goods or
services. The Company considers the following signs when judging
whether the customer has obtained control over the goods or services:

* The Company is entitled to payment for the goods or services, that is,
the customer has the current payment obligation for the goods or
services;
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* The Company has transferred the goods physically to the customer,
that 1s, the customer has occupied the goods actually;

* The Company has transferred the substantial risks and rewards of
the ownership of the goods to the customer, that is, the customer has
obtained the substantial risks and rewards of the ownership of the
commodity.

*  The Company has accepted the goods or services;
Detailed principles

(1) The revenue from the sale of real estate is recognized when the
following conditions are all met: the control of the goods has been
transferred to the customer, that is, the customer has obtained the contro!
of the goods. The revenue is recognized as realized when it has been
received or evidence of receiving has been obtained and the cost related
to the sale of the real estate can be measured reliably. That is, the
Company recognizes the realization of income when the building is
completed and accepted, the purchase contract is signed, the payment
certificate is obtained from the buyer, and the physical handover
procedures of the building is completed.

(2) The revenue from sale of gold is recognized when all of the
following conditions are met: the right of control over the gold is
transferred to the customer, namely the customer has obtained such right
of control, the settlement statement frem the customer has been received
or obtained and the costs related to the sale of the gold may be reliably
measured. The Company recognizes the revenue on the basis of the
amount of consideration it is expected to be entitled to after it has
fulfilled the performance obligation in the contract, namely the customer
obtains the right of control over the relevant goods or services.

Difference in accounting policies for recognition of revenue from the
same kind of businesses operated in different operation modes

None.

Contract cost

Contract cost consists of contract performance cost and contract acquisition

cost.

The cost incurred by the Company for performance of contract is recognized
as asset when the following conditions are all satisfied, if it is not falling
within the scope of application of the standards for inventories, fixed assets, or

intangible assets:

» The cost is directly related to a current or expected contract;
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» This cost leads to increase of the resources required by the Company for
fulfilling its performance obligations in the future.

« It is expected that the cost could be recovered.

The incremental cost incurred by the Company for obtaining a contract is
recognized as an asset as the contract acquisition cost, if it is expected to be
recovered.

The assets related to contract cost are amortized on the same basis as the
recognition of the revenue from the goods or services related to the assets,
provided that the Company includes the contract acquisition cost into the
current profit or loss when it is incurred if the period of amortization does not
exceed one year,

For the contract cost whose book value is higher than the difference between
the following two, the Company makes impairment provision for the excess
and recognize it as asset impairment loss:

(1) The residual consideration that is expected to be obtained for the transfer
of goods or services related to the asset;

(2) The cost that is estimated to incur for the transfer of the relevant goods
Or services.

If the difference above becomes higher than the book value of the asset as a
result of changes in the impairment factors in the previous period, the
Company shall reverse the originally accrued impairment provision and record
it into the current profit and loss, provided that the book value of the asset after
such reversal shall not exceed the book value of the asset on the reversal date
assuming that impairment provision is not made.

Government grants

(1). Types

Government grants refer to the monetary assets or non-monetary asset
obtained by the Company from the government free of charge, which are
classified into grants related to assets and grants related to income.

Grants related to assets are government grants obtained by the Company
for purchase, construct or otherwise acquire long-term assets. Grants
related to income are government grants other than those related to
assets.

The Company recognizes the grants related to assets according to the
following criteria:

The government grants are recognized as grants related to assets if they
are specially used for acquirement or construction of assets as explicitly
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required in the government grant document.

The Company recognizes the grants related to income according to the
following criteria:

The government grants are recognized as grants related to income if the
government grant document does not explicitly specify that such grants
will be specially used for acquirement or construction of assets.

Time for recognition

The government grants are recognized when that the Company meets the
conditions for the grant and is able to receive the government grants.

Accounting

Government grants related to assets are written off against the book
value of the underlying assets or recognized as deferred income. The
government grants related to assets recognized as deferred income shall
be recognized as profit or loss in the current period in a reasonable and
systematic manner within the useful life of the relevant assets (as other
income if related to the daily activities of the Company, or non-operating
income if not);

The government grants related to income, which are used to compensate
the related costs/expenses or losses of the Company in the future period,
are recognized as deferred income and recognized as profit or loss in the
current period in which the relevant costs/expenses or losses are
recognized (as other income if related to the daily activities of the
Company, or non-operating income if not), or written off against the
relevant expenses or losses; if they are used to compensate the related
costs or losses incurred by the Company, they are directly recognized as
profit or loss in the current profit and loss (as other income if related to
the daily activities of the Company, or non-operating income if not) or
written off against the relevant expenses or losses.

The policy preferential loan interest discounts granted to the Company
are divided into the following two cases for separate accounting:

(1) If the finance department allocates the interest subsidy funds to the
loan bank, and the loan bank issues loan to the Company at the policy
preferential interest rate, the Company will take the actual amount of the
borrowed money as the book value of the loan, and calculate the
borrowing cost according to the loan principal and the policy preferential
interest rate.

(2) If the finance department directly allocates the discounted funds to
the Company, the Company will write off against the relevant borrowing
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costs.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

Income tax consists of current income tax and deferred income tax. The
Company records the current income tax and deferred income tax into the
current profit or loss, except for the income tax arising from business
combination and transactions or events directly included in the owner's equity
(including other comprehensive income).

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are recognized
on the basis of the difference (temporary difference) between the tax base of
asscts and liabilities and their book value.

The deferred income tax assets for deductible temporary differences shall be
recognized up to the taxable income that might be obtained in the future period
to set off against the deductible temporary differences. For deductibie losses
and tax credits that can be carried forward in subsequent years, the deferred
income tax assets are recognized up to the taxable income that might be
obtained in the future period to set off against the deductible loss and tax
credits,

Taxable temporary differences are recognized as deferred income tax liabilities
unless any special circumstance exists.

The special circumstances under which deferred income tax assets or deferred
income tax liabilities are not recognized include:

« initial recognition of goodwill;

- other transactions or events which are not classified as business combination,
and do not affect the accounting profit or taxable income (deductible loss) at
the occurrence.

For the taxable temporary differences associated with the investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, deferred income tax liabilities are
recognized unless the Company is able to control the reversal time of the
temporary difference and it is likely that the temporary difference will not be
reversed in the foreseeable future. For the deductible temporary difference
associated with the investment in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the temporary difference is likely to be reversed in the foreseeable future
and it is likely to obtain the taxable income for offsetting the deductible
temporary difference in the future, deferred income tax assets are recognized.

On the balance sheet date, the deferred income tax assets and deferred income
tax liabilities are measured at the tax rate applicable to the pericd that the
relevant assets are expected to be recovered or the relevant liabilities are
expected to be discharged according to the tax laws.
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On the balance sheet date, the Company reviews the book value of the
deferred income tax assets. If it is highly unlikely to obtain sufficient taxable
income to offset the benefits of deferred income tax assets in the future, the
book value of deferred income tax assets are written down. If it is likely to
obtain sufficient taxable income, the amount written down is reversed.

An entity shall offset current tax assets and current tax liabilities if, and only if,
the entity:(a) has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized amounts;
and(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle

the liability simultaneously.

On the balance sheet date, the deferred income tax assets and the deferred
income tax liabilities are presented in the net amount after offset when the
following conditions are all satisfied:

* the tax entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities;

* the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity; or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each
future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets
are expected to be settled or recovered.

Lease
Accounting policies implemented since January 1, 2021

“Lease” means the contract that the Lessor provides a Lessee with the right of
use of an asset in return for the consideration within the agreed time limit. At
the contract commencement date, the Company evaluates whether the contract
is or contains a lease. If, under the contract, one party transfers the right of
control over the use of one or more identified assets within the agreed time
limit in return for the consideration, the contract is or contains a lease

Where the contract contains several separate leases, the Company splits the
contract and accounts for each lease separately. If the contract consists of both
lease and non-lease parts, the lessee and the lessor split the lease part from the
non-lease part.

For the rent concession {¢.g. rent reduction or payment extension) granted to
the existing lease contracts directly as a result of COVID-19 pandemic, the
Company takes the simplified method (neither to evaluate whether the lease
has changed, nor to re-evaluate classification of lease) for all leases if they
meet all of the following conditions.

e The lease consideration after such concession is reduced or basically
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unchanged compared with that before the concession, whether or not the
lease consideration is not discounted or discounted at the discount rate
before the concession;

The concession is only applicable to the lease payments to be payable
before June 30, 2022. The increase of lease payments payable after June
30, 2022 does not affect the satisfaction of this condition, and the decrease
of lease payments payable after June 30, 2022 will not meet this
condition;

It is identified after comprehensive consideration of qualitative and
quantitative factors that, other terms and conditions of the lease are not
changed significantly.

the Company is the lessee

(1) Right of use assets

At the commencement date of the lease period, the Company recognizes
right of use assets for the leases other than short-term leases and low
value asset leases. The right of use assets are initially measured at cost,
including:

e Initially measured amount of lease liabilities;

* Lease payments paid on or before the commencement date of lease
period, from which the lease incentive (if any) related amount
enjoyed already shall be deducted,;

* Initial direct expenses incurred by the Company;

* The costs expected to be incurred by the Company to dismantle and
remove the leased assets, restore the site where the leased assets are
located or restore the leased assets to the condition agreed under the
lease terms, excluding the costs incurred for production of
inventories.

Subsequently the Company makes depreciation provision for the right of
use assets by using the straight-line method. If it can be reasonably
determined that the ownership of the leased asset can be obtained upon
expiry of the lease term, the Company makes provision for depreciation
over the remaining useful life of the leased asset. Otherwise, the
Company makes provision for depreciation over the lease term or the
remaining useful life of the leased asset, whichever is shorter.

The Company determines whether the right of use assets suffer from
impairment, and conducts accounting treatment of the identified
impairment losses according to the principles described in "(20)
Impairment of long-term assets" of note 3.
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(2) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease period, the Company recognizes
lease liabilities for the leases other than short-term leases and low value
asset leases. Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present value
of unpaid lease payments. Lease payments include:

* TFixed payment (including substantial fixed payment), from which
the lease incentive (if any) related amount shall be deducted;

*  Variable lease payments (based on index or ratio);

* The amount expected to be paid according to the residual value of
the guarantee provided by the Company;

*  Price for exercise of purchase option, provided that it is reasonably
determined that the Company will exercise the option;

*  Amount to be paid for exercise of lease termination option, provided
that the lease term reflects that the Company will exercise the lease
termination option.

The Company takes the interest rate implicit in lease as the discount rate.
If it is impossible to determine the interest rate implicit in lease
reasonably, the incremental borrowing interest rate of the Company is
taken as the discount rate.

The Company calculates the interest expense of the lease liabilities in
each period of the lease term on the basis of fixed periodic interest rate
and includes it into the current profit and loss or the cost of relevant
assets.

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease
liabilities are included in the current profit and loss or the cost of
relevant assets when they are actually incurred.

After the commencement date of the lease period, the Company
re-measures the lease liabilities and adjusts the corresponding right of
use assets if the following conditions occur. If the lease liabilities need to
be further reduced after the book value of the right of use assets has been
reduced to zero, the difference is included into the current profit or loss:

s  When the evaluation results of purchase option, renewal option or
termination option have changed, or the actual exercise results of the
above options are inconsistent with the original evaluation results,
the Company re-measures the lease liabilities at the present value
calculated based on the lease payments after change and the
discount rate after revision;

Notes to Financial Statements Page 39



e  When the substantially fixed payment amount changes, the expected
payable amount of the residual value of guarantee changes, or the
index or ratio used to determine the lease payment amount changes,
the Company re-measures the lease liabilities at the lease payment
amount after change and the present value calculated at the original
discount rate, provided that the present value is calculated based on
the discount rate after revision if the change of lease payment is
resulting from the change of floating interest rate.

(3) Short-term lease and low-value asset leases

‘The Company does not recognize right of use assets and lease liabilities
for short-term leases and low-value asset leases, and records the relevant
lease payments into the current profit and loss or cost of relevant asset
using the straight-line method in each period of the lease term.

Short term lease refers to a lease under which the lease term is no more
than 12 months since the commencement date of the lease term and the
option of purchase is not granted. Low value asset lease refers to a lease
under which the single leased asset has low value when it is a brand-new
asset. Where the Company sub-leases or is expected to sublease the
leased assets, the original lease is not considered as low-value asset
lease.

(4) Change of lease

When the lease changes and meets the following conditions, the
Company treats the change as a separate lease for accounting:

* The scope of lease is expanded because the rights of use over one or
more leased assets were added as a result of such change;

* The increase in the consideration is equivalent to the amount of the
separate price of the expanded part of the scope of lease that is
adjusted as per the contract.

If the lease change is not taken as a separate lease for accounting, on the
effective date of the lease change, the Company re-allocates the
consideration of the contract after change, re-determines the lease period,
and re-measures the lease liabilities based on the present value calculated
on the basis of the lease payments after change and the discount rate

after revision.

If, as a result of the lease change, the scope of lease is reduced or the
lease period is shortened, the Company will reduce the book value of the
right of use assets accordingly, and record the gains or losses from
partial or wholly termination of the lease into the current profit and loss.
If the lease liabilities are re-measured due to other lease changes, the
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Company will adjust the book value of the right of use assets
accordingly.

(5) Rent concession related to COVID-19 pandemic

If the simplified method is taken for the rent concession related to
COVID-19 pandemic, the Company will not evaluate whether lease
change occurs. Instead, the Company will still calculate the interest
expenses of the lease liabilities at the discount rate that is consistent with
that before the concession and records it into the current profit and loss,
and will still make provision for depreciation for the right of use asset in
the same method as that before the concession. When rent reduction or
exemption is granted, the Company treats the rent reduced or exempted
as variable lease payment, and, when the original rent payment
obligation is relieved by reaching a concession agreement or other ways,
the cost or expense of relevant assets is written down against the
discount amount at the discount rate before the discount or concession,
and the lease liabilities are adjusted accordingly. If delay of rent payment
is granted, the Company offsets the lease liabilities recognized in the
previous period when the rent is actually paid.

For short-term leases and low value asset leases, the Company still
records the rent under the original contract into the cost or expense of
relevant asset in the same way as before the concession. When rent
reduction or exemption is granted, the Company treats the rent reduced
or exempted as the variable lease payment and offsets the cost or
expense of relevant asset during the concession period. If delay of rent
payment is granted, the Company recognizes the rent payable as
payables in the original payment period and offsets the payable
recognized in the previous period when the rent is actually paid.

The Company is the lessor

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company classifies the
leases into financtal lease and operating lease. A financial lease is a lease
that essentially transfers all risks and rewards related to the ownership of
an asset. The ownership may eventually be transferred or may not be
transferred. Operating leases refer to leases other than financial leases.
When the Company is the sub-lessor, it classifies the subleases based on
the right of use assets generated from the original lease.

(1) Accounting of operating lease

Lease receivables from operating leases are recognized as rent income
on a straight-line basis in each period of the lease term. The Company
capitalizes the initial direct expenses related to operating leases, and

allocates them into the current profit and loss on the same basis as that
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for the recognition of rent income during the lease term. Variable lease
payments not included in the lease receivables are recorded into the
current profits and losses when they are actually incurred. When the
operating lease changes, the Company accounts for the change as a new
lease since the effective date of the change, and the lease receivables
received in advance or to be receivable related to the lease before the
change are deemed as the receivables of the new lease.

(2) Accounting of financial Jease

At the commencement date of the lease, the Company recognizes
financial lease receivables for the financial lease and de-recognizes the
financial lease assets. At initial measurement of the financial lease
receivable, the Company takes the net lease investment as the entry
value of the financial lease receivable. The net lease investment is the
sum of the unguaranteed residual value and the present value of the lease
receivables not received yet on the commencement date of the lease term
that is discounted at the interest rate implicit in lease.

The Company calculates and recognizes the interest income of each
period in the lease term at the fixed periodic interest rate. The accounting
for de-recognition and impairment of financial lease receivable shall
comply with "10 Financial Instruments"” of note 3.

Variable lease payments not included in the measurement of net lease
investment are recorded into the current profit and loss when they are
actually incurred.

If the financial lease changes and meets the following conditions, the
Company will treat the change as a separate lease for accounting
treatment:

e The scope of lease is expanded because the rights of use over one or
more leased assets were added as a result of such change;

e The increase in the consideration is equivalent to the amount of the
separate price of the expanded part of the scope of lease that is
adjusted as per the contract.

If the change of financial lease is not taken as a separate lease for
accounting treatment, the Company will treat the lease after change
differently as follows:

e If the change becomes effective on the lease commencement date
and the lease will be classified as an operating lease, the Company
will treat it as a new lease from the effective date of the lease change,
and take the net lease investment before the effective date of the
lease change as the book value of the leased asset;
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o If the change becomes effective on the lease commencement date
and the lease will be classitied as a financial lease, the Company
will carry out accounting treatment according to the policies about
contract modification or renegotiation in "10 Financial Instruments"
of note 3.

(3) Rent concession related to COVID-19 pandemic

e For the operating lease for which the simplified method for rent
concession related to COVID-19 pandemic is used, the Company
continues to recognizes the rent under the original contract in the
same way as that betore the concession. If rent reduction or exempt
is granted, the Company treats the reduced or exempted rent as
variable lease payment and offsets the lease income in the
concession period. If delay of rent payment is granted, the Company
recognizes the rent receivable in the original period as receivables
and offsets against the receivable in the previous period when the
rent is actually received.

o For the financial lease for which the simplified method for rent
concession related to COVID-19 pandemic is used, the Company
continues to calculate the interest income and recognizes it as rent
income at the discount rate that is consistent with that before the
concession. If rent reduction or exempt is granted, the Company
takes the reduced or exempted rent as variable lease payment, and
when the original right to rent is waived by reaching a rent
concession agreement or other ways, offsets the lease income
recognized originally against the amount not discounted or the
discount rate before the discount. If it is insufficient for offsetting,
the shortage will be included in the investment income and the
financial lease receivables will be adjusted accordingly. If delay of
rent payment is granted, the Company offsets the financial lease
receivables recognized in the previous period when the rent is
actually received.

Sale and lease back

The Company evaluates to determine whether the asset transfer under
the sale and leaseback transaction is a sale according to the principles
stated in "24 Revenue" of note 3.

(1) As the lessee

If the asset transfer under the sale and leaseback transaction is sale , the
Company, as the lessee, measures the right of use assets formed from the
sale and leaseback based on the part of the book value of the original
assets that is related to the right of use obtained from leaseback, and
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recognizes relevant gains or losses only for the rights transferred to the
lessor. If the asset transfer under the sale and leaseback transaction is not
sale, the Company, as the lessee, continues to recognize the transferred
asset and it also recognizes a financial liability in the same amount as the
transfer income. Accounting treatment of financial liabilities is described
in “10 Financial Instruments" of note 3.

(2) As the lessor

If the asset under the sale and leaseback transaction is sale, the Company
accounts for the purchase of assets as the lessor and in accordance with
the policy stated in "2. The Company is the lessor" above. If the asset
transfer under the sale and leaseback transaction is not sale, the
Company, as the lessor, does not recognize the transferred asset, but
recognizes a financial asset in the same amount as the transfer income.
Accounting treatment of financial assets is described in "10 Financial
Instruments” of note 3.

Accounting policies applied before January 1, 2021

Leases are classified into financial leases and operating leases. A financial
lease is a lease that essentially transfers all risks and rewards related to the
ownership of an asset. The ownership may eventually be transferred or may
not be transferred. Operating leases refer to leases other than financial leases.

For the rent reduction/exempt or payment extension granted for the existing
lease contracts directly as a result of COVID-19 pandemic, the Company takes
the simplified method (neither to evaluate whether the lease has changed, nor
to re-evaluate classification of lease) for all leases if they meet the following
conditions.

¢  The lease consideration after such concession is reduced or basically
unchanged as compared with that before such concession, whether the
lease consideration is not discounted or discounted at the discount rate
before the concession;

¢ The concession is only applicable to the lease payments to be payable
before June 30, 2021. The increase of lease payments payable after June
30, 2021 does not affect the satisfaction of this condition, and the decrease
of lease payments payable after June 30, 2021 will not meet this
condition;

e Itis identified after comprehensive consideration of qualitative and
quantitative factors that, other terms and conditions of the lease are not
changed significantly.

(1). Accounting of operating lease
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1) The lease payments paid by the Company for lease of assets shall be
recognized as an expense on a straight-line basis over the entire lease
term (including the rent-free period). The initial direct expenses paid by
the Company for the lease transaction are recognized as expenses in the
current period.

When the lessor of the asset bears the expenses related to the lease that
should be borne by the Company, the Company will deduct such
expenses from the total rent, and the rent after deduction will be
recognized as expenses in the current period over the lease term.

For the operating lease for which simplified method for the rent
concession related to COVID-19 pandemic is used, the Company
continues to recognize the rent under the original contract in the same
way as that before the concession. If rent reduction or exemption is
granted, the Company will treat the reduced or exempted rent as
contingent rent and record it into the current profit or loss in the
concession period. If delay of rent payment is granted, the Company
recognizes the rent payable in the original payment period as payment
and offsets the payable recognized in the previous period when it is
actually paid.

2) The rent received by the Company for leasing assets is recognized as
lease related income on a straight-line basis over the entire lease term
(including the rent-free period). The initial direct expenses paid by the
Company related to the lease transaction are recognized as expenses in
the current expenses, and if the amount is significant, are capitalized and
recognized as income in the current by installment over the lease term on
the same basis with recognition of lease-related income.

When the Company bears the expenses related to the lease that should be
borne by the lessee, the Company will deduct such expenses from the
total rent, and the rent after deduction will be allocated over the lease
term.

For the operating leases for which the simplified method for rent
concession related to COVID-19 pandemic is used, the Company
continues to recognize the rent under the original contract as lease
income in the same way as that before the concession. If rent reduction
or exemption is granted, the Company will treat the reduced or exempted
rent as contingent rent and offsets the rent income during the concession
period. If delay of rent payment is granted, the Company recognizes the
rent receivable in the original collection period as receivable and offsets
the receivable recognized in the previous period when it is actually
received,
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(2). Accounting treatment of financial leasing

(1) Financial leased in assets: On the start date of the lease, the lower of
the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum
lease payment is taken as the initial book value of the leased asset, and
the minimum lease payment is taken as the long-term payable. The
difference is recorded as unrecognized financing expenses. The company
uses the effective interest method to amortize unrecognized financing
expenses over the asset lease period and charges in financial expenses.
The initial direct costs incurred by the company are included in the value
of the leased asscts.

For the financial lease for which the simplified method for rent
concession related to COVID-19 pandemic is used, the Company
continues to recognize the unrecognized financing expenses as the
current financing expenses at the discount rate that is consistent with that
before the concession, and continues to accrue depreciation for the assets
under financial lease according to the method consistent with that before
the concession. For the rent concession, the Company takes the rent
concession as confingent rent, and when the original rent payment
obligation is relieved by reaching the concession agreement or otherwise,
records it into the current profit and loss, and adjusts the long-term
accounts payable accordingly, or includes it into the current profit and
loss at the discount rate before concession, and adjusts the unrecognized
financing expenses. If delay in rent payment is granted, the Company
shall offset the long-term accounts payable recognized in the previous
period when they are actually paid.

(2) Financial leased out assets: The Company recognizes the financing
lease payments receivable and the difference between the sum of
unguaranteed residual value and its present value as unrealized financing
income on the lease start date, and it will be recognized as lease income
during each period when the rent is received in the future. The initial
direct expenses related 1o the lease transaction incurred by the Company
are included in the tnitial measurement of the financial lease receivable,
which reduces the amount of income recognized over the lease period.

For the financial lease for which the simplified method for rent
concession related to COVID-19 pandemic, the Company continues to
recognize the unrealized financial income as the lease income at the
interest rate implicit in lease that is consistent as that before the rent
concession. When rent reduction or exemption is granted, the Company
will treat the reduced or exempted rent as contingent rent, and, when a
concession agreement is reached to waive the right to collect the original
rent, the originally recognized rental income will be written down, and, if
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insufficient for writing down, the insufficient part will be included in the
investment income and the long-term receivables will be adjusted
accordingly, or will be discounted rent at the discount rate before
concession and included in the current profit and loss, and the unrealized
financing income will be adjusted. If delay of rent payment is granted,
the Company shall offset the long-term receivables recognized in the
previous period when the rent is actually received.

29 Discontinued Operation

Discontinued operation: A component of an entity that satisfies one of
the following conditions and could be clearly distinguished from the rest
of the entity has either been disposed of, or is classified as held for sale,
and

(1) It represents a separate major line of business or geographical area
of operations;

(2) Itis part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major
line of business or geographical area of operations, or

(3) Itis a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Profits and losses from continued operations and profits and losses from
discontinued operations are presented separately in the income statement.
Operating profit and loss of discontinued operation, such as impairment
loss, and reversed amount, and disposal profit and loss are presented as
discontinued operation profit and loss. For the discontinued operation
reported in the current period, the Company will report the information
originally reported as the profit and loss of continued operation as the
profit and loss of discontinued operation in the comparative accounting
period in the current financial statements.

30.  Changes in significant accounting policies and accounting estimates
1.  Changes in significant accounting policies

(1) Implementation of the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
No. 21 — Lease (revised in 2018).

The Ministry of Finance revised the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No. 21 — Lease in 2018, and the Company has implemented
this new accounting standard since January 1, 2021. For the contracts
that have existed before the initial implementation date of the new
standard, the Company did not re-evaluate whether it is or contains a
lease at the initial implementation date.

o  The Company as the lessee

Notes to Financial Statements Page 47



The Company adjusts the beginning retained earnings and the amounts
of other relevant items in the financial statements of the year in which
the new accounting standard for leasc is initially implemented, based on
the accumulative effects after the initial application of the new standard,
and not to adjust the information of comparative period.

For the operating leases that have existed before the initial
implementation date, the Company, on the initial implementation date,
measures the lease liabilities at the present value of remaining lease
payments discounted at the incremental borrowing rate of the Company,
and measures the right of use assels for each lease by following the
methods below:

- Amounts equal to the lease liabilities, adjusted for the prepaid rent
as necessary;

For the operating leases that occurred before the initial implementation
date, in addition to the methods above, the Company also takes one or
more of the simplified methods for each lease

1) Treat the leases to be completed within 12 months after the initial
implementation date as short-term leases;

2) For measurement of lease liabilities, the leases with similar
characteristics are discounted at the same discount rate;

3) Initial direct expenses are not included in the measurement of right
of use assets;

4) For the leases with option of renewal or option of termination, the
lease term is determined according to the actual exercise of option
and other current conditions prior to the initial implementation date;

5) Asan alternative to the impairment test of right of use assets, assess
whether the contract containing lease is a loss contract before the
initial implementation date according to "23 Estimated Liabilities"
of note 3, and adjust the right of use assets based on the amount of
loss provision presented in the balance sheet before the initial
implementation date;

6) Leases changes that occurred before the initial implementation date
are not subject to retroactive adjustment, but accounted for
according to the new accounting standard for lease based on the
ultimate arrangement of lease changes.

For measurement of lease liabilities, the Company discounts the lease
payments at the incremental borrowing interest rate of the lessee at
January 1, 2021.
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Minimum lease payment unpaid for significant operating leases
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements as of December

31,2020

27,407,059.45

Present value discounted at the incremental borrowing interest

rate of the Company as of January 1, 2021

Lease liabilities under the new accounting standard for lease at

January 1, 2021

24,128,174.92

24,128,174.92

Difference between discounted present value and lease liabilities

above

For the

financial leases that have existed before the initial
implementation date, the Company measures the right to use assets and
the lease liabilities respectively based on the original book value of the
assets under financial lease and financial lease payable on the initial
implementation date.

*  The Company as the lessor

For the subleases that were classified as operating leases before the

initial

implementation date and

still

existing after the initial

implementation date, the Company makes re-e¢valuation on the initial
implementation date based on the remaining contract term and terms of
the original lease and the sublease, and classify them in accordance with
the new accounting standard for lease. For those reclassified as financial
leases, the Company accounts for them as new financial leases.

Except for sublease, the Company needs not to adjust the leases under
which it is the lessor according to the new accounting standard for lease.
The Company carries out accounting treatment in accordance with the
new accounting standard since the initial implementation date.

* Main influences of implementation of new accounting standard for
lease on the financial statements:

Changes of accounting
policies and reasons

Financial
Approval Statement [tems
Influenced

Influence on balance as of January
1,2021

Consolidated

. Parent company

(1) Adjustment of
operating lease that
occurred before the
initial implementation
date for which the
Company is the lessee

Right to use
assets

24,128,174.92

20,364,469.28

' ByBOD

Lease liabilities

L 10,912,196.52

7,483,962.46

Non-current
Habilities due

within one year |

13,215,978.40 |

12,880,506.82
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(2)

Implementation of No. 14 Interpretation of Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises

The Ministry of Finance issued the No. 14 Interpretation of Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises (CK [2021] No. 1, hereinafter
referred to as "No.14 Interpretation ") on February 2, 2021, which came
into force as of the date of issue. New businesses from January 1, 2021
to the date of issue of No.14 Interpretation shall be adjusted according to
No. 14 Interpretation.

@ Public-Private Partnership (PPP) Project Contract

No. 14 Interpretation is applicable to the PPP project contracts featuring
"dual characteristics" and "dual control” as described therein, and the
relevant PPP project contracts that are implemented before December 31,
2020 and not completed by the implementation date are adjusted
retrospectively. If retrospective adjustment is impractical, No. 14
Interpretation shall be applied from the beginning of the earliest period
that retrospective adjustment is allowed, and based on the cumulative
impact, the retained earnings at the beginning of the year of the
implementation date and other relevant items in the financial statements
shall be adjusted, The information of comparative periods shall not be
adjusted. Such implementation has not imposed significant impact on the
financial status and operating results of the Company.

@ Reform of benchmark interest rate

No. 14 Interpretation made provision for the simplified accounting
treatment applicable when the basis for determination of cash flows
related to financial instrument contracts and lease contracts is changed as
a result of benchmark interest rate reform.

According to No.14 Interpretation, the businesses related to benchmark
interest rate reform that occurred before December 31, 2020 shall be
retroactively adjusted unless such retroactive adjustment is impractical.
Comparative data of financial statements is not adjusted. The difference
between the original book value and the new book value of financial
assets and financial liabilities on the implementation date of No. 14
Interpretation shall be recorded into the opening retained earnings or

other comprehensive income of the report year that the interpretation is
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implemented. Such implementation has not imposed significant impact
on the financial conditions and operating results of the Company.

(3) Notice on Adjusting the Scope of Application of the Rules for
Accounting of COVID-19 Pandemic Related Rent Concession

On June 19, 2020, the Ministry of Finance issued the Rules for
Accounting of COVID-19 Pandemic Related Rent Concession (CK
[2020] No.10), under which the enterprise may take simplified method
for the accounting of qualified rent concessions directly caused by
COVID-19 pandemic, including rent reduction or exempt or delay of
rent payment.

On May 26, 2021, the Ministry of Finance issued the Notice on
Adjusting the Scope of Application of the Rules for Accounting of
COVID-1% Pandemic Related Rent Concession (CK [2021] No.9),
which came into force since May 26, 2021. Under the Notice, the scope
of application of the Rules for Accounting of COVID-19 Pandemic
Related Rent Concession which specified that “rent concession is only
applicable to the lease payments payable before June 30, 2021” is
changed to “rent concession is only applicable to the lease payments
payable before June 30, 2022, while other conditions of application are
unchanged.

The Company has taken simplified method for accounting treatment of
all lease contracts that meet the conditions before the adjustment of the
scope of application, and also taken the simplified method for
accounting treatment of similar lease contracts that meet the conditions
after the adjustment of the scope of application, and retroactively
adjusted the relevant lease contracts that have taken accounting
treatment of lease change before the issuance of the notice, but did not
adjust the data of the comparative financial statements in the previous
period. The relevant rent concessions that occurred between January 1,
2021 and the implementation date of the notice and not accounted for in
accordance with the provisions of the notice, were adjusted according to
the notice. The implementation of this provision has not imposed
significant impact on the financial conditions and operating results of the

Company.
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(4) Implementation of the relevant provisions on presentation of
centralized capital management in No. 15 Interpretation of Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises

On December 30, 2021, the Ministry of Finance issued the No. 15
Interpretation of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises (CK
[2021]No. 35, hereinafter referred to as No. 15 Interpretation), which
came into force as of the date of issue, and the data of financial

statements of the comparative periods were adjusted accordingly.

No. 15 Interpretation made explicit provisions for the presentation and
disclosure of the balances involved in centralized and unified
management of funds of the parent company and its member through
internal settlement centers and financial companies in the balance sheet.
The implementation of such provision has not imposed significant
impact on the financial conditions and operating results of the Company.

2. Changes in important accounting estimates

There was no change in the company's main accounting estimates during
the reporting period.

3. Adjustments of relevant financial statement items of the year in
which new lease standard is initially implemented

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Closing _— Adjustment
[tem Balance of Beginning
Balance : Re-classification : Re-measurement Total

Last Year
Right to use 24,128,174.92 24,128,174.92 | 24,128,174.92
assets ;
Lease 10,912,196.52 10,912,196.52| 10,912,196.52
Non-current |
liabilities |35 140 648,04 448,665 627.34 13,215,978.40! 13,215,978.40
due within :
one year ’ ‘

Balance Sheet of Parent Company
, Closing I Adjustment
Item | Balance of Last Beginning
Year Balance Re-classification | Re-measurement Total

Right to use 20,364,469.28 20,364,469.28 | 20,364,469.28
assets i
Lease 7,483,962.46 7,483,962.46 | 7,483,962.46
liabilities
Non-current i
liabilities 435 149,648.94 | 448,330,155.76 12,880,506.82 | 12,380,506.82
due within
one year i
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IV. Taxation

1. Main tax type and rate

. TaxType

Tax Basis

Tax Rate

VAT

Income from sales ofwg”(;(;ds and:
calculated |

taxable services
according to the tax law, with the
allowable input tax amount in the
current period deducted.

13%, 10%, 9%, 6%,
5%, 3%

Urban maintenance and construction tax : Actually paid VAT amount 7%, 5%

Education surcharge ‘Turnover tax payable L 3%

Local education surcharge jqﬂ:l"umover tax payable 2%
_Corporate income tax  Taxable income | 25%,20%

Land appreciation tax

Added wvalue amount generated
from paid transfer of the
state-owned land use right and the

. property rights over the ground
. buildings and other attachments.

For the income from pre-selling of

houses, the tax shall be based on |
the tax rate stipulated in the place
| house is located
shallapply.

where the house is located.

' Valorem property tax: 1.2% of the

original value of property less

Calculated and

paid in 4 levels
of extra
progressive tax
rates (30-60). For
provisional tax
rate, local
regulations in the
place where the

Property tax 30.00%; 1.2%, 12%
B Rent-based property tax: 12%.
_Gold tax | Gold sales 3%
ROYALTY Gold sales 3%

According to notice of the Ministry of Mineral Resources of Fiji in May 2018,
VATUKOULA GOLD MINES LIMITED is required to pay the royalty at 3% of
the gold sales to the Ministry of Mineral Resources.

Disclosure of any other taxpayer to which any other income tax rate may

apply.

Taxpayer

Income Tax Rate

VATUKOULA GOLD MINES LIMITED {UK))

20%

2. Preferential tax

According to CS [2002] No. 142 “Notice on Issues of Gold Taxation Policy”
of the State Administration of Taxation, the sales of gold products produced by
the domestic subsidiaries of the Company are exempt from VAT.
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V. Notes to Major [tems of Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Monetary funds

__Item Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
_Cashonhand 26,779.61 29,024.61
Cash in bank 6,188,226.31 . 119,949,455.77
Inctuding: deposits with financial company
Other monetary funds ~3,954.284.53 4,589,648.11
Including: Total amount deposited abroad 5,876,983 39 21,245 ,065.64

The monetary funds of which the use is restricted due to mortgage, pledge, or freezing,
withdrawal is limited due to centralized capital management, or the repatriation is
restricted as deposited abroad are detailed as follows:

 Item Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
_Performance bond ©2,032,620.00 | 2,631.074.13
__Frozen funds 1,964,004.88 27,515,838.57
Fixed deposit 1,921,664.53 1,958 57398
Total 5,918,289.41 | 32,105,486.68

Additional notes:

(1) For details on the restricted monetary funds, refer to Note V (51)"Assets with

Restricted Ownership or Use Right".

(2) For details on the foreign-currency monetary funds, refer to Note V (52)

"Foreign-currency monetary items”.

Accounts receivable

1) Accounts receivable by account age

Account age Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
~ Within 1 year 4.827.101.38 1,586,692.37
A-2years 4,658.00 11,836.40
2-3 years 11,520.00 51,022.00

3-4 years 41,005.00 590,588.00

4-5 years 590,588.00 ;

Over 5 years ~15,329,472.05 16,469,208.22

Subtotal 20,804,344.43 | 18,709,346.99

Less: bad debt provision ~15,822,133.62 16,737,107.28
Total 4.982,210.81 | 1,972,239.71
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Zhongrun Resources Investiacnl Cuipuralion

Year 2021

Notes te Financial Statements

2) Accounts receivable by bad debt provision method:
i Closing balance

Category

Bad debt
provision
made by
single item
Bad debt
provision
made by
combination

T Proportion |
(%)

100.00

20,804,344 43

Including:
Account age
analysis
combination

Total

20,804,344 43 100.00

"~ 1006.00

20,804,344 43

"Book value | Bad debt provision

1
15,822,133.62 ;

T
15,822,133 62 |

15,822,133.62

" Book value

Proportion - Book value

(%) | Amount

i
1
[
498221081 ; 18,709,346.99

76 05

———

J— — o

76.05 | 4,982.210.81 | 18,709,346.99

T 498221081 1870932699 |

Closing balance of last year

Proportion
(%)

10000 D 1673710728,

Bad debt provision S

Proportion | Book value
%)

Amount |

16,737,10728 | 8946 1,972.23971

16,737,107 28 ° 89.46 1 1,972,239 71
| .

| 197223971
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Bad debt provision made by combination:

Account age analysis combination provision items:

Closing Balance

ftem Accounts receivable Bad debt provision | Proportion (%)

Within 1 year 482710138, 24135507
1-2 years 4,658.00 46580 @
2-3years | 1520000 2304.00 . 20,00
3-4 years 41,005.00 12,301.50 30.00
4-5years 590,588.00 36235200
Over 5 years 15329472051 15329,472.05 - 100.00
" Total " 20,804,344.43 TT15,.822,133.62 ¢

3) Bad debt provisions made, reversed or recovered in this period:

Chgmge in current period
Category Closing Balance Provision Reversed Transferor | Closing
of last year or - : halance
made Written-off |
recovered o
Account age * } :
analysis 16,737,107.28  305,899.27 1,220,872.93 | 15,822,133.62
combination
Total ~16,737,107.28 | 305,899.27 1,220,872.93 | 15,822,133.62
4) Top five accounts receivable by closing balance classified by debtor
Closing Balance
Name Accounts Proportion in total of Bad debt
receivable accounts receivable (%) provision
ﬂg" Zhongrun Xinmate Co., | 4 g9¢ 155 39 5228 1 9,373,092.64
Trading Co, Ltd. LoH el ot Mo
Natural person | ! 1,285,253.00 6.18 64,262.65
Zibo Runze Stores Co., Ltd.  1,000,000.00 481 1,000,000.00
__”Natural person 2 590,588.00 ; 284 23623520
Total 15,711,680.30 | 7553 10,771,581.19
3 Advance payment
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(1).  Advance payment by account age

Account age

Within 1 year 13,823,664.27 =

~ Closing Balance

Closing Balance of Last Year

. Amount

Proportion (%) :  Amount Proportion (%)

18,759,627.30 77.66

-2 years 729,695.20

4,5

14,818.74 18.69

2-3 years 511,309.75 |

_Over3years | 54738188

68,700.28 | o233
14,377.40 130

Total 15,612,051.10 | 100.00 24,1

57,523.72 100.00

(2). Top five advance payments by closing balance classified by payee

Payee

Closing Balance

Proportion in Total of
Closing Balance of

Advance Payments (%)

SOUTH PACIFIC STAR

2,874,530.84 1841

(LINYT CHIXIN INTERNATIONAL TRAD

174467788 :  MLIB

SULZER PUMPS (ANZ)

1,389,998.45

B0

LUOYANG INDUSTRY COOP. LTD

715,307.07 |

4.58

LAIZHOU JINJINGCHENG RUBBER C

662,725.23 | A

Total

7,387,239.47 47.31

4 Other accounts receivable

Item

Closing Balance

Closing Balance of last year

_Interest receivable

____:D____iviiiend receivable

Ot

3941148435 |

Total

39,411,484.35 |

40,234,379.42

40,234,379.42

1). Other receivables

8 By account age

_ Accountage -

~ Within 1 year

Closing balance
9,928.244.54

_ Closing balance of last year
17,879,296.75

_1-2 vears

11,093,933.07

27,816,301.21

2-3 years

27,786,194.21

493,206 .02

3-4 years

476,682.46

4,148,187.56

4-5 years.

4,139,406.14

567,864,859.02

_ Over 5 years

.693,297,390.25

138,622,754.90

Subtotal

Less Bad debt provision

707,310,366.32

746,721 85067 |

756,824,698.46

716,590,319.04

Total

39,411,484.35

40,234,379.42
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(2}  Classified disclosure by bad debt provision method:

Closing Balance of last year
e ] ] ] Bad Debt Prov -
* Proportion ! Proportion ~ Book value Froportion I Proportion |  Book value
i Amount

B S S > R B B e S S

Closing Balance

Book Balance

Category
Amount

“Baddebt

.. 3 L
provision made 625,855,722 02 8381 | 62585572202 | 100.00 618,499,105 78 | 8437 . 638499,105.78 100 00
scparately by : ' | ‘

i

receivables in

significant

single amount 625,855,722 02 8381 | 62585572202 | 100 00 638,499,105 78 8437 | 638,499,105 78 160.00

with bad debt |
provision made i

_separately | -

[

Bad debt '
provision made 120,865,128 65 ° 1619 81,454,644 30 6739 3941148436 11832559263 15.63 T8,091.213 26

_by combination

66 00 40,234,379 42

[ — -1 - — L LR — _—

Including ¢ : R —
Other accounts i
receivable with
bad debt

provision made | 0 0 12 68 1619 | B1.454.644 30 67.39 | 39411484 36
by combination

based on credit

risk
.Characteristios s
Total | 746,721,850 67 100.00 | 707,310,366.32 |

|
118,325,592 68 15.63 : 78,091,213 26 ‘ 6600 40,234,379.42
|

—_— _____i._

[ 3941148436 756,824,608.46 100.00  716,590,319.04 : 4023437942
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Provision for bad debts on a single item hasis:

Closing Balance
Name Book value Bad d ?bt Proportion Reason
provision . {%)
QiluReal Fstate | ¢4 406 15504 | 64,406,155.04 100,00 | EXpected to be not
Li Xiaoming | 513,223,147.00  513,223,147.00 Expected fo be not
o recoverable
PESI 48,226,419.98 |  48226,419.98 | Expected to be not
. | recoverable
Total 625,855,722.02 625,855,722.02
Provision for bad debts by combination:
Combination provision items based on credit risk characteristics:
,,,,, _...Closing Balance
~ Name Other Receivables | Bad Debt Provision Proportion (%)
Within 1 vear 9,928,2474”7.;2 496,412.29 5.00
2.3 years 24,619,047.20 4,923,809.45 ! 20.00
3-4 years 476,682.50 143,004.73 30.00
ASyears 169,456.42 ~ 67,782.57 40.00
Total 120,866,128.65 | 81,454,644.30 |
3) Provision for bad debts
Bad debt Phase 1 Phase 2 Phase 3 Total
provision Expected credit | Expected credit | Expected credit
loss in the next | loss for the entire loss for the
12 months duration {(without | entire duration
credit impairment) (with credit
impairment)
Closing balance | ,; ) 578 31 638,965,790.73 | 716,590,319.04

of last year

Last year closing
balance in this
petiod

-74,216,599.00

74,216,599.00

--Transfer to
phase 2

--Transfer to
phase 3

-74,216,599.00

74,216,599.00

—Transfer to
phase 2

--Transfer to
phase 1

Provision in

3,759,479.01

366,165.97

4,125,644.98
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current period

Reversal in 707,383.76 707,383.76
current period

Transfer in in 441,817.78 441,817.78
current period

Write-off in in
current period

Other change -241.16 -12,256,155.00 | -12,256,396.16

Closing balance 6,725,349.38 700,585,016.94 | 707,310,366.32

Other change in phase 3 of this period mainly refers to the bad debt provision of RMB
11,936,000.00 reversed due to the change of exchange rate at the end of the period of
the creditor’s right to Li Xiaoming. In this period, the assets and liabilities of Pingwu
Zhongjin are transferred to held-for-sale for accounting, and the bad debt provision
made originally was reduced by RMB 320,155.00.

The impact of translation of foreign-currency financial statements on the bad debt

provision in the current period is in the amount of RMB 17,455.69.

Changes in the book balance of other receivables are as follows:

 _Phasel Phase 2 . Phase3
Expected credit | Expected credit Expected credit
Book value loss in the next loss for the loss for the entire Total
12 months entire duration duration (with
(without credit | credit impairment)
impairment)
Closing balance
of last year 117,858,907.73 63%,965,790.73 75767@24,698.46
Amount in this
period of the
closing balance -74,216,599.00 74,216,599.00
lastyear | !
--Transfer to
phase 2
--Transfer to
phase 3 -74,216,599.00 | 74,216,599.00 |
--Transfer to
_phase 2
--Transfer to
phase 1 I T
Increase in
current period | 271,977433.38 1 271,977,433.58
De-recognition in
current period | 269,819303.12 269,819.303.12
Other change 4,823.25 -12,256,155.00 | -12,260,978.25
Closing balance 45,795,615.94 L 700,926234.73 | 746,721,850.67
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4) Bad debt provisions made, reversed or recovered in this period:

S Change in current period L

Closing Bal . { .
osing balance Provision | Reversed or Transtfz fred i Closing balance
of last year or written ; Other changes
made recovered

Category

_down

Other receivables
in significant
single amount
with bad debt
provision made
separately

638,499,105.78 707,383.76 i -11,936,000.00 : 625,855,722.02

(hher receivable
with bad debt
provision made by
combination
based on credit
risk characteristics |

78,091,213.26: 4.125,644.98 441,817.78 -320,396.16 1 81,454,644.30

Total | 716,590,319.04 | 4,125.644.98 707,383.76 | 441.817.78 | 12,256,396.16 . 707,310,366.32

Significant amount of bad debt provisioning reversed or recovered in the current
period:

The basis and
. . Reason for
Reversal or rationality of reversal or Recovery
Name of entity | recovery amount determining the recove ethod
Y original bad debt 24 m
S - provision
PESI 707,383.76 Possibility of Amounts Enforcement
__Tecovery _recovered | by court
Total 707,383.76
5 Other receivables classified by nature
Type Closing Book Balance Closing Book Balance last year
Receivables from transfer :
of shares and creditor’s 64,406,155.04 64,406,155.04
_Tights
Receivables i account 111,020,303.71 105,690,294.03
Earnest money 513,223,147.00 525,159,147.00
Iron ore construction fee 48,226,419.98 48,933,803.74
and capital occupation fee o - o
Deposits and margins 8,434,839.07 1108311816
Borrowings  from  pretty 611.892.28 | 850.045.27
Amounts received or paid | 799,093.59 702,135.22
_on behalf ) ‘ —
Total 746,721,850.67 756,824,698.46
6) Top five other receivables by closing balance classified by debtor
E : i Proportion in Total
Debtor Nature of | Closing Balance Account Ageing Closing Balance of | E:)dv:zie:r:
{ Receivables | ¢ Other Receivables | -
i 1 (%) Closing Balance
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; Proportion in Total
! ! . Bad Debt
Debtor Nargre of Closing Balance : Account Ageing Closing Balance of Provision
Receivables Other Receivables .
%) Closing Balance
2-3 years:

Li Xiaomin Earnest 3,167,147.00,

aoming money 513,223,147.00 | over 5 years: 68.73 L 513,223,147.00

........... 151005600000 b
Zibo Jinaian s
?;””d"-‘g Co,, | Curmentwith g 53 644 01 | Over 5 years 228 17,053.644.01
eramics Co., | solotes -003,644. . ,053.644.
L.
Price for

Qilu Real transfer of
Fstate Co., shares and 61,106,155.04 | Over 3 years 8.63 64,406,155.04
Lid. creditor’s ’

- rights
PSEI {ron ore 4-5 years:
International construction 3,969,949.73;
Trade Co,, fee and capital ;.  48,226,419.98 over 5 years: 6.46 48,226,419.98
Ltd, occupation fee | 44,256,47025
Shanghai
Xuxin Import Account Over 5 veass
and Export current 30,000,000.00 4 4.02 30,000,000.00

Total 672,909,366.03 90.12 672,909,366.03
5 Inventories
1) Classification of inventories

Item

Raw materials

Closing Balance

‘ Book Balance

Inventory
| Depreciation |
{Provision/impa;
: irment
: provision for
;| contract
© performance
: cost

Closing Balance of last year

Book Value

Book Balance

Inventory !
Depreciation !
Provision/Provi

sionfor |
impairment of ;
contract |
performance :
cost i

Book Value

£ 62,031,666.19 4,803,132.09 57,228.534.10

57,100,821.50 1,118,708.14_55,982,113.36

Unfinished products 14,066,500.525 14,066,500.52 25,947,807 .45 | 25.047,807.45
Development costs _3“:03,833,014.02 ” 40888301402
Eﬁ,ﬁgﬁm&? 131,926,763.07§ 22,767.481.84109, 155,23 1.2:; 10598582265 "”;79,766,404. 18 86,219,418.47:
Auxiliary materials 127065823 63532012 635329.11
Tol T 108,024.928.78 27.570,613.93/180,454,315.85 599,188, 123.85 21,520,441 44 577.667.682.41

(1) Development costs

Closing Balance

of last year

Project . Start Completion Estimated \
total Closing Balance
name date date .
_..lnyestment
Huagiao ;
City May 2018 | March 2021 | 100,000,000.00
Phase 6 i

31,914,901.79
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Project Start Completion Estimated . Closing Balance

total Closing Balance
name date date . of [ast year
S Investment
Huagiao December
City July 2021 : 355,000,000.00 376,968,112.23
2018

Phase 7 |

Total 408,883,014.02

(2) Development products

Completion | Closing Balance

Increase in

Decrease in

i Project "antf____ date of last year  : current period | current period Closmg balance
Huayiao Cily ;

Phase 1 July 200§ 161,493.84 161,499.84
Huagiao City | y\r.0 2007 5,169,214.28 5,169.214.28
Phase 2 ;
Huagiao City 1 510 3008 7,411,556.96 7,411,556.96
Phase 3
Huagiao City December

Phased | 2010 10,090,939.60 207,61 '{.46 9,883,3%%7”151”.7
Huagiao City June 2012 12,443,534.13 -17.00 12,443,517.13
Phase$ i o

Huaqiao City December !

Phase 6 2019; March, 70,709,077.84 | 33,836,649.44 ; 2.518,860.28 102,026,867.00

) 2021 _ S S I

El:‘:s‘li‘"f;’ Cty  juy2021 481,161,091.26]  481.161,091.26

" Total . 105,985,822.65 | 514,997.723.70 489.056,783.28 131,926,763.07
2) Depreciation provision for inventories and impairment provision for

contract performance cost
Increase in the Decrease in the Current
Closing Current Period Period
I Bal f : ; Closing
tem ]a ance o Reversed | Balance
ast year Amount | Other or Others (note)
Written-off’

i 1,118,708.14:3,836,684.49 152,260.54: 4,803,132.09
materials .
Development | |4 766 404 18 3.710,195.02 709,117.36 22,767,481.84
products !

Auxiliary 635,329.12 635,329.12
materials . i j N
Total 21,520,441.44: 7,546,879.51 709,117.36; 787,589.66:27,570,613.93

Note: The decrease of RMB 152,260.54 in the raw materials this year was resulting from the

translation of foreign-currency financial statements. The auxiliary materials decreased by RMB

635,329.12 this year as a result of provision for falling prices of inventories made by the

subsidiary Pingwu Zhongjin, which is transferred to held for sale assets in this period.

6 Contractual assets

1)

Information of contractual assets
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_ Closing Balance

_Closin

Balance of [ast Year

Hem | Book Balance | DPAMERt gk Value | Book Balance | PATEM gk Value
Provision __Provision
Gold sale
6,182,906.78 309,145.33 5,873,761.45 1 3,650,574.01 182,528.71 3,468,045.30
__contract B R
Total 6,182,906.78 309,14533 ¢ 5,873,76145 i 3,650,574.01 182,528.71 | 3,468,045.30

2)  Disclosure of contractual assets classified by impairment provision method

Closing Balance Closing Balance of Last Year
Impairment Impairment
Type Bookmbjlﬂance ___Provision Book BOOk balance ~_Provision | Book
| Psoport Proporti value Proport ; i Proport | valve
ti, : .
Amount {5 gy | A1 o %) Amount o ogy LA™ on (9)
Impairme
nt
provision
made
individual
Impairme
nt i
provision | 6,182,90 309,145 5,873,761 3,650,57 182,528 | 3,468,04
100.00 5.00 : 100.00 500
made by 6.78 ; .33 1.45: 4,01 a1 00 i 3.30
combinati ’
on
Including:
Contractu
al assets
with bad
debt
provision *
madeby | 6,182,90 309,145 5,873.76 3,650,57 | 182,528 3,468,04
combinati 6.78 100.00 33 500 1.45 4.01 100.00 71 5.00 5.30
on based |
on credit
risk
characteri |
sties | L i
6,182,90 309,145 5,873,761 3,650,57 182,528 3,468,04
Total 678, (00001 55 O yast agy 00000 4 5.30
Impairment provision made by combination
[tems with the impairment provision made by combination
___ Contractual assets _ Impairment Provision Proportion (%)
Contractual assets with the
bad deb 151 b
ad debt provision made by 6,182,906.78 309,145.33 5.00
combination based on credit
__risk characteristics o e
Total 6,182,906.78 | 309,145.33 |

3) Impairment provision for contractual assets in this period
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Closing P[:OV].S‘I o R.ever?d Transferred/cancelled Closing
Item Balance of in this in this s . Reason
. . in this period Balance
i lastyear : period . period
Contractual assets with ;
the bad debt provision |
made by combination 182.528.71 i 30914533 | 182,528.71 309,145.33
based on credit risk
_.characteristics e
Total 182,528.71 : 309,145.33 182,528.71 : 309,145.33

The influence of translation from foreign-currency financial statements on bad debt
provision in this period is RMB -12,550.41.

7.  Held for sale assets
. Closing Balance of
Type Closing Balancem Last Year
_Assets classified as held for sale 80,503,641.09
Assets of disposal group classified as held for
sale - o

Total 80,503,641.09
(1). Assets classified as held for sale

Closing Balance :

T Impalrn.]ent i Fair E;(pf:;:st:;i} ];:ixP CCt:l Way of! Reason Scement
YP€  Book balance | POV | Book value | value | ¥ 15pos sale | forsale | OB
for held for| expenses:  time
_____ sale assets .
Proposed
disposal
ofthe | g0,503,641.09 80,503,641.09 2022,y | Share Revitalize Other
subsidiary transfer assets companies
Pingwu
Zhongjin |
Total 80,503,641.09; 80,503,641.09

8

Other non-current assets due within one year

Item

Closing balance

Closing balance of last

year

_Debt investment due within one year |

. 4013,288.89

29,565,355.55

Total

4,013,288.89

29,565,355.55

9, Other current

assets

Closing Balance of last

Item Closing Balance
_— T A N
_Tax on pre-received house prices 964,19432 : 45,561,426.96
_____ VAT to be refunded 8,097,166.6
Deductible VAT 22,845,954.95

Deferred expenses

20,000.00
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Item Closing Balance Closing B;;z;lce of last
_Total _ 31,907,315.90 63.571.545.15

Notes to Financial Statements Page 66



Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporatien

Year 2021

Notes to Financial Statements

10.

Long-term equity investment

Investee

1 Joint venture

Goldbasin Mining ,7

(Fyz) pte Limute

PANGEA GOLD
MINING(FLIT) PTE.
LIMITED _

Closing

-‘V Investment
{Balance of last  Additional i Decreased Gains/Loss

year

\
\
|

27,508,667 04’
.

15,135,231,

42,643 898,33
42,643,898,33)

Investment i
|
!

. Equity Method.

—

! 393,660 29

2,017,603.97|

| 1,633,543 68

; Adjustment of |

1,633,943.68

Increase/decrease in this Penod

Declared Casl

{ther Changesin | Dhvidendor
Profit

Investment < Recognized in  Comprehensive: Other Equity

Income

Impairment

provision

: Translation of |

Foreign-curre . Closing Balance

ney

-1,351,907 74,

-2,152,393.11

Statements |

AU RIS

Closing

| Balance of

25,763,099 01

16.362,349 89

42,125,448 90

42,125,448.90|

Impairment

Provision
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11. Other equity instrument investment

~1) Investment in other equity instrument

Ttem

Closing balance

Non—trading equity instrument

investments measured at fair value with

Closing balance of last year

. ’ 3,753,452.39 5,371,907.43
the changes included in other :
3,753,452.39 5,371,907.43
2) Investment in non-trading equity instrument
i Amount Reasons for Reasons for
Dividend transferred designation of ;
. ; transferring
income . i from other : measurement at
. Cumulative! Accumulated ; . . other
Item recognized . 1 :comprehensive fair value .
. 0ss [ comprehensive
in the current income to through other .
: . . income to
period retained comprehensive - :
; , retained income
77777 earnings income i

Non-trading equity
instrument
investments measured
at fair value through
ather comprehensive
income

57,140,815.47

Other notes: The gains from change in fair value of RMB -1,618,455.04 for the current period are
recorded in other comprehensive income. As of December 31, 2021, the cumulative loss recorded
in other comprehensive income is RMB 5,425,851.19, and the remaining amount is the Company’s
cumulative impairment loss included in the profit and loss in the previous periods.

12.  Investment property

1) Investment property measured at cost

Item

Houses and Buildings

1. Original book value

(1) Closing balance of last year

758,892,408.74

_{2) Increase in this period

__—Purchase

assets/Transferred from
construction in process

—Increase from business
combination

(3) Decrease in this period

—Disposal

(4) Closing balance

758,892,408.74

758,892,408.74

2. Accumulated depreciation-;r;d
accumulated amortization

(1) Closing balance of last year

94,594,922.32

94,594,522.32

(2) Increase in this period

30,335,295.48

30,335,295.48

. —Accrual or amortization 30,335,295 .48 30,335,295 .48
(3) Decrease in this period
—Disposal
(4) Closing Balance 124,.930,217.80 124,930,217.80
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em — Houses and Buildings | Total _
3. Impairment provision
(1) Closing balance of last year

o Accrual
_(3) Decreage in this period
—Disposal
_____ {4) Closing Balance
4. Book value B - | o
_(1) Closing book value . 633.962,190.94 | 633,962,190.94

(2) Closing book value of last year 664,297,486.42 664,297,486.42

2} Investment property that has not completed the property right certificate

Item :  Book value Reasons for not getting the property right certificate
The transferred-in property to offset debt as ordered by
Zhonghan_ court needs to clear the formalities of completion
Commercial Plaza 44,724.968.52 | Acceptance, .ﬁre pr‘otection acceptance, and
Tower.A-No. 205 comprehensive filing acceptance. The relevant
Zhuhai Road procedures are being processed.
The transferred-in property to offset debt as ordered by
Zhonghan | ' court needs to clear the formalities of completion
Commercial Plaza . 45,679743.60 ; acceptance, fire protection acceptance, and
Tower B-No. 207 comprehensive filing acceptance. The relevant
Zhuhai Road procedures are being processed.
Total 90,404,712.12

13. Fixed Assets

(1).  Fixed assets and disposal

Ttem Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
Fixed assets 429,876,408.26 471,094,329.23
Fixed assets disposal
Total 429,876,408.26 471,094,329.23
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(2).  Details of fixed assets
Item Houses and Buildings Machiln ery and Transp ?rtalion :
. . Equipment _ Vehicles
I

1. Original book value

(1) Closing Balance of last year

(2) Increase in this period

T 5455199817

3,010,287 56

—Purchase

—Transferred from construction
in process

— Increase duc to business
combination

(3) Decrease in this period

—Disposal or scrapping

— Other changes

—Translation of
foreign-currency statements

L S8,6BS,74T04

1,988,000.0¢

. 982 34

5,
T 1,910,217.66

3,934,128.31

—2,35777989 1

" 56,696,35767_

{4) Closing Balance

2. Accumulated depreciation

(1) Closing Balance of last year

(2) Increase in this period

-~—Accrual

—Translation of
foreign-currency financial
statements

. 1a11L84650 |

14,343.97

" 30,566,941.83 [

1,876,048 88
~ 4390475.00

~512,135,950.58
T 73,458,350.34 1

it Dbt B

42338877
7519827917

46,023,363 .45

1,989,389.37 14,097,715 44 2,727,527.67
38,876,53869 | 27416538648 [
60,945,860.71 | 180,526,524.04 _ _54,108,826.5] |
. 2,38361331 19,384,122.93 .. 4,059,513 59
LA38361331, 0 1938412293

(3) Decrease in this period

49 381,615.40

2263658858

6,943,82601 |

5653961122 5

_ 405951359 F .

89,737,844 94

—Disposal or scrapping

—0Oither changes

—Translation of
foreign-currency statements

1,608,222.50

527.59894

4872555967

12,259,150.19

656,055.73

8,769,215.89 .

{4} Closing Balance

3. Impairment provision

{1) Closing Balance of last year

180,367.56 |

13,947.85862 .

2,391,005 94

1077381495

T 21358
65,009,5;

10,775,814.95 : 22,592,092.51

51,224,51409 |

23425441674 476.740.847 84
| 476,740,847 84

1365743

77.465.79 |

[
13,517,605.76 | 13,788,096.54
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Item

“@)Ingreaseinthisperiod |
_—Acovall
_{3) Decrease in thi

statements

_(#)Closing Balance
_4 Book value

(1) Closing book value  _
{2) Closing Balance of [ast year

Houses and Buildings

Machinery and Transportation Total
Equipment | Vehicles -

882422001 88242299

- .

$82,422.99
.21,349.850.24

882,422.99 |
7746579 | 2107935946
; ;

1
1

523763134 303,011,79375 | 429.876.408.26

523878712 309,480971.34 1 471,004,329 23
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14.
(1).

Construction in process

Construction in process and project materials

Item Closing Balance Closing balance of last year
Construction in process 85,106,184.84 83,516,505.04
Project materials -

Total 85,106,184.84 83,516,505.04
(2).  Breakdown of construction in process

Closing Balance Closing Balance of lastyear o
ltem Book Balance Impalrn"lent Book Value : Book Baluance Impau.'rr.lent Book Value
¢ Provision i Provision
Mine roads and
o 1,416,128.00 1,416,128.00: 1,416,128.00 1.416,128.00
Jailingponds T T
Expansion and
renovation of 33,810,326.68 33,810,326.68 | 28,129,065.66 28,129,065.66
tailing dam
Machinery and
equipment not 49 .879,730.16 49,879,730.16 53,744,364.88 153,744,364 88
nstalledyet | o
Other 226,946.50 226,946.50
Total 85,106,184.84 85,106,184.84 | 83,516,505.04 83,516,505.04
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(3).  Changes of important construction in process in this period
: i P i {Including:
J iTransferred : roportion | |ne uding . Rate of
. | : ! Other i of ‘Accumulated’ Amount !
Closing . to Fixed | | . | . ; Interest
! Increase in ; decreases | Closing |Accumulated,Completien! Amount of | of P Source of
[tem ! Budget - Balance of L g1 Assetin | ; | . . . [ Capitalized -
. This Period ! : i in This Balance | Investment ; (%) : Capitalized ‘capitalized . . Capital
| last year This ] i ) f i i .. inThis
i - | Period | in Budget | Interest mnterest in - -
o | ] ..+ Period
e ] N L ) B _ thisperod | T
Mine roads ! :
and tailing 283225600,  1.416,12800 1,416,128.00 50.00 ! | Self-raised
ponds L _ . _ 1 _ U S R R R
Expansion i ' !
and : ; .
. 35,952,089 567 2612906566 7,257,063 74’ I 157580272, 33,810,326 68 94,04 | Self-raised
renovation of ) ' | ! H i
tailing dam O M I S A L e | o
| ;
Machinery X ! .
and : | i : .
, - 6234834023 5375436488 4,182,098 15, 4,892,94392 315378805 4987973016, 7975 Self-raised
equipment not : ! ! i
installed yet | ! : Ao o e - -
Total 8328555854 11.439.061 89 1892941520 472950167 85,106,184 84 , |
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15.

Right of use assets

Item Houses and Buildings | Other Equipment :  Total
_.1 Original book value R .
_{1} Opening balance 24.058.487.66 ~ 69,687.26 1 24,128,174.92
(2) Increase in this period
—New lease
—Increase from business combination
_—Adjustment for re-evaluation ‘
(3) Decrease in this period 9327524 175962 | 95,034.86
— Transferred into fixed assets
- —Disposal
—Translation of foreign-currency 93,275.24 | 1,759.62 95.034.86
statements N
{4) Closing balance 23.965212.42 67,927.64 | 24,033,140.06
2. Accumulated depreciation &
{1} Opening balance e
(2) Increase in this period 13,126.531.67 18.873.62 @ 13.14540529
—Accrual 13,126,531.67 1887362 1 13,145,405.29
(3) Decrease in this peried 18.655.04 476.56 19,131.60
__—TIransferred into fixed assets
—Disposal
— Iranstation of foreign-currency 18,655.04 47656 19,131.60
statements . ——
_{#) Closing balance 13,107.876.63 18,397.06 | 13,126,273.69

3. Impairment provision

(1) Opening balance

(2) Increase in this period

—~Accrual

(3) Decrease in this petiod

— Transferred to fixed assets '

year

5,571,415.38

—Disposal
_{4) Closing balance
4. Book value
(1) Closing book value 10,857,335.79 49.530.58 | 10,906,866.37
(2) Opening book value 24,058 487 .66 69,687.26 | 24,128.174.92
16.  Intangible assets
(1).  Details of intangible assets
Item Mining Rights Exploration Others Total
g g Rights e
1. Original book value i
1 [
(1) Closing balance of last 0, 51 jec o) 88,009,513.69

293,892,395.78

(2) Increase in this peri

_—Acquisition

— Internal R&D

—Increase  from  business

combination

_{3) Decrease in this period

66,271,471.72 :

12,024,282.43  119.704,71891

—Disposal

—Invalid and de-recognizéél :

part

-— QOther changes

6627147172

11,928,769.76

112,409,035.16
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Item Mining Rights Exploration Others Total

i - Kights

—T |

ranslation of 7,200,171.08 95,512.67 7,295,683.75

_forgign-currency statements ) )
_(4) Closing balance 158,902,501.95 21,738,041.97 | -6.452.867.05 | 174,187,676.87
2. Accumulated amortization ;i

(1) Closing balance of last 3,670,241.78 105,840,425.07

_yedt

102,170,183.29

yedr

28,219,553.19

..{2) Increase in this period 10,406,039.33 265,029.13 | 10,671,068.46
_—Accrual 1 10,406,039.33 265,029.13 10,671,068.46
_ (3) Decrease in this period 38.210,164.69 1,521,144.58 39,731,309.27
_—Disposal

—Invalid and de-recognized
_part |
_—Other changes 34,208,793.68 1,427,778.01 35 636,571.69

—Iranslation of 4,001,371.01 93,366.57 4,094,737.58
_fg}jelgn-currency statements |
_(4) Closing Balance 74,366,057.93 241412633 76,780,184.26
3. lmpairment provision o o

(1) Closing balance of last 9,782,241.97 791,923 .87 -

38,793,719.03

_(2) Increase in this périod

_Accrual

ecrease in this period

978224197 |

9.782,241.97

Disposal

-_Invalid and de-recognized
.part

~ —COther changes

;Translation of

_ foreign-currency statements

4

4) Closing balance _ 28,219,553.19 9,782.241.97 . -8,990318.10 | 29.011,477.06
4. Book value -
" (1) Closing book value 56,316,890.83 11,955,800.00 | 12332472 | 68,396.015.55

(2) Closing book value - of 49 )| 7303 1,109,249.73 | 149,258,251.68

last year

78,227,271.72

17. Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities

(1).  Deferred income tax assets not set off

_ Closing Balance

Closing Balance of last year

Deductible Deferred Deductible Deferred
Item . .
temporary Income tax | temporary Income tax
_ differences assets differences _assets
Income tax effects on | 40,883,108.59 10,220,777.13

_bad debt provision

39,560,501.07

9,890,225.27

Income tax effects on

inventories
.. 22,767,481.84 | 5.691,870.46 19,766,404.18 4.941.601.05

depreciation
provision

me t; :
Income tax effects on 9,360,024.98 2,340,006.25 8475837636 | 21,189,594.09
pre-received amount o
Deductible loss 30,304,735 87 7,576,183.95 1,534,438.50 383,609.63
Income tax effects on

58 . . .

taxcs and surchargcs 17,079,104 4,269,776.15 21,356,130.79 5:339,032.69
Estimated liabilities 4.080,000.00 1,020,000.00 !
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__ Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
ltem Deductible Deferred Deductible Deferred
temporary income tax temporary income tax
77777 differences assets |  differences | assets
Total 124,474,455.86 31,118,613.94 166,976,250.90 41,744 .062.73
(2). Non-deducted income tax liabilities
Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
Item te]r"naxil:le . Deferred income | te];naler)elne . Deferred income
j Smporary tax liabilities smporary tax liabilities
differences differences
“Rent-frec lease | 10,876,025.30 271900633 12,008,539.46 3,002,134.86
Income tax
credits from the
_withholding tax o
Total 10,876,025.30 2,719,006.33 | 12,008,539.46 3,002,134.86

(3). Breakdown of unrecognized deferred income tax assets

Closing Balance of last

Item Closing Balance
- | : year
_Deductible loss 1 377,001,100.03 - 262,756,800.85
Bad debt provision 681,297,143.49 . 677,029.417.97
Provision for price falling of inventories | 1,118,708.14 1,754,037.26
Impairment provision for intangible 29.011.477.06 18,793.719.03
_Impairment provision for fixed assets _21,349,850.24 _13,788,096.54
_Estimated liabilities  96,889,556.06 85,482,256.92
Interest payable . * 13261361 132,613.61
Total 1,206,800,448.63 1,079,736,942.18

(4).  Due dates of deductible loss of unrecognized deferred income tax assets:

Year Closing Balance Closing Balance of Remarks
e lastyear
2021 25,641,564.34
2022 64,454,703.60 _64,454.703.60
2023 34,686,863.41 . 34.686863.41 :
L2024 .71,209,463.47 | 71,209.463.47
2925 o . 66,764,206.03 66,764,206.03
2026 ) 139,885,863.52
Total 377,001,100.03 262,756,800.85 |
18. Other non-current assets
Lo __Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
Item ' Book | Impairment Book Impairment | Book
.. Book value ..
balance : provision ~ i balance : provision ! value
Advance ; 3
payment for 9,852,483.82 | 9,852,483.82
equipment b
Total 9,852,483.82 9,852,483.82

19. Short-term borrowing

Notes to Financial Statements Page 76



Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Year 2021
Notes to Financial Statements

1) Breakdown

Closing Balance

_. Closing Balance of last year

_Pledgedborrowing

Mortgage borrowing

02,191,998.89 |

92,191.998.89

Credit borrowing o 8,660,376.31
Total 92,191,998.8% 100,861,375.20
20.  Accounts payable
1) Breakdown of accounts payable
Item Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
Project payment 75,206,237.72 83,832,282.14
Equipment payment 1,869,709.36 e 8,850,096.77
Materials payment 56,947.734.45 38,403,753.18
Other 15,126,108.71 3,050,865.04
Total 149,149,790.24 | 134,136,997.13
2) Key accounts payable with the account age exceeding one year:

Item

Closing
Balance

Reasons for Not Repaying or

_Carrying Forward

mghandong Baocheng Real Estatéwéb.,
Ltd.

Zibo Branch of Sutong Construction
Corporation

Shandong (Gaoyang Construction Co,

29,466,750 88

Settlement not completed yet

12,443,274.13 | In litig

ation

Settlement not completed yet

Litd. 6,057,924.83
Total 47 967,045 84
21 Advance receipts
1). Breakdown
_Iem Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year )
Rent received 1,628,669.92 1,616,783.28
_ Other 234,984.27
Total 1,628,669.92 1,851,767.55
22. Contractunal liabilities
1) Contractual liabilities
Item Closing Balance Closing Balance of Last
Year
_House price received 58.266,883.22 525.518.,622.76
Total 58,266,883.22 525,518,622.76

2) Amounts and reasons for significant changes of book value in the report period

Project name Closing Balance

Closing Balance of last
vear

Estimated : Proportion
completion | of advanced
date ' sales
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; Closine Bal of last Estimated Proportion
Project name Closing Balance osifig Datanice completion | of advanced
year date ! sales
Huagqlao City 99,658.10 99,658.10 | July 2006 100%
Phase 1
Huagqiao City December .
Huagiao City December
1 . . ¥
Phase 4 5,277.00 - 15,277.00 2010 9%
iao Ci .
Huagqiao City 31,386.00 9,687.00 | June 2012 99%
Phase 5 ‘ T :
Huagiao City | December .
Phase 6 58,05 1,855.}3 77777 60,715,313.80 2021 B 98%
Huagiao City October .
Phase 7 o 464.614.00986 1 oppj 100%
Total 58,266,883.22 : 525,518,622.76 100%
23 Payroll payable
(1). Breakdown
Clasing . . Translation of
: i Increase in This | Decrease in This . .
[tem i Balance of last | . . Foreign-currency | Closing Balance
Period Period
year I Statements

__f'hoﬂ"e““ bc“‘?ﬂﬁfﬂ 21,775,042.561  129.427,797.491 129,432,165.03 -1,827,362.72 ¢ 19,943,312.30
Post-employment

benefis — defined; | gr8 96700 14276787700  14.362.914.15 -384,869.39 957,971.25
contribution plan

Termination benefits 585.877.88 | 24,000.00 609.877.88

Other benefits due

within one year

Total 23,789,887.53: 143,728,585.19! I44,404,957.06§ -2,212,232.11 . 20,901,283.55

(2).  Short-term benefits

Difference
from
i . . t; lati .
liem Bgll:r?::l;go £ Increase in Decrease in ranso? ton Closing
This Period This Period . Balance
last year foreign-curr
ency
statements
(1) Salary, bonus,
allowance and 9,736,184.05 122.117,655.98 122,394,667.02 678,038.07 8,781,134.94
subsidy ¢+
(2) Employee
R 737.93
bene__ﬁ_ts 37,737 93 87, N
cial insurance
) So, 1,148,508.51 973,250.10 1,312,338.31 111,930.17 697,490.13
gxpenses .
ing: medical
?ndud 8 66,948.39 591,737.28 591,737.28 66,948.39
INsurance exXpenses !

Notes to Financial Statements Page 78



Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation

Year 2021

Notes to Financial Statements

Difference
‘ from
[tern Bgil?aril:ggo £ Increase in Decrease in transol?tlon Closing
This Period This Period . Balance
last year foreign-curr
ency
[ 1 statements
Work injury 1,081,560.12 381,512.82 | 720,601.03 4498178 697,490.13
insurance €Xpenses o ; N e
Maternity insurance
expenses
(4) Housing 170,115.99 697,891.02 697,891.02]  170,115.99
provident fund ) ,
(5) Labor union
expenditure and 6,957,389.86.  1,616,463.57 1,036,900.65! 680,182.28  6.856,770.50
employee education
expenses L
(6) Paid short-term 3,762,844.15) 393479889  3.902,630.10] 187,09621  3.607.916.73
_absence . e
(7) Short-term profit
sharingplan & .
Total 21,775,042.56 ] 129.427,797.491 129.432,165.03. 1,827,362.72. 19,943312.30
(3).  Breakdown of defined contribution plan
Closing | . . Translation of .
i Increasein : Decrease in . Closing
Item Balance of @ . . . . X Foreign-currency
\ i This Period | This Period | Balance
e e astyear . o Statements
Basic pension 1,380,041.84  14,238.429.79 | 14,324,556.24 336844.14 | 957.971.25
_Insurance R F S
Unemployment 48,025.25 3835791 8,357.91 48,025.25
Total 1,428,967.09 | 1427678770 | 14,362.914.15 |  384.869.39 | 957.971.25
24,  Tax payable
Category Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year
Individual income tax 281.398.65 604.,680.05
Property tax =~ 934,696.40 1,293,720,53
Land use tax 170,931.17 443,863.00
Corporate income tax | .202,141.12
_ Stamp duty 66.830.44 140,617.76
O _470,650.67 464,
VAT 24,192.84
Total 1,948,700.17 3,149,786.85
25. QOther payables
~ Item Closing Balance | Closing Balance of last year
Interest payable 12629950804 115,889, 884.23
Dividend payable
_____ Other payables 301,209,141.89 340,952 ,966.23
Total 427,508,649.93 456,842,850.46
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(1).  Interest payable

[tem Closing Balance Closing Balance of last
oot e e e . year
Interest payable on long term and short 8,153,818.59
terest payable fi n issued b
In payal ' o‘r loa v 118,145,689.45 111,758,049.23
_non-financial institutions
Total 126,299 508.04 . 115,889,884.23

Interest of important payment overdue

... Borrower

Amount overdue

Reason

MupmgBranch of Yantai Bank

815381859 . .

_Financial strain

Total 8,153,818.59 :
(2).  Other payables
1) By nature
Item Closing Balance Closing Balance of last year

Payables in current 7account

 81,762,742.65

Borrowing from non-financial
_institutions

93,006,569.73

Amounts received by developer |

2,253,859.77

Earnest money for purchase of

1,047 415.00

178,169,722.63 |

200,465,068.00
1,986,284.64

6,292,374.00

28752278 | o

7.167.11476
_2:033,335.10

2)

Total 301,209,141.89 340,952,966.23
Other important payables with the account age of over one year
Closing Reason for failure to pay or
Item _Balance __carry over
Cui Wei 128,000,000.00 ; Personal borrowing
Shandong Bona Investment Co., Ltd. 39,166,533.92 | Account current

 Tibet Sinolink Wealth Investment

Borrowingrfrom cher

_Management Co,, Ltd. 17,500,000.00 enterprises
Jiaging 10,500,000.00 ; Personal borrowing -
. o ' . 13,169.722.63 Borrovsimg from other
Ningbo Dingliang Huitong Equity [nvestment Center enterprises

26. Held for sale liabilities

Closing Balance of Last

Type Closing Balance Year
“Proposed disposal of the subsidiary | '
Pingwu Zhongjin 49,340,252.36

Total 49,340,252.36

(1).
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P Expected
| Closing Book @ Fair E’fpecwd )fpece Way of | Reason for
Type ; Disposal Disposal . . Segment
value Value . Disposal Disposal
! Expenses Time
Proposed
dlspc_)s?l of theé : January Equity Liquidize | Other
subsidiary i 49,340,252.36
. ; 2022 transfer assets company
Pingwu ;
Zhongjin R
Total | 49,340,252.36

27.  Non-current liabilities due within one year

Item Closing Balance Closing Balance of Last
;::rg term borrowings due within one 245,000,000.00 250,801,835.24
"-"M-t-)rtgage borrowings from
non-financial institutions due within 123,059,266.51 121,040,000.00
one year
fzzrmated liabilities due within one 74.709,924.39 63,607,813.70
Lease liabilities due within one year 9.256,371.30 |
Total 452,025,562.20 435,449,648.94

Additional notes:

The long-term loan due within one year refers to the borrowing from Muping Branch of Yantaj
Bank, for which the subsidiary Jinan Xingrui has provided credit guarantee and mortgage over real
estate. For details of the mortgage, refer to "Contingencies” in Note XI (2). For details of the

restrictions, refer to Note V (54)"Assets with limited ownership or use right".

Mortgage borrowings from non-financial institution due within one year refer to the loans
obtained by the Company from Shandong Longxin Microfinance Co., Ltd., for which Guizhou
Ronggiang Mining Co., Ltd. and the subsidiary Zibo Real Estate has provided credit guarantees
and the subsidiary Zibo Real Estate has provided mortgage over real estate. For details of the
mortgage, please refer to the Note XI {2) "Contingencies". For details of the restrictions, please
refer to the Note V (54) "Assets with Restricted Ownership or Use Right".

Estimated liabilities due within one year are incurred as a result of the provision made for
liquidated damages for the borrowings from Cui Wei and Liu Jiaqing due to the Company's failure
of repayment as per the contract, and the amount that the Company is required to pay to Sutong
Construction Group Co., Ltd. for 40% of the principal and interest of the creditor's rights of the
main debtor in accordance with the civil judgment ((2021) LMZ No. 862) issued by the High
People's Court of Shandong Province. The Company cannot extend the repayment obligation

unilaterally, so it is adjusted to "non-current liabilities due within one year".

28, Other current liabilities

77777 Item | Closing balance Closing balance of last year
Output tax to be transferred ~ 41,815,260.89
Total 41,815,260.89
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29. Lease liabilities

[tem ) o , Closing Balance
_Lease payments o ‘ . 4052,353.59
Less: Unrecognized financing expenses 745,626.33
Total 3,306,727.26

30. Long-term payroll payable
(1).  Breakdown

. Closing Bal ast
Item Closing Balance osing Balance of las
. i , year
1. Net liabilities for post-employment
benefits- defined benefit plan
2, Termination benefits )
3. Other long-term benefits 1,351,796.32 1,200,497.04
Total 1,351,796.32 1,200,497.04
31. Estimated liabilities
Closing balance of | Increase in % D‘ecregsc Closing
Ttem . . in this Reasons
last year this period . balance
period |
Liquidated
Pending litigation 4,080,000.00 4,080,000.00:damages for
: house selling
— :
E:)l;ﬁ?i:: related Expected
1o mine 21,874,443.22; 1,079,980.86; 883,721.37: 22,070,702.71ieXpenses for
. imine reclamation
reclamation i N
Total 21,874,443.22; 5,159,980.86! 883,721.37! 26,150,702.71

Additional notes:

(1) Estimated liabilities related to mine reclamation cover the mine reclamation expenses of
VGML (FJ).

(2} For the item of "Pending Litigation”, estimated loss is made for the house dispute between
Shandong Zhongrun Cerporation Zibo Real Estate Co., Ltd. and Zibo Yufeng Co., Ltd. under
litigation.

32. Share capital

. Increase (+)/decrease (—) in this period
Ttem - Closing Balance | Issue of | B c . Closing
of last year new | —onus ONVEISION  (yhers | Subtotal Balance
: share ! from reserves | !
shares "
Total
capital 929,017,761.00 929,017,761.00
share |

33 Capital reserve

Closing Increase in Decrease in Closing
tem Balan;:a:ﬂaSt This Period This Period Balance
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Closing

ltem ' Balance of last . Increase in Decrease in Closing
year This Period This Period Balance
_Capital premium ] 51,259,534.18 - - 51,259,534, 13

Total

51,259,534.18

51,259,534.18
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34.  Other comprehensive income

...Amount Incurred in This Period

Less. Amount Less. Amount , |
recorded in other | recorded in other |
. R R After-tax |
. | Amount Befere comprehensive comprehensive : , |
Closing Balance” ™ . . . : After-tax amount amount i .
Item incometax :  incomein the income in the |Less Income: . | Closing Balance
of last year T N fattributable to the  atiributable to
| amount in this ,previous period and, previous period | tax amount | , :
. ! . . parent company ' mnoer i
: period transferred 1o profit : and transferred to H ) i
L . ! shareholders
and losstn this - retained earnings . i ' |
eriod 1

L Othel:mr‘:omipireiwnsive mearme
that cannat be subseguently _3.807.396.15  -1618.455 04

-5,425.851 19

Including Changes in faur value |

of other equity instrument | 3,807,396 15 161845504 1,618,455 04 -5,425,851 19
investment .. _ e _ o . o
2. Other comprehensive mcom \‘
that will be subsequently 6,460,168 04, 31,239,11148 i | 3921556900 -35,775,72262
reclagsified as profit and loss o _'_ [ o e
Including Difference from T ! i : i
translation of foreign-currency |y 170 225 14l 33 230.111.48 1 i | 29,315,554 5%, -3,923,55690' 33,494,379 72
| :
— g e e — e — s — -7 T | s

I ¥ JELFL) . 1 | _ _t_-3,281,342,90
Total of other comprehensive | ‘ r
\ncome | -10,267,564.19| -34,857.566 52 | | -30.934,000 62, -3,923,536 90| -41,201,573 81
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35 Special reserve
Closing Balance | [ncrease in this Decrease in this
[tem - . Closing Balance
_____ _Oflastyear  period | period
Work safety 13,921.38 13,921.38
expenses o
Total 13,921.38 13,921.38
36 Surplus reserve
. Closing Balance | Opening balance | Increase in | Decrease in : .
fem | oflastyear _ this period |_this period | 058 Patance
Statutory
surplus 77,898,985.76 | 77,898,985.76 77,898,985.76
Total 77,898,985.76 | 77,898,985.76 | 77,898,985.76
37.  Undistributed profit
Item | Thisperiod | _Last period
Undistributed profit at the end of the previous year before 51325834779 | -20,409,590.01
_adjustment N
Undistributed profits at the begmnmg of the year after
adjustment (increase +, decrease -)
fits at th
Undistributed profits at the begmnmg of the year after -20,409,590.01

_ adjustment

-513,258,347.79

Plus: Net proﬁt attributable to the owner of the parent
company in the current period

_Less: Statutory surplus reserve aecrued

-129,106,677.83

-492,848,757.78

Discretionary surplus reserve accrued

General risk provision accrued

Ordinary share dividend pavable

Ordinary share dividend transferred 1o share eapltal

_ Closing undistributed profit -642,365,025.62 . -513,258,347.79
38 Operating revenue and operating expenses
1) Operating revenue and operating expenses
This Period Last Period
Tncome Expenses __Income Expenses
_Main business ____© 878,650,121.04 : 769,020,706.56 = 397,222.128.32 | 266,765,399.03
Other businesses 27,788,207.98 29.371,772.76 27,832,29048 © 29,371, 772.83
Total 906,438,329.02 . 798,392,479.32 | 425,054,418.80  296,137,171.86
Operating revenue:
Item This period Last period
Revenue from contracts with customers 878,650,121.04 397,222,1

Lease revenue

27,788,207.98 |

__Total

906,438,329.02 |

©27,832,290.48

425,054,418.80
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2) Breakdown of operating revenue

Reasons for adjustment

Operatmg venue

~Less: revenue from business unrelated to main busmess

This period : Lastperiod
906,438,329, 02 1425,054,418.80
27,788,207 o8 27,832,290.48

_Less; revenue not in commercial substance

Operating revenue with the two above deducted

. 878,650,121.04

397,222,128.32

3) Revenue from contracts

The revenue in this period is broken down as follows

Zibo Real Other Inter segment
Contract Typ;e_:m Estate ,__.YGML (UK} segments 0 f’fsge ’ Total
Type of goods: — S
Sale of house 526,731,144.31: 1.526,731,144.31
Sale of gold | 351518976.73 351,918,976.73
Total 1 526,731,144.31; 351,9]8,9?6.73} 878,650,121.04
Classification by
area of business: s -
In China 526,731,144.31, i 526 731,144.31
Overseas ‘ ) 351,918,976.73: . 351,918.976.73
Total 526,731,144.31] 351,918,976.73 . 878,650,121.04
Classification by
time of transfer:
Recognized at a 526,731,144.31 351,918,976.73 | 878,650,121.04
point mn time : . )
Recognized over a
period of time SN R
Total 526,731,144.31 351,918,976.73; 878,650,121.04
39 Taxes and surcharges
777777 ltem ~This period Last period
Gold tax ) 12,244,379.19 14,161,187.58
_House property tax _ - 3,713,972.22 3,673,100.37
_ Urban maintenance and construction tax 1,099,511.34 | 172,131.28
Land appreciation tax_ 787,971.65 173,352.10
Education Surcharge 785,365.24 91,537.45
_Land use tax 684,201.89 696,170,08
_Stamp duty ) 81,367.38 ¢ 320,836.99
Foundation for water works 3 4441.75
Business tax _1,570,670.90
Total 19,436,570.43 | 20,863,428.50
40.  Sales expenses
Item This Period |
_ Property maintenance fee 15,575,999.80 _
_Sales service expenses 208,628.73 | 58,385.60
Payroll 17323003 T 72458199
_Others 322.477.53
_Repair expenses 1,588,005.43
Total 15,969,354.48 | 2,214,690.55
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40 Administrative expenses

_ Item This Period , Last Period
Intermediary expenses 36,820,280.23 .
Payroll 2404914531 | 75,633,019.77
Rent 12,673,464.67 13,190.617.11
Depreciation and amortizatios 6,583,150.21 13,041,260.85
~ Property management and utilities 5,406,092.51 6,831,563.23
_ Others - 5,004,470.54 2,194,753.29
_Entertainment 1,878,837.29 | 1,093,258.42
_Office expenses 1,554,220.00 : 2,078,373.58
_Travel expenses e 1,499,904.35 902,852.28
Revolving materials . 473,680.59 2,710,191.91
Total 196,942,245.70 76,742.510.10
42.  Financial expenses
e Ttem ___This Period Last Period
Interest expenses . pB8578,038.13 74,023,994 .77
Including: interest expenses of lease reliabilities 1,845,640.02
Less: Interest income 935,590.65 | 3,554,786.96
Exchange loss ~8,990,638.46 33.014,079.79
Handling charges 38,138.30 52,430.09
Total 76,671,224.24 103,535,717.69
43. Other income
Item | This period | Last Period
Government subsidy i
_Individual income tax withholding charges 30,608.85
_Subsidy for stabilizing employment 5,062.68
_ VAT directly deducted 1,468.95
Total 37,140.48 8,187.624.04
44 Investment income
Item This Last
Period Period

Income from long-term equity investment calculated based on equity 1.633.943.68 | 8.488.942.87

method
Investment income from disposal of long-term equity investment 2,243,386.53
Total | 1,633,943.68 | 10,732,329.40
45 Credit impairment loss
B Item __This Period Last Period

" Bad debt loss on accounts receivable -914,973.66 | -165,522 .31

Bad debt loss on other receivables -8,942,100.87 392,705,705.75
Total -9,857,074.53 392,540,183.44
46 Asset impairment loss
~ Item . This Period | Last Period

Impairment loss for inventory value decline and contract

performance cost 7,546,879.51 -1,684,219.70
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Item

This Period | Last Period

139,167.03 185,332.78

Ifﬂpairment loss for cpﬂrii{actgssets

Fixed asset impairment los

13,725.268.78
15,863,339.89

8444,17669

_Intangible asset impairmentloss

Total 1613022323 | 28,089.721.75
47 Income from asset disposal
Item This Periad Last Period Amount recognlzed as non-recurl:ent
) profit and loss of the current period
Disposal of fixed 158,205.60 140,513.15 158,205.60
Total 158,205.60 | 140,513.15 | 158,205.60
48 Non-operating income
Item & This Period | La.st Amount recognized as non-recun:ent profit and loss of
Period __the current period
Other 240,300.00 | 240,300.00
Total 240,300.00 240,300.00
49 Non-operating expenses

This Period = Last Period

Amount recognized as

Item non-recurrent profit and loss
~___of the current period
Donation made " 5000,000.00 576,133.00 _5,000,000.00
Loss from damage and |
scrapping of non-current 710.00 298,600.43 710.00
assets R
Liqqiggfpg_q__damages _____ 16,725365.51 :  7,635,710.61 : 16,725,365.51
Total 21,726,075.51 8,510,444.04 | 21,726,075.51
50 Income tax expenses
(1). Breakdown
Item This Period _Last Period
Current income tax
Deferred income tax 10,342,320.26 1,242.025.11
Total 10,342,320.26 1,242,025.11
(2).  Adjustment of accounting profit and deferred income tax expenses
Item This Period

Total profit

-126,903,179.60

1ncome tax expense calculated at statutory (or applicable) tax rate -31,725,794.90
Effects due to different tax rates applicable to subsidiaries 757,185.85
Effects due to adjustment on income tax of previous periods
Effects of non-taxable income
Effects of non-deductible costs, expenses and losses 9,107,559.83
Effects due to using deductible losses of unrecognized deferred income tax

° . . 437,492.87
assets of previous periods )
Effects due to deductible temporary difference or deductible losses of

. . . 31,765,876.61

unrecognized deferred income tax assets of the current period
Income tax expenses 10,342,320.26
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51. Earnings per share

(1) Basic earnings per share

The basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated net profit
attributable to the common shareholders of the parent company by the weighted
average number of common shares issued by the Company.

Item

This Period

Last Period

“Consolidated net profit atributable to the common
_shareholders of the parent company

Weighted average number of common shares issued by the

| -129,106,677.83

| 492,848,757.78

929,017,761.00

929,017,761.00

-0.5305

-0.5305

Company.
_Basic earnings per share -0.1390
_In¢luding: Basic earnings per share for going concern

Basic eamnings per share for discontinued operation

01390

(2) Diluted earnings per share

The diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the consolidated net profit
{diluted) attributable to the common shareholders of the parent company by the
weighted average number (diluted) of common shares issued by the Company:

Item

_This Period

Last Period

" Consolidated net profit (diluted) attributable to the common

-129,106,677.83 |

-492,848,757.78

Weighted average number (diluted) of common shares
_issued by the Company

929,017,761.00

929,017,761.00

_Diluted earnings per share 0. 1300 |
Including: Diluted earnings per - share for continued -0.1390 | -0.5305
______ operation ‘ R
Diluted earnings per share for discontinued operatxon
52. Items in cash flow statements
(1).  Other cash received related to operating activities
Item  This Period | Last Period
77777 C g_mpensatlon for land of | primary school 8,000,000.00
_Interest income 249,776.82 413,665.37
MOther account current ) 22.509,386.69 :  14,597.998.02
~ Other monetary funds with the use restricted 30,146,912.70 ¢ 603,749.57
Total 52,506,076.21 23,615,412.96
(2).  Other cash paid related to operating activities
Item _This Period Last Period
Management expenses 41,164,114.83 _31,536,406.35
Salesexpenses 154,809.00 380.863.13
_Non-operating expenses 5,119217.24 | 651,843.61
Financial expenses 4298177 ¢ 52,430.09
_Other monetary funds with the use restricted 3,996,624.88 27,515,838.57_

Other account current

66,086,262.11

15,871,057 88

Total

116,564,009.83

76.008,439.63
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(3).  Other cash received related to financing activities
Item _ This Period Last Period
Borrowings from non-financial institutions 26738990143 :
Total 26,738,990.13 |
(4).  Other cash paid related to financing activities
Ttem ___This Period Last Period
Borrowing, t__g non-financial 1nst1tut10ns ..34,015,211.04
Lease liabilities ~14,086,558.73
Total 48,101,769.77 |
53  Supplementary information to cash flow statement
(1).  Supplementary information to cash flow statement
__Supplementary information This Period _Last Period
1. Net profit adjusted to cash flows from operatmg
_activities i
Net profit -137,245499.86 | -485,761,007.65

Plus: Credit impairmentloss

-9,857.074.53

392,540,183.44

Provision for asset impairment

16,130,223.23

28,089.721.75

Depreciation of fixed assets

112,095,403.52

" 119,728,346.40

Depreciation of bearer biological assets

Depletion of oil and gas assets

Depreciation of right of use assets

13, 145 405 20

~_Amortization of intangible assets
_Amortization of long-term deferred expenses

10, 671 068 46

14,581,616.73

Loss from disposal of fixed assets, intangible assets ‘ o

and other long-term assets (“-”" for gains)

-158,205.60

-140,513.15

71000 0

298,600.43

Loss from changes in fair value {“-” for gains)

Financial expenses (“-” for gains)

68,050,590.77

4,023,994.77

__Investment loss (“-” for gains) -1,633,943.68 -10,732,329.40
Decrease in deferred income tax assets (*-° for 10,625 448.79 1,880,753.38
G T A T 3
Increase in deferred income tax liabilities (“-" for 28312853 -638,728.27
decrease) ‘
~ Decrease of inventories (“-” for increase) 384.688,118.72 .  -181,411,750.34
__Decrease of operating receivables (“-” for increase) ! 32,809,201.84 -7,014,912.67
Increase of operating payables (“-’ for decrease) -459.966,330.90 187,785,510.30

~ Other -
___Net cash flow from operating activities

1 5,346>043'_48 j

133,229,485.72

2. Important investment
invelving no cash receipts and payments

and ﬁnancmg actw;tlesm;”-

54,418,031.00 |

Convertible corporate bonds due within one year

_ Fixed assets acquired under finance lease

3. Net changes in cash and cash equlva[ents

Closing balance of cash

4,252,902.85 |

92,462 641 81

_Less: Opening balance of eash

92,462,641.81

Plus: Closing balance of cash equivalents

94,627,346.16

Less: Opening balance of cash equivalents

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

 -88,209,738.96

-2,164,704.35
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Others are estimated liabilities accrued in this period.

(2). Composition of cash and cash equivalents

Closing Closing Balance of
Item
Balance :  last year
I. Cash 4,252,902.85 92,462,641.81
Including: cash on hold ) 26,779.61
Cash in bank readily available for payment - 4,226,123.24
Other monetary funds readily available for payment :
Deposits with central bank readily available for payment
Deposits with other financial institutions
Loans from other [inancial institutions
II. Cash equivalents
Including: Bond investment due within 3 months
111. Closing balance of cash and cash equivalents. 4,252 902 .85 : 92.462,641.81
Including: Cash and cash equivalents of which the use by : 591828941 32,105,486.68

the parent company and group subsidiaries is restricted

54  Assets with ownership or use right restricted

Item Closing Book Value Reasons for Restriction
_Monetary funds 192166453 | Fixeddeposits
Monetary funds 1,964,004.88 | Frozen in litigation
Monetary funds e 21032,620.00 | Guarantee for loan
Investment property 503,673,383.65 | Frozen in litigation
Investment property 39,884.095.17 |
Total 549.475,768.23 |

5S5. Foreign-currency monetary items

(1).  Foreign-currency monetary items

Item Closing Exchange Rate for Closing Balance Converted
Balance Translation to RMB

Money funds 5,877,092.81
Including: Fiji 1,937,704.39 3.0026 5,818,151.20
Dollar

UsD _1,600.94 6.3757 48.461.31
HKD 12,817.04 08176 1 o 1047921
EUR 0.15 7.2197 1.08

Contractual assets

6.182,906.78

"'Including: Fiji

Including: Fiji
Dollar

2,059,183.74

3.0026 6,182,906.78

514,109,324.91

1,348,713.02

4,049,645.71

Dollar :
HKD 4,500.00 3,679.20
UsD 80,000,000.00 510,056,000.00

Accounts payable

3

Including: Fiji
Dollar

25274,274.14

3.0026 75,888,535.53

Additional Notes:

Overseas operating entities of the Company:
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(1) Zhongrun Intemational Mining Co., Ltd. (“Zhongrun International”), whose principal place of

business is Hong Kong, and the functional currency is Hong Kong dollar;

(2) VGML (FJ), whose principal place of business is Fiji, and the functional currency is Fiji
Dollar;

(3) VGM (UK), whose principal place of business is England and the functional currency is
Pound.

(4) SaoCarlosMinaracao Ltd (“SCM™), whose principal place of business is Brazil and the

functional cutrency is Real.

These overseas subsidiaries determine Hong Kong Dollar, Fiji Dollar, British Pound, and Real as
their functional currency respectively according to the currency used in the major economic

environment in which they operate, which have kept unchanged during the current period.

56 Lease
(1). As the lessee

Amount in this

o o 7 ) period

_Interest expense of lease Habilities 1,845,640.02
Simplified short-term lease expenses included in relevant asset costs or current
profitsandlosges

Item

Simplified lease expenses of low-value assets included in the cost of relevant
assets or the current profit or loss (excluding short-term lease expenses of
low-value assets)

Variable lease payments not covered in measurement of lease liabilities,
_included into cost of relevant assets of the current profit or loss
_Including: those generated from sale and lease back transaction

Income from sublease of right of use assets

_Total cash outflow related to lease o 14,086,55 8.73
Relevant profit or loss generated from sale and lease back transaction

Cash inflow of sale and lease back transaction

Cash outflow of sale and lease back transaction

(2). As the lessor
1). Operating lease

Amount in this
period
_Income from operating lease 27,788,207.98

Including: income related to variable lease payments not covered in lease
receipts

Undiscounted lease receipts to be received after the balance sheet date:

Remaining leaseterm . Undiscounted lease receipts
_Within 1 year o 29,116,247.39
1-2years e 24.404,778.20
2-3 years . _16,701,505.89
3-4 years ) 15,972,359.66
4-5 years 14,367,058.99

Over 5 years o 16,659,254.22
Total 117,221,204.35
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VL.

Changes in Scope of Consolidation

No change occurs to the scope of consolidation in this period.

VIL
1

(1.

In subsidiaries

Interests in Other Entities

Structure of the Corporation

) . Sharcholding |
- : Principal Place | Registered : o :  Acguirement
Name of Subsidiary of Business Address Nature (A) Mode
Direct  Indirect
Zibo Real Estate Co. Ltd. Zibo | f;fl':.esst,
. N H 1t
of Shandong Zhongrun  [Zibo, Shandong ! Real estate 100.00 amon
{Shandong under  common
Group :
control
Zhongrun Mining . Jinan, Mining .
, Shand ) .
Development Co., Ltd. Jman ancong Shandong investment 10000 Incorpc“yiz-i“t”{on
Shandong Qiansheng .
. . Jinan, .
Economic & Trade Jinan, Shandong :Commerce 100.00 Incorporation
- Shandong
Company Limited
Shengyuanliye
Investment Management [Hangzhou, Hangzhou, ;Investment | .
. i 40.00 I
(Hangzhou) Company Zhegjiang Zhejiang management neerporation
Limited
ZHONGRUN HongKon The British Minin :
INTERNATIONAL Chinga & Virgin investi - 10000 :Incorporation
MINING CO., LTD. Islands M
| Business
Sichuan PingwuZhongjin | . . Mianyang, | . :combination not
, Sichi . ? . :
Mining Co., Lid. Pingwu, Sichuan Sichuan Gold mining 76.00 under  common
control
! Processi d Business
Tibet ZhongjinMining ~ Jomda  County, Changdu, i singan o 710 combination ot
Co., Ltd., Tibet Tibet se_ e : iunder  common
minerals ;
__icontrol
Business
VATUKOULA GOLD combination not
d ini .
MINES LIMITED (UK) | P8l England — Gold mining 7952 mder  common
control
VATUKOULA GOLD , f;f’:gf;:t o
h . 1on
MINES PTE LIMITED  'Fiji Fiji Gold mining 100.00
(F1) under  common
‘control
Business
Jinan Xingrui Commercial Jinan, combination not
. i . Shand : i ‘ 0o
Operation Co., Ltd. ;- inan, Shandong Shandong }Commerce 100.0 under  common
o __icontrol
Jiangsu Feihanlifeng B )
N ‘
Enterprise Management  Nanjing, Jiangsu | ‘anjmg, Enterprise 100.00 NBWIY
. ; Jiangsu management incorporated
Consulting Co., Ltd. : ;
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(2).  Important non-wholly owned subsidiaries

| Dividends
Profits or losses
. declared to be
. attributable to M Balance of
Shareholding S distributed to - .
Name of R minority L minority equity
e ae of Minority | minority
Subsidiary shareholders for . at end of the
Shareholders shareholders in .
the current current period
. the current
period .
S R period
Sichuan '
PingwuZhongjin 24.00 -2,039,187.67 -28,301,378.74
ZhongjinMining 28.80 -1,882.30 10,299,923.37
Co,Ld.
VATUKOULA
GOLD MINES | 2048 -6,097,752.06 41,912.854.30
_LIMITED (UK) 5 ,
Shengyuanliye
Investment
Management 60.00 3,000,000.00
{Hangzhou) Co.,
Lid.
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(3).  Main financial information of important non-whoily owned subsidiarics

‘ Closing Balance of last year

- S - RS S

Subsidiary " Current Non-current . Current Non-cutrent Total Non-current | Current Non-current Total
. . Total Assets . . L Total Assets ™
Assets Agsets | Liabihities Liabilities Liabilities Assets Liabilities Liabilities Liabilines
-— — — P N —t e L - - T -
Sichuan ] ‘. ] | !

. .. | . ;
PingwuZhongin 2198124917 7830551618 80,502 641 09 198.426,052.54 [198.426.052.54) 2.045,71757 | 7601813601 | 78,063853.58: | 187,489,645 72
Mining Co., Ltd. . U i N o o HE
Tibet Zhongjin | : ‘ )

Mining Ce., Ltd. 22382164 83 13,385,458 22,371,060 61 13.399‘095_0” 35.770,158.6 i
4 S - (— - — — - —_—— — SRS — - — . . [ — - _
VATUKOULA ! ! ;
GOLD MINES | ‘ ! . : [ : :
120,107.006 27: 614,693,087 28 734,800,093 5. B8.826,271.76  441,321,945.92 530,148 217 68 137,790,905 48 656,671 079 36,794,463 984 B3 BR 547.978.50, 452,331,957 91! 540879936 4]
LIMITED (UK) ‘ \ ! : ! ! | : :
T - ;
Thus Period I Last Period
[ — NI L. SV R — 1 g — o — -
. Total ' Total i
Name of Subsidi | eratin| Cash Flow from Operattn i Cash Flow from
ary 1o & Net Profit Comprehensive . P u NetProfit |  Comprehensive | . .
| Income Operating Activities Income Operating Activities
e e _ - oy Imcome | " _ T S .Inggme R
Sich PingwuZhongjin :

tchuan TIRE & 8496615 21 2496,613 21 2,762,578 11 -8,257,900 24 825790024 506,219 16
Mim 9., Ltd. _ T o . o . Vo T _
Tibet Zhongpn  Minung | . :

hong B | ' -6.535,78 -6,535.78 | -33.564 78 -1,594.14 -1,594 14 -1,5%4 14
Lo ld, | -— e — e — e e e o e e Y I
VATUKOULA GOLD MINES | , ' .
. . 351918976 73 . «29.7M4,179.97 4%,932,172.56 | 100,319,592 04 | 388,769,586 65 : 66,737902.58 ‘ 59,246,228 63 | 123 862,992 9)
LIMITED (/K) ; :
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2 Transactions resulting in changes of shares in the owner’s equity of
subsidiaries after which the Company still takes control of the subsidiaries

None
3 Interest in joint venture or associates

(1).  Financial information of non-important joint ventures and associates

Closing Balance of last
year/Amount in last
oo pevIO

Closing Balance/Amount
in this period

Associates
Total investment by book value | 42,12544890 | 4264389833
Totals calculated based on 1,633,943 68 8.488,942 87
shareholding ’
" Net profit 1,633,943 68 8.488.042 87

—— (ther comprehensive income

— Total comprehensive income

VIII. Risks Related to Financial Instruments

The Company faces various financial risks during its operation, including credit risk,
liquidity risk and market risk (including exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, and
other price risks). The risks and the risk management policies taken by the Company
for mitigating these risks are described below

The Board of Directors takes full responsibility for the determination of risk
management objectives and policies, and is ultimately responsible for the risk
management objectives and policies. The Board of Directors has authorized the audit
department of the Company to design and implement proper procedures that ensure
the effective implementation of the risk management objectives and policies. The
Board of Directors reviews the effectiveness of the implemented procedures and the
rationality of the risk management objectives and policies through quarterly reports
submitted by the audit director. The internal auditors of the Company also audit the
risk management policies and procedures and report the findings to the audit
committee.

The overall risk management objective of the Company is to develop the risk
management policies that minimize the risks without compromising the
competitiveness and response capability of the company.

(1) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk resulting from the failure of the counterparty to perform
its obligations which causes financial losses to the Company.

The Company manages the credit risks by class by portfolio. As of December 31,
2021, the maximum credit risk exposure that may cause financial loss to the Company
mainly comes from the loss of financial assets it may suffer from due to the failure of

Notes to Financial Statements Page 56



Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
Year 2021
Notes to Financial Statements

the counterparty to perform its obligations, mainly including monetary funds,
accounts receivable, and other receivables. Their carrying values represent the highest
credit risk the Company faces in relation to financial risks.

The monetary funds of the Company are mainly the deposits in the reputational
state-owned banks with high credit rating and other large and medium-sized listed
banks. In the opinion of the Company, major credit risk exists and the major loss due

to bank default is impossible.

In addition, the Company has established proper policies to control the credit risk
exposure of notes receivable, accounts receivable, accounts receivable financing and
other receivables. The Company evaluates the customer's credit qualification and sets
proper credit periods for them based on their financial status, the possibility of
obtaining guarantee from a third party, track records of credit and other factors such as
the current market conditions. The Company monitors regularly the credit records of
the customers. For the customers with poor credit records, the Company will issue
written reminder, shorten or cancel the credit period to ensure that the overall credit
risk is within a controllable range.

(2)  Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk refers to the risk of shortage of funds when an enterprise fulfills its
obligations settled by cash or other financial assets.

The liquidity policy of the Company is to ensure adequate cash to repay the debt due.
The liquidity risks are centrally controlled by the Finance Department of the Company.
By monitoring the cash balances, securities readily realizable, and rolling forecasts of
cash flow for the next 12 months, the Finance Department ensures that the Company
has sufficient funds to repay debts in all reasonably foreseeable situations.
Furthermore, the Company is under continuous monitoring for compliance with the
provisions of the loan agreement and obtaining commitment for sufficient reserve
from major financial institutions to meet the short-term and long-term capital needs.

The financial liabilities of the Company are listed below by the due date based on
undiscounted contractual cash flow:

Item Within 1 year | 1-2 years 2-5 years Over 5 Total
: years
Short-term 92,191,998.89 | 92,191,998.89
_borrowing - "
Other payables  427,508,640.93 | 427,508,649.93
Non-current
liabilities  due @ 452,025,562.20 452,025,562.20
_within one year [
Lease payments 9,741,581.89 | 759,851.55 | 1,340,204.50 | 1,952,297.49 | 13,793,935.43
Total 981,467,792.91 | 759,851.55 | 1,340,204.50 | 1,952,297.49 | 985,520,146.45
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_ Closing Balance of lastyear
Repaid Over |
Item - 1-5
on Within 1 year lazrs ears 5 Total
| demand y Yoars | years
_Short-term borrowing | | 100,861,375.20 : 1 100,861,375.20
bl
Notes payable and 134,136,997.13 134,136,997.13
__accounts payable Tty
_Other payables ; | 456,842 850.46 456,842,850.46
Non-current liabilities
wrre ¢ 435,449,648.94 | 435,449,618.94
_due within one year i
Total 1,127,290,871.73 § 1,127,290,871.73

3) Market risks

The market risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of financial
instruments fluctuates due to changes in market prices, including exchange rate risk,
interest rate risk and other price risks.

@. Exchange rate risk

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in exchange rate.

The Company continuously monitors the volume of foreign currency transactions and
foreign currency assets and liabilities to minimize the foreign exchange risk. In
addition, the Company may also sign forward foreign exchange contracts or currency
swap contracts for the purpose of avoiding exchange rate risk. During the current
period and the previous period, the Company did not sign any forward foreign
exchange contracts or currency swap contracts.

The exchange rate risks of the Company mainly come from the financial assets and
financial liabilities denominated in US dollars. The amount of foreign currency
financial assets and foreign currency financial liabilities converted into RMB amounts
are listed as follows:

Closing balance Closing balance of last year
Ttem Other | | Other
USD foreign Total USDb i foreign Tota)
currency — ol A S
Monetary
48,461 31 5,828,631 50 5,877,092 81 21,245 065.64 21,245,063 64
fands e L e
Contractual
6,182,905 10 6,182,905 10 3,650,574.01 ; 3,650,574 01
. RS S ST NN e —
Other
. 510,056,000.00 4,053,324.90 0 514,109.324.90  521,992,000.00 1,246,72742 )  523,238,72742
Accounts ; :
75,888,535.53 ¢ 75,888,535 53 54,284.756.52 ¢ 54,284,756 52
____ payable 7 :
Other
26,238,576.76 26,238,576 76 10,785,%60.06 10,785,960.06
Jpayables . e -
Total 510,104.461.31 | 118191,97379 | 62829643510 | 521,992.000.00 | 91.213083.65 613,205,083 65

2 Other price risks
Other price risk refers to the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial
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instrument fluctuates due to market price changes other than exchange rate risk and
interest rate risk.

Other price risks of the Company mainly come from the equity instrument
investments invested which may suffer from the risk of price changes.

As of December 31, 2021, if all other variables remain unchanged and the value of
equity instruments increases or decreases by 10%, the net profit of the Company will
increase or decrease by RMB 0.00, and other comprehensive income will increase or
decrease by RMB 375,345.24 (December 31, 2020: net profit: RMB 0.00; other
comprehensive income: RMB 554,459.5). The management believes that 10% could
reasonably retlect the reasonable range of value changes ot the equity instruments n
the next year.

IX. Disclosure of Fair Value

Fair value measurements are categorized into a three-level hierarchy, based on the
type of inputs to the valuation techniques used, as follows:

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for items identical to the
asset or liability being measured.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than the quoted prices in determined in level 1 that are
directly or indirectly observable for that asset or liability.

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs of the related assets or liabilities.

Each fair value measurement is categorized based on the lowest level input that is
significant to it.

1. Closing fair value of assets and liabilities measured at fair value
__Closing Fair Value o
Fem ' Measurement of Measuremen.t of Measuremen.t
" Level 1 Fair Value Level 2 Fair of Level 3 Fair Total
Value Value
1.Continuing ;
measurernent of
fair value
/A Other equity
instrument i 3,753,452.39 3,753,452.39
investment |
Total assets 3
measured at fair 3,753,452.39 3,753,452.39
value continuously
2 Basis for determining the market value of fair value of continuing and

non-continuing measurement of level litems

The Company determines the market price of level | fair value measurement items
based on the open price in the open equity market. The Company holds 15 million
shares in the subsidiary Canadian Zinc Corporation, the market value of which is 0.75
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million Canadian dollars calculated at 0.05 Canadian dollars per share based on the
closing price in Toronto Securities Exchange on December 31, 2021.

X. Related Parties and Related Transactions

1 Information about the parent company
Voting
" Placeof | Registered Shareholding of Ratio of
Name Incorporation Nature | Capital Parent Parent
(10,000) | Company (%) | Company
(%)
Ninghao
Ranchengcheng Far = i
Investment Ningbo | [OVESmENl | 5353000 1 25.08 25.08
Management ! management
Partnership (limited:
partnership) ‘

As of December 31, 2021, the ultimate controller of the Company is Mr. Guo
Changwei who holds 100% shares of Ransheng Wealth Capital Management Co., Ltd.
(“Ransheng Wealth”). Ransheng Wealth holds 80% shares of Ransheng (Ningbo)
Equity Investment Fund Management Co., Ltd. (“Ransheng Equity and Fund”) which
exercises control over Ranchengcheng Far as a general partner.

As of December 31, 2021, Ningbo Meishan Bonded Port Zone Ransheng Shengchang
Investment Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Ransheng Shengchang”)
holds 4.91% shares (45,612,401 shares) of the Company, which is related to
Ranchengcheng Far and constitutes a person acting in concert.

2. Subsidiaries of the Company
Refer to Note VII “Interests in Other Entities”.
3 Joint ventures and associates

Refer to Note VII “Interests in Other Entities” for the key joint ventures and
associates of the Company.

4 Other related parties

_Name of Related Party . Relationship with the Company
Ransheng Shengchang Under common control by the same real

controller

Shandong Bona Investment Co., Ltd, i Minority shareholder of the Company
Huaxia Yuanji Real Estate Development Co., | Under common control by the same real
Ltd. controller
5 Related transaction

{(1).  Related transaction in purchasing/selling of goods, providing and receiving
services

None
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(2).  Related transaction in entrusting or entrusted management/contracting

None

(3). Related transaction in lease
None

(4).  Related transaction in guarantee

As the guarantee:

Guarantee
Guaranteed |  Effective Expiry
Guarantor Amount Date Date ! Fulfilled or
Shandong Zhongrun
Corporation Zibo Real Estate 50,000,000.00 2015/8/19 2022/8/11
Co., Ltd. ~ No
Shandong Zhengrun
Corporation Zibo Real Estate i 70,000,000.00 2019/8/23 2022/8/11
Co,Ld. | _Ne,
Shandong Zhongrun
Corporation Zibo Real Estate 92,000,000.00 2021/3/31 2022/3/25
Lo, Ld. j No.
Shandong Zhongrun
Corporation Zibo Real Estate 23,465,068.00 | 2018/12/20 2019/6/30
Co., Ltd. | _No_
Zhongrun Mining
Development Co., Ltd. 23AG068.00 | 20181220 | 20196730 No
Jinan Xingrui Commercial i
Operation Co., Ltd. | 2,000,000.00 : 2019/10/15 2021/10/14 »  No
Jinan Xingrui Commercial
Operation Co,, Ltd, B0 | i | 2muote Yes
Jinan Xingrui Commercial 113,000,000.00 | 2019/10/18 | 2021/10/17
Operation Co., Ltd. T No
(5). Borrowing to/from related party
None
(6).  Asset transfer and debt restructuring of related party
None
(7).  Remuneration of key management personnel
Item This Period . Last Period
Remuneration of key management personnel (RMB
10,000) 556.31 485.73

6. Receivables and payables of related party
1) Payables

Closing book

Item Related party balance

- Closing book balance of last

year

QOther payables |
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Item Related party Closing book Closing book balance of last
balance year
Shandong Bona

Investment Co., Ltd.

39,166,533.92

Huaxia Yuanji Real
Estate Development
Co., Ltd.

500,000.00

XI. Commitments and Contingencies

1 Significant commitments
None,
2 Contingencies
(1).  Guarantees between companies within the scope of consolidation

1) As of December 31, 2021, credit guarantees provided by the subsidiaries to the
Company are as follows (unit: 10,000)

(Limited Partnership)

Balance of Loan
Guarantor : Guarantee Lender Guaranteed Maturity
Loan ___Date
Zibo Real The Shandong Longxin
_Estate Company |  Microfinance Co., Ltd. 4’91867 2022/8/11
Zibo Real The Shandong Longxin :
Estate  : Company Microfinance Co., Ltd, 7’000'997” 2022/8/11
Zibo Real The Lixia Sub-branch of Jinan
Estate Company Rural Commercial Bank Co., 9,200.00 2022/3/25
Litd,
Jinan The Bank of Yantai Co., Ltd. 13,200.00 ; 2021/10/16
~ Xingrui _Company Muping Sub-branch
Jinan The Bank of Yantai Co., Ltd. 11,300.00 ¢ 2021/10/17
_Xingrui Company Muping Sub-branch
Zhongrun The Ningbo Dingliang Huitong
Mining Company Equity Investment Center 1,31892 . 2019/6/30
(Limited Partnership)
Zibo Real The Ningbo Dingliang Huitong
Estate Company Equity Investment Center 1,318.92 2019/6/30

2) Property-based mortgage guarantees provided between companies in the scope of
consolidation as of December 31, 2021 (unit: 10,000)

| Original Outstandi
. rigina Book utstanding Loan
Subject Matter | Book Amount of .
Guarantor | Guarantee . Mortgagee Value of Maturity
} of Mortgage | Value of Mort Guaranteed Date
Mortgage 0 gage Loan
Zibo Real The Axis 1-10,
Estate : Company Shandong ! Commercial 4.918.67 202?/8/“
Longxin | Buildi
. Longxn . Building L North | 1) <561 g 04002
Zibo Real The Microfinance District, : 200000 2022/8/11
Estate | Company Co., Ltd. Zhongrun A
Huagiao City
Zibo Real The Lixia ‘ Zhongrun
Fistate Company | Sub-branch of | Complex 7,226.07! 6,182.72 9.200.00 : 2022/3/25
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1)

2)

| Jinan Rural |
¢ Commercial
) BankCo,ttd.;
Jinan. The Zhongrun Century 13,200.00 | 2021/10/16
Xingrui  : Company City Commercial e
-302
Bank of 30
Yantai C Zhongrun Century
N - L J %5 | City Commercial | 41956411 36,143.70
X_'“a“_ c © S b‘r’“P'Eg -203 : 11,300.00 | 2021/10/17
mgru ompany ane Zhongrun Century
City .
Commercial-204
(2).  Other contingent liabilities and their financial ettects

Zibo Real Estate, a subsidiary of the Company, provides phased guarantee for
the commercial housing purchaser’s mortgage loans according to the business
practices of real estate enterprises. As of December 31, 2021, the subsidiaries
of the Company had undertaken phased guarantees totaling to RMB
6,394,700.

Pending litigations

According to the Civil Decision of the People's Court of Zibo High-tech
Industrial Development Zone (LU[2021]No. 0391 ZB265), Sutong
Construction Group Co., Ltd. made an application for freezing the bank
deposit of RMB22.375 million of Shandong Zhongrun Corporation Zibo Real
Estate Co., Ltd. on the grounds of construction contract dispute. As of
December 31, 2021, the funds were not frozen yet because they were subject
to other freezing procedures. As of the date of approval of these financial
statements, the actual frozen bank deposits were RMB6,973.78.

On January §, 2022, Zibo Arbitration Commission issued an arbitration award
(ZZC[2020]No.544), under which Shandong Zhongrun Corporation Zibo Real
Estate Co., Ltd. was required to pay project costs & expenses and liquidated
damages totaling RMB 24.678 million, along with the capital occupation
interest, to Sutong Construction Group. For such award, Shandong Zhongrun
Corporation Zibo Real Estate Co., Ltd. has applied to Zibo Intermediate
People’s Court for abrogation on the grounds that the arbitration procedure
was illegal and the award was ungrounded in both fact and legal aspects. It is
expected that the award might be partially revoked and therefore, it is
impossible to predict the losses that Zibo Real Estate may suffer from such
litigation.

According to the enforcement decision of the People's Court of Zibo High-tech
Industrial Development Zone (LU[2021] No. 0391 ZB522), the applicant Zibo
Yufeng Real Estate Co., Ltd. submitted an application for property
preservation on December 21, 2021. After review, the court decided to freeze
the bank deposit of Zibo Real Estate Co., Ltd. up to RMB 9,750,000.00, and if
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the amount of such bank deposit is less than RMB 9,750,000.00, the court
would attach the assets of Zibo Real Estate Co., Ltd. based on the amount in
shortage. As of December 31, 2021, the amount actually frozen was
RMB114,937.18. The case was heard on March 10, 2022 and the judgment has
not been made.

According to the enforcement decision of the People's Court of Zibo High-tech
Industrial Development Zone (LU[2021]No0.0391 ZB514), the applicant Geng
Jiasheng applied to the court for property preservation on the grounds of
project construction contract dispute on December 13, 2021. After review, the
court decided Lo fieeze the bank deposit of Zibo Real Estate Co., Ltd. in an
amount of RMB 337,065.99. As of December 31, 2021, the amount actually
frozen was RMB225,156.11. On February 28, 2022, the court deducted the
amount payable and the case was closed.

Events After the Balance Sheet Date
Transfer of the shares of the subsidiary Pingwu Zhongjin

On December 31, 2021, Zijin Mining South Investment Co., Ltd. (Zijin South)
signed a share transfer agreement with the Company and its subsidiary
Pingwu Zhongjin, under which the Company transferred 76% shares it held in
Pingwu Zhongjin and the creditor's rights of RMB 145,237,801.28 held by
Zhongrun Mining Development Co., Ltd. to Zijin South. According to the
valuation report issued by Shandong Duliangheng Assets Valuation Co., Ltd.,
with due consideration given on the current market, policies and other factors
and through negotiation between the parties, the price of the 76% shares in
Pingwu Zhongjin was determined as RMB323 million, and the total price for
the shares and creditor's rights to be transferred was RMB 468,237,801.28,
which would be paid by Zijin South to the designated account of the Company
in cash. To guarantee performance of its obligations under the share transfer
agreement, the Company agreed to create a pledge over 100% shares held by
Zhongrun Mining in Zhongrun International Mining Co., Ltd. in the favor of
Zijin South, as a security for the Company’s performance of its obligations
under the share transfer agreement.

As required in the share transfer agreement, the Company completed the share
transfer procedures on January 25, 2022 and 76% shares of Pingwu Zhongjin
held by the Company were transferred to Zijin South, after which the
Company held no share in Pingwu Zhongjin. The 100% shares of Zhongrun
International Mining Co., Ltd. held by Zhongrun Mining were pledged in the
favor of Zijin South.

On January 26, 2022, Pingwu Zhongjin received a letter from Pingwu Natural
Resources Bureau (PZRZH[2022]No.24), which stated that the scope of the
gold mining right (C5100002009084120033612) held by a silver plant of
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Pingwu Zhongjin, and the exploration right retained after application for
withdrawal (T51120080402005069) was not involved in the national giant
panda park and other nature reserves.

After the transaction is completed, the scope of the Company's consolidated
statements will be changed, and Pingwu Zhongjin will not be included in the
scope of consolidation.

As of the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company has
received RMB223 million for share transfer and RMB145,237,801.28 for
creditor's right transfer paid by Zijin South in three tranches. According to the
contract, Zijin South shall pay RMB 100 million in the fourth payment within
seven (7) working days since the date that it was confirmed that the
mining/exploration rights was not involved in the red line of the approved
ecological protection scope of Sichuan Province. The termination clauses in
the contract stipulated that if the red line of the giant panda reserve or
ecological protection area was not approved or confirmed by relevant
government departments within three years from the date of the contract, Zijin
South would have the right to decide whether to terminate the contract since
the fourth year.

Warning Letter from Shandong Branch of China Securities Regulatory
Commission

On March 24, 2022, the Company issued a notice stating that it received a
warning from Shandong Branch of China Securities Regulatory Commission
titled “Decision on Issuing Warning Letter to Zhongrun Resources Investment
Corporation and Zheng Fengwen” ([2022]No.7). It was stated in the warning
letter that: on August 6, 2012, Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation
entered into a title transaction contract with Qilu Real Estate Co., Ltd., under
which Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation agreed to transfer 100%
shares it legally held in Shandong Shengji Investment Co., Ltd. and the
creditor’s rights it held to Shandong Shengji Investment, and it constituted a
related transaction in nature. However on August 7, 2012, Zhongrun
Resources Investment Corporation issued the Announcement of Resolution on
the 26" Meeting of the 7" Term of Board of Directors and the Announcement
on Transfer of Shares and Creditor's Rights of Shandong Shengji Investment
Co., Ltd., which disclosed the transaction and stated that the transaction did
not constitute a related transaction. Such behavior has violated Article 2 and
Article 58 of the Administration Measures for Information Disclosure of
Listed Companies (Order No. 40 of CSRC) and according to Article 59 therein,
China Securities Regulatory Commission issued a warning letter to Zhongrun
Resources Investment Corporation and Zheng Fengwen, which would be
recorded in the credit archives of the securities market.

Other Significant Events
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1 Correction of accounting error in previous period
None
2 Debt restructuring
None
3 Asset swap
None
4 Annuity plan
None
5 Discontinued operation
None
6 Segment information
(1).  Basis for determination and accounting policies of report segmentation
The Company determines the operating segments based on the internal
organizational structure, management requirements, internal reporting system,
and determines the reporting segments and discloses the segment information
by operating segments.
The Company has identified three reporting segments by product and
geographical location: Zibo Real Estate engaged in real estate development,
VGML (FJ) engaged in overseas gold mining, and other companies engaged in
gold mining or other mineral investment and exploration activities in China.
(2). Financial information of report segment
[tem . Zibo Real VGML = Other Inter-segment Total
. Estate | (UK) = companies setoff |
Income from external ¢, 04793 3519190 1,608.70 90,643.83
transactions
Income from
inter-segment
transaction
Income from 7 ; :
Investment In 16339 | 163.39
associates and joint : ;
.ventures
Credit impairment loss__ 13222 | -1513 -1,102.80 | ‘ -985.71
Asset impairment loss 371.02 | -1,24200 2,484.00 1 1,613.02
Depreciation and :
o 534.06 925110 3,805.03 13,590.19
amortization ? *

Total profit (loss) 1,900.02 . -2,977.42 32,694.48 | 44,307.40 | -12,690.32
Income tax expense 103423 1,034.23
Netprofit (loss) 86579 -2,977.42 32,694.48 | 44,307.40 ©  -13,724.55
Total assets 3527023 7348001 . 227.944.04 167,891.78 | 168,802.50
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Zibo Real | VGML Other | Inter-segment

~ Estate | (UK) companies |  setoff Total

Item

' Total liabilities

1880678 | 5301482 12285544 6602804 | 128,649.00

Other important
non-cash items

15,394.00 | 8,121.84 ‘ 62,478.73 63,509.77 22,484 .80

Non-cash expenses

other than depreciation | 1,413.11 1,413.11

_.and amortization
Long-term equity
investment in
associates and joint
ventures

4212.54 ! 4,212.54

Ingrease in
non-current assets
other than long-term
equity investment

-1,596.60 -3,160.91 -9,473.52 -14,231.03

7

ey

Other significant matters that influence the decisions of investors.

As of December 31, 2021, the principal of borrowings from non-financial
institutions which have become overdue and not repaid yet was RMB 178
million, consisting of RMB 128 million from Cui Wei, RMB 13.1697 million
from Ningbo Dingliang, RMB 17.5 million from Tibet Guojin, RMB10.5
million from Liu Jiaging, RMB 5 million from Hangzhou Guoyu Asset
Management Co., Ltd, and RMB 4 million from Xu Feng.

On May 13, 2020, Cui Wei filed a lawsuit over borrowing dispute to Shanghai
High People's Court, which was rejected on February 26, 2021. Later Cui Wei
was sentenced for criminal offence and the borrowing would be recovered by
the court following criminal procedure. On August 6, 2021, it was confirmed
by the Company, the lawyer, and the court through recorded conversation that
a total of RMB150 millton (including principal and interest) shall be repaid
and the following repayment schedule was agreed: RMB 18 million to be
repaid in 2021, RMB 45 million to be repaid in 2022, and RMB 87 million to
be repaid prior to September 30, 2023.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company has repaid RMB 12 million and after
the date of approval of the financial statements, repaid another RMB 6 million,
which means that the Company has repaid totally RMB18 million as of the
date of approval of the financial statements. Although it was clearly stated in
the conversation records that the Company should be relieved from the debt to
Cui Wei after repaying the RMB 150 million according to the repayment
schedule, the risk still existed because once the Company failed to repay the
RMB 150 million within the time period scheduled due to tight cash flow, the
total amount of to be repaid would be recalculated.

On December 30, 2020, the People's Court of Chaoyang District of Beijing
issued a civil judgment that required the Company to repay the borrowing
(principal of RMB23.4651 million and the interest) to Ningbo Dingliang. The
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Company appealed to Beijing Intermediate People's Court for such judgement
and the court issued a civil judgment on May 26, 2021 that rejected the
Company's appeal and affirmed the judgement in the first instance. On
December 27, 2021, the two parties reached a settlement agreement and as of
the date of approval of the financial statements, the Company has repaid up all
of the borrowing to Ningbo Dingliang according to the settlement agreement.

The Pledge over Shares Contract between Ranchengcheng Far (the controlling
shareholder of the Company) and TF Securities become mature on January 17,
2020. The two parties made active discussions, Ranchengcheng Far intended
to settle the debts in significant amounts through extension or repurchase of
shares, but the finalized extension agreement has not been executed yet. As of
the date of approval of the financial statements, Ranchengcheng Far held
233,000,000.00 (accounting for 25.08%) shares of the Company, all of which
were subject to the pledge and have been frozen.

On April 15, 2020, the Company received a Notice of Investigation from
China Securities Regulatory Commission which stated that the Company was
suspected to violate the securities laws in its disclosure of historical issues and
China Securities Regulatory Commission would initiate an investigation on
the Company. In December 2021, the Company received an administrative
punishment decision ([2021]No.133) issued by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission which issued a warning and imposed a fine of RMB
300,000 on the Company, and warning and fines to the concerned management
personnel and other persons liable directly.

On April 23, 2020, Sutong Construction Group Co., Ltd. filed a lawsuit to the
court on the grounds of borrowing dispute. The plaintiff stated that on June 20,
2018, the Company issued a guarantee in the favor of Sutong Construction
Group Co., Ltd., under which the Company agreed to provide guarantee for
the obligation of repayment of the borrowing of RMB35 million issued by
Sutong Construction Group Co., Ltd. to Kunlun Jiangyuan Industrial Trade
Co,, Ltd. that had not been repaid yet. However such gnarantee did not go
through the standard sealing procedures required in the internal regulations
and the approval procedures of BOD and General Meeting, and the
information was not disclosed. On December 25, 2020, the Company received
the civil judgment of LU (2020) No. 01 MC1218 issued by Jinan Intermediate
People's court, which stated that the creditor's rights enjoyed by Sutong
Construction Group Co., Ltd. against the main debtor have exceeded the
limitation of action and all claims of Sutong Construction Group Co., Ltd.
were rejected. Later, Sutong Construction Group Co., Ltd. filed an appeal to
Shandong High People's Court. On May 15, 2021, Shandong High People's
Court tssued a civil judgment LU(2021)MZ No.862) which ordered the
Company shall assume supplementary compensation liability at 40% of the
principal and interest of the creditor's rights of Sutong Construction Group Co.,
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Ltd. to the main debtor. Through preliminary investigation, the Company

found that the guarantee was created because the official seal of the Company
was stolen, and so the guarantee should be invalid. Later the Company

reported the case to Jinan Public Security Bureau for investigation of the fact
and identifying the person liable. In November 2021, the Company submitted
an application for retrial to Shandong High People's Court for revoking the
civil judgment of LU(2021) MZ No.862, which was accepted on December 13,
2021 as per the acceptance notice of LU (2021) MS No.12962. As of the date
of the audit report, the case was still pending.

In order to ensure normal operation, the Company has made repayment as per
the judgement of Shandong High People's Court. On January 20, 2022, Jinan
Intermediate People's Court issued the Closing Notice of LU(2021) Z
No.1729.

As for the contractual dispute between Ranchengcheng Far (the controlling
shareholder of the Company) and Huayou Capital Management, the civil
judgment of LU (2020) MZ No.2404 made by Shandong High People's Court
has taken legal effect and Huayou Capital Management has made an
application to Jinan Intermediate People's Court for enforcement of the
obligations required in the judgment. Jinan Intermediate People's Court
accepted the application on January 29, 2021 and March 4, 2021. In
September 2021, Ranchengcheng Far and Huayou Capital Management
reached an enforcement settlement agreement and submitted it to the court,
which suspended the enforcement procedure. The assets seized and frozen of
Ranchengcheng Far will be gradually released with the fulfilment of the
settlement agreement by Ranchengcheng Far.

On May 13, 2021, the People's Court of Wendeng District of Weihai issued the
Civil Judgment of LU (2020) No.1003 MC5621 for the dispute over the right
of revocation in bankruptcy between the Company and the administrator
Shandong Shengji Investment Co., Ltd., which revoked the mediation JZCZ
(2014) No.1042 made by Jinan Arbitration Commission (in the arbitration
mediation, it was confirmed that Shandong Shengji Investment Co., Ltd.
should provide unconditional joint and several liability guarantee for the
repayment to the Company to be made by Qilu Real Estate and the Company
decided to exercise financial supervision on Shandong Shengji Investment Co.,
Ltd.. The Company made an appeal to Weihai Intermediate People's Court and
the court issued the civil decision of LU (2021) No. 10 MZ 1693 on June 24,
2021, which revoked the judgement in the first instance and returned the case
to the People's Court of Wendeng District for retrial. On April 8, 2022, the
People's Court of Wendeng District issued the civil decision of LU (2021) No.
1003 MT 312, in which the court held that the limitation of action (6 months}
for the administrator (Shandong Shengji Investment Co., Ltd.) to apply for
revocation of the arbitration mediation of JZCZ (2014) No.1042 made by
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Jinan Arbitration Commission had been exceeded and therefore the application
of the applicant Shandong Shengji Investment Co., Ltd. was rejected.

For meeting the capital needs of mine expansion, VGML (FJ), a subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a metal streaming agreement with Sandstorm on
June 28, 2021. Metal streaming is a kind of financing in nature under which
Sandstorm shall pay an advance payment to VGML (FJ) for purchase of gold,
VGML (FI) will use such advance payment for technical transformation and
production expansion of the gold mine to improve gold production, and in
future Sandstorm may purchase gold from VGML (FJ) at a discount price.
Main content of the transaction are described below:

1)  Sandstorm pays an advance payment of US$30 million ("Advance
Payment") to VGML (FJ) to acquire specific metal streaming rights and
interests over the gold to be produced in the future from the three mining
rights wholly held by VGML (FJ) in Fiji at present, and the mining rights and
exploration rights within 5 km from the boundaries of the three mining rights
that will be obtained by its affiliates since the date of this agreement;
collectively as the Target Mining Area of Metal Streaming. Meanwhile,
Sandstorm pays $10 as a consideration in exchange for the NSR rights and
interests over the three exploration rights indirectly held by VGML (FI)
through Goldbasin Mining (Fiji) Pte Limited (45% shared held by VGML (F]),
with the remaining 55% held by Marvel Dragon Holdings Limited) and the
mining rights and exploration rights obtained by VGML (FJ) and its affiliates
within 5 km of the boundaries of the three exploration rights above since the
date of this agreement, and not included in the scope of the Target Mining
Area under Metal Streaming, which are referred to Target Mining Area under
NSR.

Under the metal streaming agreement, throughout the term of the agreement
(40 years), VGML (FJ) shall deliver a total of 25,920 ounces of gold to
Sandstorm within 72 months after the completion of this transaction. After the
72 months, VGML (FJ) shall deliver 2.9% of the gold production of the Target
Mining Area under Metal Streaming to Sandstorm on a monthty basis. When
the gold production of VGML (FI) from the Target Mining Area under Metal
Streaming exceeds 100,000 ounces, VGML (FJ) shall provide 2.55% of the
excess gold. In exchange for each delivery of gold by VGML (FJ), Sandstorm
shall pay to VGML (FJ) in cash 20% of the gold payment that is calculated
based on the international market gold price then, and for the remaining 80%
of gold payment, deduction will be made against the Advance Payment. When
the Advance Payment is fully deducted, Sandstorm shall pay the gold
consideration at a price of 20% of the prevailing market price of gold.

2)  Under the NSR Agreement, VGML (FJ) shall pay royalty at 1.0% of Net
Smelter Returns, that is, whenever any income is received from any minerals
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produced in the Target Mining Area under NSR, VGML (FJ) shall pay 1% of
the net smelter returns from the income of minerals produced in the Target
Mining Area under NSR, from which the expenses for smelting and
transportation and other deductible expenses shall be deducted.

3)  The formalities for VGML (FJI} and its affiliates to provide guarantee
over metal streaming and NSR rights and interests for the benefit of Sandstorm
were significantly delayed due to the outbreak of COVID-19 and on the other
hand, considering that the regulatory procedures are much complicated,
VGML (FJ) and Sandstorm, through friendly negotiation, agreed to waive the
conditions precedent for the delivery of Advance Payment and two new
conditions precedent are set up.

A:  Zhongrun Resources shall issue an undertaking for the benefit of
VGML(FJ) and Sandstorm, under which Zhongrun Resources undertakes
to provide VGML (FJ) with a shareholder loan of no more than US$4
million to supplement the funds required for VGML (FJ)'s expansion
plan in the case of funds shortage. The undertaking shall remain valid till
Zhongrun Resources actually provides the shareholder loan, or the
amount paid by VGML (FJ) on the expansion plan exceeds US$40
million (including US$30 million provided by Sandstorm). The
undertaking shall be binding and VGML (FJ) and Sandstorm have the
right to resort to judicial means for requiring Zhongrun Resources to
realize the financing undertaking or pay VGML (FJ) liquidated damages
in an amount equivalent to the difference between US$4 million and the
shareholder loan actually provided by Zhongrun Resources. Under such
undertaking, the breaching party shall compensate the non-breaching
party for the relevant expenses incurred for seeking relief and
enforcement through judicial means.

B: VGML (FJ) shall enter into a provisional mining right and land title deed
in place of the real property and mining properties mortgages held by
VGML (FJ) and Koula.

4)  When the above conditions precedent for delivery of Advance Payment
are satisfied, the amount to be paid upon delivery of the Advance Payment
under the Gold Purchase Agreement shall be adjusted to US$ 27 million, and
the remaining US$3 million will not be paid to VGML (FJ) until the guarantee
formalities for VGML (FJ) and its affiliates on the metal streaming and NSR
rights and interests are completed.

As of December 31, 2021, Sandstorm had paid US $27 million to a third-party
escrow account, and VGML (FJ) had delivered 350 ounces of gold to
Sandstorm, and the revenue was recognized. As of the date of approval of the
financial statement, Sandstorm has paid the remaining US$3 million to the
third-party escrow account.

Notes to Financial Statements Page 111



Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation

Year 2021
Notes to Financial Statements

XIV. Notes to Major Items in Financial Statements of Parent Company

1 Other receivables

Item

_Closing Balance

Interest receivable

Dividend receivable

Other receivables

424,614.820.09 |

500,783,270.04

Total

424,614,820.09

500,783,270.04

1. Other accounts receivable

(1) By account age:

Account age

_Closing balance

Closing balance of last year

_Within 1 year 19,875,945.22 36,535,396.60
_____ 1-2 years 36,215,720.44 68,578,208.24
2-3 years 68,573,697.11 282.676,784.7%
34years 282,671,670.28 120,616,297.71
4-5years 26,213,652.21 567,427,732.01
Over 5 years 672,361,278.32 117,576.613.84
Subtotal 1,105,911,963.58 1,193,411,033.19

_Less: Bad debt p__g_"_(__)visioﬁ o

681,297,143.49

692,627,763.15

Total

424,614,820.09

500,783,270.04
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2)

By class and bad debt provision method:

d;nrpmvisicn made

separately by singlertem |
Including

Other receivables in
significant single ameunt with
bad debt provision made
separaicly B
Bad debt provision made by
combinaion
Inclodmg |
Other recervables with bad
debt provision made by

combination based on credit
nisk charact

i480,056,241 56

411,183,091 63

625,855,722 02

68,873,149.93

100.80

1,105911,963.58

Proportion

. Bad Debt Prayi

Amonunt : Propnrﬁon. ' Book Value
e 0T (S
56,59 625,855,722 02 53.50

638,499,105 78

00.00 ‘
1

,625,855,722.02 '100.00 1638 499,105 78

$o- 0 —
55,441,421 47 11.55

I

|
- -
'l424,614,azo

09 ;554,911,927 41
—i

5544142147 '3050

Ts81,207 143,99

B I

Amount

638,499,105 78

638,499,105.78

Balance of last year .

0000

100.00

675

t Provision
FProportion

_{%}.,

—_—

Book Value

1500,783,270 04

{9,177,691 33

|asr60s,57869
500,783,270 04

Notes te Financial Statements Page 113



Bad debt provision made on a single item basis:

__ Closing Balance

e ” -
Nam Book value Bad .df:bt propoomon Reason
o provision (%) -
i Estate Expected t.
Qilu Real 64,406,155.04 64,406,155.04 100.p | EXpected fo be not
recoverable
A . E ted
Li Xiaoming 513,223,147.00 | 513,223,147.00 100.00 | CXpected to be not
; recoverable
Expected to b t
PESI Co., Ltd. 48.226.419.98 48,226.419.98 10000 | P € no
recoverable
Total 625,855,722.02 6.25,855,722.02 ;

Bad debt provision made by combination:

Based on credit risk characteristics;

__Other Re

Closing Balance

ceivables Bad Debt Provision Proportion (%)
5.895,786,78 : 294.789.34 5.00
3,629.629.28 362,962.93 ! ~10.00
...3:705,080.84 & ' _.20.00
3-4 years
4-3 years
Qver 5 years 53,642,653.03 | 5364265303 ;... 100.00
Total 68.873,149.93 55,441,421.47
3) Provision for bad debts
... Phase ] Phase 2 _Phase 3
Expected credit Expected credit Expected credit loss
Bad debt loss in the next 12 § loss for the entire for the entire
.. . . ) . . Total
provision months duration (without | duration (with credit
credit impairment)
impairmenty
Closing
balance of |ast 54,077,657.42 638,550,105.73 692,627,763.15
Amount in this
period of last -53,119,458.85 53,119,458.85
year closing
balance
--Transfer to
phase2 |
—~Transfer to -53,119,458.85 53,119,458.85
phase 3
—Transfer to
phase 2 -
--Transfer to
phase 1
Provision in
current 858,217.43 471,878.00 ; 1,330,095.43
period
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current period
of last year
closing balance

-33,119,458.85

53,119.458.85 .

Phase 1 . Phase2 Phase 3
Expected credit Expected credit Expected credit loss
Bad debt loss in the next 12 : loss for the entire for the entire Total
provision months duration (without | duration (with credit
credit impairment)
__impaiment) ¢
Reversal in
current 707,383.76 707,383.76
period :
Transfer in
in current 17,331.33 17,331.33
period
Write-off in
in current
Jperiod Lo
Other -11,936,000.00 -11,936,000.00
_Change -
Closing 1,799,084.67 679,498,058.82 1 681,297,143.49
balance 1
Changes in the book balance of other receivables are as follows:
Phase 1 ~ Phase2 | Phase 3
Expected credit Expected credit Expected credit
loss in the next loss for the loss for the entire
Book value 12 months entire duration . duration (with Total
(without credit | credit impairment)
| impairment)
Closing i
balance in last 554,860,927.46 638,550,105.73 ' 1,193,411,033.19
year
Amount in

--Transfer to
_phase 2

—Transferto

_phase3

-53,119458.85

53,119,458.85

—Transfer to
_phase 2

—Transfer to
phase 1

Increase in

42,858,770.53
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. 42,858,770.53

_current period T
De-recognition
in in current 118,421,840.14 118.421,840.14
period L L

_Other change | R A ..-11,936,000.00 :  -11,936,000.00
Closing 426,178,399.00 679,733,564.58 | 1,105,911,963.58
balance ;
4) Bad debt provisions made, reversed or recovered in this period:



: i t period
| Closing Balance Change 11.1 current periv Closing
Category L oflastvear | een —omn —omn - l08INg balance | balance
' 4 Provision : Reversedor Write-off or
made | recovered cancelled
Other receivables in
. .f . I .
significant single amount with | 0 109 105 78 707,383.76 . 11,936,000.00 | 625,855.722.02
bad debt provision made
separately
Other reecivable with bad debt .
provision - made BY, 5 155 65737 1.330,095.43 17.331.33 55,441,421.47
combination based on credit
risk characteristics
Total 692,627,763.15: 1,330,095.43: 707,383.76: 11953,331.33681,297,143.49

Significant amounts of bad debt provision reversed or recovered in this period:

Amount Basis and justification Reason for Wav of
Item reversed or for original bad debt reversal or M
. recovery
e Tecovered | provisiom recovery
PESI 707.383.76 Bad debt provision made | Recovery of }: Bank .
by account age funds | deposits
Total 707,383.76
(5) Other receivables classified by nature
. Closing Book
Type Closing Book Balance Balance of last year
Recc?lva,l)le?, from transfer of shares and 64,406,155.04 64,406,155.04
creditor’s rights i
For transaction with other enterprises other than 67.548.216.68 58.678,215.56
affiliates ;
Earnest money 513,223,147.00 | 525.159,147.00
Iron ore_constructlon fee and capital 18.226.419.98 | 48,933.803.74
occupation fee
Deposits and margins 1,052,838.00 4,176,958.84
Employee reserve loan 130,677.25 311,977.24
Social Security and Provident Fund 141,418.00 139,197.08
Related business transactions 411,183,091.63 491,605,578.69
Total 1,105,91 1,963:57 I )

(6)
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Top five other receivables by closing balance classified by debtor



Proportion
in T
o Bad Debt
Nature of Closing Account g Provision
Debtor . . Balance of .
Receivables Balance Ageing Closing
i Other Balance
Receivables
SRS B () |
: 2-3 years:
Li Xiaoming = _ornest 513.223,147.00 | >167:147.00; over 4641 § 513.223.147.00
money 5 years:
510,056,00000 |
Within 1 year:
13,072,878.44;
1-2 years:
ﬁﬁ?f;un Transaction | 32’25 25’08 1 "66;
P Wi ela 91.01 T2 years: )
Development | :’I::l;r iise;ed 406.99279100 1 o5 70146927 3680
Co., Ltd. P 3-4 years:
282,671,670.28;
4-5 years:
_______ 18,961,691.36
. T f
Qilu Real o ri?;fjn?j
Estate Co., q S 64,406,155.04 QOver 5 years 5.82 64,406,155.04
creditor’s
Ltd. .
o rights
PSEI 4-3 years:
International | L 48,226,419.08 76994973 over 436 | 48.226419.98
Trade Co., 5 years:
Ltd, 44,256,470.25
Shanghai ‘
Xuxin Import
Others 30,000,000.00 Over § years 271 30,000,000.00
and  Export
Co., Ltd.
Total - 1,062,848,513.03 96.10 | 655,855,722.02
2 Long-term equity investment
Closing Balance _Closing Balance of last year
Item Book Impal{"lflellt Book Value Book [mpa:rxpent ‘Book Value
Balance provision Balance Pprovision

Investment in

1,043,821,197.01

1,043,821,197.01

i 1,043,821,197.01 1,043.821,197.01
subsidiaries
Investment in
the associates
and joint
ventures ; : ; e
Total £1.043,824,197 01 11,043 821,197.011 1,043 821,197.01 11,043 821,197.01
(1). Investment in subsidiaries
. irment. Closin
Closing :Increase Decrease: . Impau::,u | &
s . . .  Closing Provision | Balance of
Investee Balance of : in this | in this . .
. . | Balance | Accrued in {Impairment
last year | Period | Period ¢ . . .
! this Period : Provision
Shandong Zhongrun |
. : 1 .
Group Zibo Real 113,623,797.0 113,623,797.01
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. Impairment; Closing
Closing  Increase Decrease; . s
Investee Balance of | in this | in this Closing Fros iston -, Bnla-nce of
. . Balance Accrued in i Impairment
last year Period | Period . . .
) - this Period : Provision
Estate Co., Ltd.
Zhongrun Mining
Development Co., 500,000,000.00 500,000,000.0G
Ltd.
Jinan Xingrui
Commercial 430,197,400.00 430,197,400.00
OperationCo,,Itd. =~ ¢+
Shandong
QianshengEconomic
and Trade Co., Ltd.
Shengyuanliye
Investment
Management
(Hangzhou) Co.,
Ltd. N
Jiangsu Feihan
Lifeng Corporate
Management
Counselling Co.,
Total 1,043,821,197.01 1,043,821,197.01;
3 Operating income and cost
(1) Operating income and cost
Amount of t Amount of 1
Item ~ his Period ~_astPeriod
Income Expenses :  Income Expenses
. . 5,165,405.74 4,108,552.20 | 5,176,042.04 4,108,552.27
.businesses -
Total j 5.165,405.74 4,108,552.20 5,176,042.04 | 4,108,552.27

Operating income breakdown

calculated at cost method

Item Amount of this period Amount of last period
Income from customer
contract o ]
Rental income 5,165,405.74 5.176,042.04
Total 5,165,405.74 5,176,042.04
4. Income from investment
Amount of t Amount of |
Ttem
his period ast period
Income from long-term equity investment
324,000,000.00 ;

Total

324,000,000.00
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XV. Supplementary Information

| Current non-recurrent profits and losses

Ttem

__Amount

~ Remarks

~ Gains ot losses from dlsposal of non-current assets

157,495.60

Tax refund or exemption by the authorities without approval |

power or without formal approval document

Government subsidies recorded into the current profit and loss
{except for the government subsidies that are closely related to

5,062.68

the business of the enterprise and granted according to the quota |
required by national uniform standards)
Capital occupational feed charged to non-financial institutions

_recorded into the current profit and loss

657,562.89 |

Income generated when the investment cost for acqumng a

subsidiary, joint venture or cooperative enterprise is lower than
_the due fair value of identifiable net assets of the investee

Profit and loss from exchange of non-monetary assets

Profit or loss from assets that are entrusted to others to invest or

Asset impairment provisions made due to force majeure such as
_ natural disasters

Profit and loss from debt restructuring

Corporate reconstructing expenses such as staff resettlement |

costs and integration costs

Profit or loss due to the difference between obvmusly unfair
_price and fair value

Net profit or loss in the current period of subsidiaries resulting
from combination of subsidiaries under common control from
the beginning of period to combination date

Profit or loss due to contingencies irrelative with normal
_operating business

Profit or loss from the changes in fair values of trading financial !

assets, derivative financial assets, trading f{inancial liabilities,
derivative financial liabilities and investment income {rom
disposal of trading financial assets, derivative financial assets,

trading financial liabilities, derivative financial liabilities, except .

the effective hedging business related to the normal operating
business of ZRC

Reversal on 1mpax;ﬁient provision of account payable for which |

the impairment test is done separately

707,383.76

Profit or loss from loans entrusted to external parties

Profit or loss from changes in fair value of investment real estate
for which the subsequent measurement adopts the fair value
_method

Effect on the current proﬁt arid loss due to adjustmg the current
profit and loss on a lump-sum basis in accordance with tax or
accounting laws and regulations

Income of trustee fee for entrusted operation

Other non-operating incomes and expenses

Other profit or loss items falling in the definition scope of
non-recurrent profit or loss

-21,485,065.51

 -19,957,560.58 |

_Subtotal 1 .]905756058 :
Effect on income tax
Effect on minority shareholder (aﬂer tax) 1,137,621.91
Total -18,819,938.67
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2 Return on equity and earnings per share

Weighted average

___Earnings per share (yuan)

Profit of Report Period return-on-net asset | Basic earnings Dl.l“ted
. o earnings per
ratio (%) per share
B . share
Net profit attributable to common
Net profit attributable to common
shareholders  after  deduction of -0.1187 -0.1187

non-recurrent profit or loss

-24.26 |
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Zhongrun Resources Investment Corporation

(official seal)

April 27, 2022



